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Browns Investments PLC is a unique
investment company that focuses on
businesses and industries that are perceived
to possess long-term potential for expansion
and growth, and are in line with our strategy
to create stakeholder value and profitability in
the long term. Our unwavering focus and the
ability to take calculated risks and strategic
decisions, have largely influenced our drive to
continuous success amidst challenging and
ever changing business conditions.
Today, we are proud to be the flagship
company of the iconic and legendary Browns
Group; a catalyst who defines the future,
leveraging on our unrivalled synergies to bring
to our stakeholders, the value that lies at the
heart of everything we do.
We’re looking ahead at infinite potential, that
we know we must unleash. We’re seizing new
opportunities and investing for the future.
We’re exemplifying our spirit; the spirit of
tomorrow.
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Milestones

2008
2011

• Company incorporation

• Issued 830Mn ordinary shares for Rs. 4.15Bn through
a private placement
• Listed in the Colombo Stock Exchange under the
Divi Savi Board
• Issued 50Mn ordinary shares for Rs. 250Mn through an
Initial Public Offer (IPO)
• Acquired Excel Global Holdings (Pvt) Ltd & Millennium
Development (Pvt) Ltd (Excel World)
• Formed Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd and
commenced construction of a five-star hotel in Kosgoda

2012

• Acquired

2014

• Acquired

Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd (THE PARADISE)
BG Air Services (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Hotels and Resorts Ltd ( Parent company of Eden Hotels Lanka PLC
(EDEN), Palm Garden Hotels PLC, Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd and
Tropical Villas (Pvt) Ltd)
Sun & Fun Resorts Limited (THE CALM)
Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd
Bodufaru Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

• Expansion in to Maldives to develop leisure properties
• Issued 1,860Mn shares to holders through a rights issue
on the basis of one to one new ordinary shares at
Rs. 1.25 per share

2015

• Acquired
FLC Joint Venture Co, (Pvt) Ltd (Parent company of Maturata Plantations Ltd,
Pussellawa Plantations Ltd and FLC Hydro Power PLC)
Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd
Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
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Financial highlights 2014/2015

Group

Company

2014/2015

2013/2014

(Rs.000)

(Rs.000)

Variance

2014/2015

2013/2014

%

(Rs.000)

(Rs.000)

Variance
%

Earnings Highlights
Turnover

Rs.000

1,815,709

1,126,643

61

42,826

108,599

EBIT

Rs.000

406,345

263,901

54

98,772

88,092

(61)
12

Profit Before Tax

Rs.000

(239,940)

39,355

(710)

(228,427)

(107,927)

112

Profit After Tax

Rs.000

(233,530)

21,163

(1,203)

(228,551)

(107,927)

112

Profit Attributable to Equity holders

Rs.000

(11,650)

49,085

(124)

(228,551)

(107,927)

112

Balance Sheet Highlights
Total Assets

Rs.000

39,822,960

21,367,945

86

12,558,549

10,939,040

15

Total Debt

Rs.000

9,317,411

6,692,387

39

3,860,149

4,512,407

(14)

Total Shareholders' Funds

Rs.000

13,729,946

10,622,748

29

8,640,187

6,312,784

37

Number of Shares Issued ('000)

Rs.000

3,720,000

1,860,000

100

3,720,000

1,860,000

100

Share Information
Earnings Per Share (Rs.)*

Rs.

(0.003)

0.02

(116)

(0.08)

(0.05)

60

Net Assets Per Share (Rs.)**

Rs.

3.69

5.71

(35)

2.32

3.39

37

%

56

32

75

100

100

-

Debt to Equity (%)

%

37.78

50.12

(25)

44.68

71.48

Return on Capital Employed (%)

%

1.20

1.41

(15)

0.79

0.81

(3)

Interest Cover (times)

Times

0.63

1.16

(46)

0.30

0.45

(33)

Current Ratio (times)

Times

0.56

0.38

47

1.12

0.67

67

Financial Ratios
Gross Profit (%)

* Earnings per share has been adjusted for weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
(has been adjusted for previous years).
** Net Assets per share has been computed for the total number of shares issued as at the year end.

Seizing new
opportunities...

(37)
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Browns Investments PLC

Unlocking
long term value
Chairman’s statement
Dear Shareholders,
It is with pleasure that I present to
you the Annual Report of Browns
Investments PLC (BI) for the financial
year ended 31st March 2015.
During this period, the strategic
developments in Plantations,
Agriculture, Leisure and Family
Entertainment and other investments
that Your Company embarked on
continued to unlock and create long
term value for the Group as a whole.
BI continues to draw strength from
its status as an investment arm of
Brown and Company PLC, and as a
member of the LOLC Group, one of
the largest diversified conglomerates
in the country.
BI adopts a medium to long term
view in all its business prospects. BI’s
investment portfolio spreads from
Leisure and Family Entertainment,
Plantation and Agriculture,
Constructions to other strategic
investments which we see as long
term potential holdings for growth.
Our largest exposure is to the
Leisure and Family Entertainment
sectors, which includes several hotels
currently in operation; The Eden
Resort & Spa, Dickwella Resorts &
Spa, The Paradise Resort & Spa and
The Calm Resort & Spa, Excel world,
and also those under construction,
The Turtle Beach Resort & Spa and
Riverina Resorts.
During the year, the company also
made strategic investments into
a city property in Male and two
islands in the Maldives for resorts
construction. Considering the current
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market conditions and positioning
of Maldives in the global space for
leisure business into the future,
we are bullish on the performance
and expect Maldives to be a crucial
revenue generator for the company in
the years ahead. We have entered into
a management agreement with the
Sheraton Group to manage Kosgoda
Turtle Beach and will pursue further
opportunities for other properties
where we see value in outsourcing.
Construction of the five star resort
in Beruwala - Riverina Resorts, is
progressing well with the target
commissioning planned for the
winter season in 2016/17. Further
development of the BI-owned Excel
world is being carried out in the form
of a soft refurbishment which will
enhance the outlook and will improve
revenue generation from this property.
We have ambitious plans for Excel
World in the medium to long term and
will in due course embark on giving
shape to these plans.
During the year, BI took total control
of F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd,
which is the parent company holding
controlling interests in Maturata
Plantations Limited and Pussellawa
Plantations Limited, F L C Hydro
Power PLC and several plantations
related companies. We increased our
stake in these companies to a 100%
holding, as we believe that investing
in natural resources of the country,
such as plantations of tea, rubber,
cinnamon, coconut and sourcing of
alternate fuel sources will help us to
create value for the nation. We are of
a firm belief that by our professional
approach to managing businesses
with a strong support services
system, we can unlock the true value
of these natural resources and help
generate sustainable economic value.
We are in the process of restructuring
the FLC Group and also identifying
strategic options for integration with
other sectors that will enhance value
creation within the Group.
Our efforts at value addition have
witnessed the plantations arm
launching the ‘Origin Ceylon Tea’
brand backed by the rich lineage
of our plantations, which date back
way beyond the arrival of the earliest
known pioneer of tea, James Taylor.

5

BI adopts a medium to long term view in
all its business prospects. BI’s investment
portfolio spreads from Leisure and Family
Entertainment, Plantation and Agriculture,
Constructions to other strategic
investments which we see as long term
potential growth.

Pussellawa and Maturata plantations
go back to 1840 when the famous
Worms brothers introduced tea to
Sri Lanka. This adventurous story of
the planting of the first tea bush on
our very own plantation, Rothschild
centuries ago is in the tea growing
regions popularly known as the
‘premium valley of Ceylon tea’, hence
the Brand ‘Origin Ceylon Tea’. Origin
Ceylon Tea targets the upper market
segment and is currently selling well
in Germany, Russia, Romania, Italy,
Kuwait and Australia and we are
hoping to expand this to other key
upscale markets.
Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd and
Agstar PLC are other investments
of BI. While the construction
business faced insurmountable
odds during the year, Agstar
FLC rose to the forefront as Sri
Lanka’s No. 1 fertilizer company
and this investment complements
the plantation investments of the
Company with synergies between both
investments. BI’s other investment
into the aluminum industry through
its subsidiary, Ajax Engineers
(Pvt) Ltd has performed well. We
perceive tremendous potential for the
aluminum segment and believe this
company will become a significant
profit center within a short span of
time.
Our key endeavour going forward is to
closely oversee construction activities
in the leisure sector and see to its
logical and timely completion, while
commencing value generation for our
other investments.

Further, we will be driving the
plantation business towards higher
yields by restructuring, and leveraging
on advanced technology and
sustainable practices. Our extensive
investments and our presence in
strategic, potential-rich growth
sectors is positioning BI as one of the
most dynamic investment companies
in the country.
I would like to express my sincere
appreciation to the Board for
their support and to the senior
management and staff of BI for
their hard work and determination
to support the strategies of the
Company. I also wish to thank our
valued shareholders for continuing to
place their trust and confidence in
our ability to create value for mutual
benefit.

Ishara Nanayakkara
Executive Chairman
15th June 2015
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Geared
for the
future
The Board of Directors

Ishara Nanayakkara
Executive Chairman

Shanker Somasunderam
Non-Executive Director

Kapila Jayawardena
Non-Executive Director

Kalsha Amarasinghe
Non-Executive Director
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Kamantha Amarasekera
Non-Executive Director

Stefan Furkhan
Non-Executive Director

Rajah Nanayakkara
Non-Executive Director

Ruwan Sugathadasa
Non-Executive Director

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
Independent Non-Executive Director
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The Board of Directors

Ishara Nanayakkara
Executive Chairman
Ishara Nanayakkara is an astute
businessman who holds directorial
positions in many corporates and
conglomerates in Sri Lanka. He joined
to the Board of Lanka ORIX Leasing
Company PLC (LOLC PLC) in 2002.
Presently, he is the Deputy Chairman
of LOLC PLC and a Director of Lanka
ORIX Finance Company PLC.
He chairs the Board of Commercial
Leasing & Finance PLC, LOLC
Micro Credit Limited and BRAC
Lanka Finance PLC backed by the
professional expertise in the industry
for over a decade. He also serves
the Board of PRASAC Micro Finance
Institute; Cambodia’s largest Micro
Finance Institute. His expertise in
Micro Finance in the region is evident
in the recent investment in Thaneakea
Phum Ltd (TPC Micro Finance), the
5th largest micro finance company
in Cambodia in addition to the green
field operations in Myanmar via the
Myanmar Micro Finance Company Ltd
in which he is the founding Chairman.
Ishara Nanayakkara is the Deputy
Chairman of Seylan Bank PLC, a
premier commercial bank in the
country. His exposure in general and
life insurance through LOLC Insurance
Company, stock brokering through
LOLC Securities Limited, factoring
through LOLC Factors Limited,
micro financing and Islamic finance,
manifests his vision of catering to
the entire value chain of the finance
sector.
His business philosophy based on
sustainable development has made
the Company to enter into many new
business ventures with high potential
for growth in all three spheres:
economic, social and environment.
Accordingly he serves on the
Boards of Sierra Construction Ltd,
Lanka Century Investments PLC,
Associated Battery Manufacturers
(Cey) Ltd and Agstar PLC in line

with the Group’s vision to divest
into strategic investments such as
Agriculture and Plantations, Trading
and Manufacturing, Leisure and
Construction.

purpose of constructing apartments.
He is also an investor in blue chip
companies on the Sri Lankan stock
market.

Kapila Jayawardena
His need to diversify the Group into
a key conglomerate that operates in
the growth sectors of the economy is
further reflected through the vital role
played by him in Brown and Company
PLC as the Executive Chairman.
Ishara Nanayakkara was appointed as
the Chairman of FLC Holdings PLC,
FLC Hydro Power PLC, Pussellawa
Plantations Ltd, Ceylon Estate Teas
(Pvt) Ltd and FLMC Plantations
(Pvt) Ltd subsequent to the recent
acquisition.
He holds a diploma in Business
Accounting from Australia.

Shanker Somasunderam
Non-Executive Director
Shanker Somasunderam is a
Chartered Management Accountant
and a Fellow member of CIMA (U.K.).
He joined Walker & Greig Ltd in
1985 for a period of one year as a
Management Trainee and thereafter
joined his family business. In 1994
he established a company in UK
together with his British partners
for the purpose of acquiring a
wireless local loop licence to provide
telecommunication services in Sri
Lanka and to seek funding for the
same. In 1994 he founded Lanka Bell
Ltd and was successful in obtaining
the licence. He was an Executive
Director and thereafter Deputy
Chairman of Lanka Bell Ltd until he
divested his shares in 2005 together
with his foreign partners.
He acquired controlling interest of
the Browns Group of Companies
together with his partners in 2005
and was appointed to the Board of
the Browns Group of Companies
as Deputy Chairman and thereafter
Group Director from 1st July 2006.
He is also the Managing Director and
Chairman of Lexus Developers Ltd
which was established in 2005 for the

Non-Executive Director
Kapila Jayawardena holds a MBA
in Financial Management and is
Fellow member of the Institute of
Bankers and an Associate Member
of the Institute of Cost and Executive
Accountants, London. He served as
Country Head and CEO (Sri Lanka and
Maldives) of Citibank NA from 1998
to 2007.
He has varied experience in the fields
of Investment Banking, Banking
Operations, Audit, Relationship
Management, Corporate Finance,
Corporate Banking and Treasury
Management.
Kapila Jayawardena was appointed as
the Chairman of the Sri Lanka Banks
Association (SLBA) in 2003/2004.
He has also served as President of
the American Chamber of Commerce
in Sri Lanka in 2006/2007 and was
appointed to the Financial Sector
Reforms Committee (FSRC) and was
a member of the National Council of
Economic Development (NCED). He
also served as a Board Member of the
United States - Sri Lanka Fulbright
Commission.
He joined LOLC in 2007 as the Group
Managing Director/CEO. He is the
Chairman of the following companies
and is also on the Boards of the
subsidiaries of the LOLC Group.
• Chairman
Lanka ORIX Finance PLC
• Chairman
LOLC General Insurance Ltd
• Chairman
LOLC Insurance Co. Ltd
• Chairman
LOLC Securities Ltd
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• Chairman
Eden Hotel Lanka PLC
• Chairman
Palm Garden Hotels PLC
In 2012, he was appointed to the
Boards of Brown and Company PLC
and Browns Investments PLC and in
2013 to the Seylan Bank PLC.
In 2015, he was appointed to the
Boards of F L C Holdings PLC, F L M
C Plantations (Pvt) Ltd, Pussellawa
Plantations Ltd and F L C Hydro
Power PLC.

Kalsha Amarasinghe
Non- Executive Director
Kalsha Amarasinghe holds an
Honours Degree in Economics. She
serves on the Boards of Lanka ORIX
Leasing Company PLC, Lanka ORIX
Finance PLC, LOLC Micro Credit
Ltd, LOLC Insurance Co. Ltd, United
Dendro Energy (Pvt) Ltd, Palm Garden
Hotels PLC, Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
and Eden Hotel Lanka PLC. She also
serves as a Director on the Boards
of Commercial Leasing & Finance
PLC, Brown and Company PLC, F L C
Holdings PLC, Pussellawa Plantations
Ltd, F L C Hydro Power PLC, F L M
C Plantations (Pvt) Ltd, and Melfort
Green Teas (Pvt) Ltd.

Kamantha Amarasekera
Non-Executive Director
Kamantha Amarasekera is a member
of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka and is an
Attorney-at-law of the Supreme Court
of Sri Lanka. He also holds a degree
in Business Administration from the
University of Sri Jayawardenapura
and began his career in 1998.
Kamantha Amarasekera is an eminent
Tax Consultant and the Senior Tax
and Legal Partner of Amerasekera &
Company, a leading tax consultancy
firm in the country.

Stefan Furkhan
Non-Executive Director
Stefan Furkhan having had his initial
training in Germany and Australia,

possesses over 25 years of experience
in the tourism and hospitality industry
in Australia and Sri Lanka.
He is a Graduate Diploma Holder
and Fellow Member of the Chartered
Institute of Marketing, UK (CIM), the
premier professional marketing body
in the world, and a Fellow Member
of the Institute of Hospitality, UK.
He was a former Vice President of
the Tourist Hotels Association of Sri
Lanka (THASL), and the Chairman of
its Marketing Sub-Committee. He also
served on the PATA Sri Lanka Chapter
Board.
Stefan Furkhan has had extensive
experience in the setting up, Project
Management and Lunching of new
Green Field Hotel Projects in Sri
Lanka, Bangladesh and Australia.
He also functioned as the Managing
Director of the Confifi Group Hotels
until recently.
During his career he has been
instrumental in identifying and
introducing several new concepts to
the Tourism Industry in Sri Lanka.
He was awarded the Winner of the
Chartered Institute of Marketing,
Marketers Awards 2001, in
recognition of his marketing efforts in
the Hospitality Industry.
He is currently the Chairman of
Confifi Capital (Pvt) Ltd. and related
companies and Director of Eden Hotel
Lanka PLC since incorporation in
January, 1992. He is also a promoter
and Director of the OZO Colombo and
OZO Kandy Hotels.

Rajah Nanayakkara
Non-Executive Director
Rajah Nanayakkara is the founder
and Executive Chairman of Ishara
Traders (Pvt) Ltd., a business which
pioneered the import and sale of new
and reconditioned motor vehicles.
Thirty years later, this organization
remains an industry leader. He was
also the Founder Chairman of the
Motor Vehicle Importers Association
of Sri Lanka, and continues to play a
significant role.

9

Rajah Nanayakkara is also the
Chairman of Ishara Plantations
(Pvt) Ltd - an award winning estate
of Tea and Spices - and Chairman
of Ishara Property Development, a
company which has been involved in
construction for the past 18 years.
Rajah Nanayakkara is also on the
Board of Brown and Company PLC.

Ruwan Sugathadasa
Non-Executive Director
Ruwan Sugathadasa possesses over
20 years’ experience in Government
and Corporate Debt Market including
over 11 years in Senior Management
Capacity in a Central Bank appointed
Primary Dealer. He was also involved
in Money Brokering, Corporate Debt
Placement and Asset Management,
being involved with Taprobane
Holdings PLC inception he currently
serves as CEO of the organization. He
holds a MBA from the University of
Preston in USA.
Ruwan Sugathadasa also serves
as a Director of Lanka Century
Investments PLC, Colombo City
Holdings PLC, Dankotuwa Porcelain
PLC, Royal Fernwood Porcelain Ltd
and South Asia Textiles Industries
Lanka (Pvt) Ltd.

Dr. Harsha Cabral, PC
Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Harsha Cabral is a President’s
Counsel and holds a PhD in Corporate
Law (University of Canberra)
Australia. Dr. Cabral is a Senior
Counsel in Corporate Law with 28
years of experience, specializing in
Company Law, Intellectual Property
Law, Commercial Law, International
Trade Law and Commercial
Arbitration.
He serves as the Commissioner
of Law Commission of Sri Lanka.
He is a Member of the Advisory
Commission in Company Law, Sri
Lanka (key member in drafting
the new Companies Act No. 07 of
2007), member of the Ministerial
Committee appointed to reform the
Law on Commercial Arbitration. He is
a Council member of the University
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The Board of Directors

of Colombo, member of the Council
of Legal Education in Sri Lanka,
member of the Academic Board of
Studies of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka and a
member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.
He is currently serving on the Boards
of Diesel & Motor Engineering
PLC (DIMO), Richard Pieris & Co.
Distributors Ltd., Tokyo Cement
Company (Lanka) PLC, Tokyo Super
Cement Co (Private) Ltd., Tokyo
Cement Power (Lanka) Ltd, Hayleys
PLC, Hambana Petrochemicals Ltd,
Lanka ORIX Finance PLC, Tokyo
Eastern Cement Company Ltd, Just in
Time Consultancy (Pvt) Ltd, Imperial
Institute of Higher Education (Pvt) Ltd
and Alumex PLC. He is the Chairman
of Tokyo Cement Group.
Dr. Cabral is a lecturer and examiner
of the University of Colombo, Council
member/faculty member of Institute
for the Development of Commercial
Law and Practice, and the Vice
President of Business Recovery and
Insolvency Practitioners Association
of Sri Lanka.
He is the author of several books
on Company Law and Intellectual
Property Law.

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan holds LLD,
LLM and M Phil from the University of
Colombo and LLB from the University
of Ceylon. He is also an Attorneyat-Law, Justice of the Peace and
Unofficial Magistrate. He has also
been conferred the Degree of LLD
(Honoris Causa) by the University of
Colombo.
He is the Precedent Partner of
Messrs. Julius & Creasy, a Member
of the Company Law Advisory
Commission and a Member of
the Intellectual Property Law
Commission. He was a Member of the
Council of Legal Education and is a
Member of the Law Commission of
Sri Lanka. He is a Faculty Member of
the Faculty of Law of the University
of Colombo and a Member of the
Legal Cluster of National Economic
Commission. He is a visiting Lecturer
and an Examiner at the Faculty of
Law, University of Colombo. He is also
a Member of the Board of Faculty
of Law, University of Colombo. He
was also a Faculty Member of the
LLM Wales Course conducted by the
Sri Lanka Law College and a Faculty
Member and Course Director of
Post Attorneys Diploma Program
on Intellectual Property Law and is
over 50 years in practice. He is also a
Director of several listed and unlisted
companies.
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Forward thinking strategies and a
daring attitude…
Management Discussion and Analysis

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
Leisure and Family Entertainment

Plantations, Agri Business and
Renewable Energy

FLC Hydro Power PLC

Construction

Other Investments

Stock Market
Financial Instruments
Real Estate
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Browns Investments PLC (BI) completed yet another
eventful year, reaching many strategic milestones for
the Group businesses through several acquisitions
and new business ventures. BI is the dedicated
strategic investment arm of the Browns Group, with
interests in several diversified industries that are
expected to lead national growth while realizing the
Group’s vision.
BI’s investment strategy is to invest on its own or
with an investment partner for the medium to long
term and either hold or divest at an opportune time.
In line with this objective, the Company ventured into
new businesses with potential with investments of

Rs. 1.12Bn during the year. The major investment
decisions taken during the year involved an additional
investment into FLC Joint Venture Company (Pvt)
Ltd, the parent company of FLC Holdings PLC, which
in turn owns the plantation companies of Maturata
Plantations Limited and Pussellawa Plantations
Limited as well as the other companies in the Group.
BI plays an active role in defining the Group’s future
business strategy and is very much involved in
the operations of such companies. All subsidiary
companies are managed by BI and the activities of
these investments are more fully described in this
analysis.

BI’s bold and decisive strategies to invest into businesses with
future potential and the Brown and Company PLC and LOLC
PLC’s backing for building a sustainable business proposition
will allow BI to realize its full potential.
Leisure and
Family Entertainment
Sri Lanka’s economy is developing
rapidly and several investment
opportunities are evolving into great
opportunities for long term growth.
The leisure sector is identified as
one such industry into which many
investments are committed by the
private sector, anticipating long term
growth which will also positively
contribute to the much needed growth
in the economy of the country.
BI’s investments into the Leisure
sector amounting to Rs.6.2 Bn
is the largest investment pool in
terms of their total assets base
which clearly shows the strategic
desire of the Group to invest into
the Leisure segment due to the
potential for growth in the long
term. The strategy also blends

well with BI’s intention to invest
into land with income generating
potential and capital appreciation.
The Leisure segment of BI is still
in the formation stage with several
properties still being constructed and
two properties nearing completion
this year and early next year. The
Leisure segment’s vision is not only
to develop properties locally, but
to expand into the region as well,
to offer the customer the full range
of services. With this intention, the
Group acquired an inbound tour
operator company, Ceylon Roots (Pvt)
Ltd, who will work towards providing
an integrated service to its clients
as well as the Group’s hotels. The
Leisure sector comprises of several
four and five star properties in top
tourist locations around the island.
BI acquired the hotels under LOLC
in 2014, consolidating the Group’s
Leisure sector strategy.

Today the hotels under BI include
The Eden Resort & Spa – a 158room five star property in Beruwela,
76-room Dickwella Resort & Spa –
both located in southern Sri Lanka;
and The Paradise Resort & Spa in
Dambulla, which has 67 chalets. The
latest addition to this portfolio is ‘The
Calm Resort & Spa’ in Passikudah on
Sri Lanka’s Eastern coast, a four-star
property, opened to the public in
mid-June 2015. The Leisure segment
of the Group recorded a revenue
of Rs.1,061 Mn in the current year,
compared to the previous year’s
revenue of Rs. 279 Mn. However the
segment reported a loss of Rs 553
Mn, mostly due to the pre- operating
status of most of the hotels.
Another BI investment, the Kosgoda
Beach Resort, a 172-room hotel in
Kosgoda, will be commissioned
for operations in the near future.
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The Paradise

The Eden

This unique property, one of the newest in
the region, is situated in close proximity
to the Cultural Triangle and surrounding
tourist locations. The Paradise is replete with
67 luxuriously finished rooms - including
superior duplex, deluxe and garden suites –
and is nestled amid beautifully landscaped
gardens.

This iconic Eden Resort & Spa in Beruwala is
an oasis of luxurious pampering on the fabulous South Western coastline of Sri Lanka.
Eden offers 158 distinctly designed rooms
and suites from which to enjoy the tropical
charm and indulgent service.

BI signed an agreement with world
renowned hotel operator, Sheraton,
to manage this property. Riverina
Resorts, a 367-room five star resort
which is in construction stage is
progressing as per plans. This
property housed three well-known
hotels in the past, Palm Gardens,
Riverina and Tropical Villas. The total
capital expenditure incurred on these
hotels amounted to Rs. 661 Mn as of
the financial year end 2015. As the
Leisure segment mission is to expand
operations into the region, the Group
acquired properties through long
term lease in the Maldives during the
year. The Company is in the process
of developing the plans for these
properties which are expected to
derive higher returns in the medium
term soon after the construction
stage compared with the long term
nature of Sri Lankan properties due
to the higher prices demanded by the
properties in Maldives.
Supporting the operating hotels in
the Group, BI launched a dynamic
website for Browns Hotels & Resorts
Ltd, to market its properties. BI also
further strengthened its tour operator
business, through the integration with
Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd. Browns Tours
(Pvt) Ltd was merged with Ceylon
Roots (Pvt) Ltd to create a formidable
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and competitive presence in the
inbound tour industry.

blend well to generate higher revenues
to the overall business sector.

BG Air Services (Pvt) Limited is the
outbound and ticketing arm of the
Browns Group, and complements
the other leisure operations of the
Group. BG Air Services (Pvt) Ltd is
the General Sales Agent for Austrian
Airlines and Scandinavian Airlines in
addition to handling outbound travel
and inbound travel through Ceylon
Roots (Pvt) Ltd. These operations
were expanded further through the
LOLC branch network and also added
its own new branches in Kurunegala
and Kandy. The travel segment
reported moderate profits during the
year. Plans are to expand further in
other key locations in the country.
The inbound travel operation of the
company has successfully supported
the aviation market by assisting
airlines in obtaining permission
from the Civil Aviation Authority
of Sri Lanka to operate flights in
and out of Colombo, obtain slot
clearance from Sri Lankan Airlines,
landing and parking clearance to
park aircraft overnight, aircraft
catering services, and customs and
immigration formalities for crews.
These investments made during the
year, are expected to increase the
profit signature of the Group and also

BI continued to invest in upgrading
its prime entertainment location at
Excel World which is in the heart of
Colombo, with the new and improved
‘The Keg Pub and Restaurant’
sporting a new look and feel, while
several improvements were made to
the food court. Business operations at
Excel World are being realigned with
the ongoing upgrade to the rest of
the facilities at the property with the
‘Park Premier’ too being upgraded
with several state of the art banquet
facilities.

Plantations,
Agri Business and
Renewable Energy
BI’s interest in plantations is through
FLC Holdings PLC (FLCH), which is
the holding company of Pussellawa
Plantations Limited and Maturata
Plantations Limited. At the year
end the Group increased its stake
in FLCH from joint venture status
to a controlling status through the
acquisition of the remaining 50%
in the holding company, FLC Joint
Venture Company (Pvt) Ltd.
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Free Lanka Capital Holdings PLC
Free Lanka Capital Holdings has
been at the forefront of strategic
investment in Sri Lanka and plays
a catalytic role in industries such
as tea and rubber plantations,
property development, leisure
and hydropower generation. Free
Lanka Capital has thus created an
ideal platform on which to invest in
dynamic ventures which hold vast
potential in the new Sri Lanka.
Excel World
Excel world is a centrally located
entertainment park for the whole
family, which also offers modern
meeting and conferencing facilities
for corporates. The property’s wide
offering included the popular KEG
pub and restaurant, and Sri Lanka’s
only twelve lane bowling alley and
the country’s largest token game
centre.

Pussellawa and Maturata are managing 34 tea estates
spread across 18,534 acres, producing 12.25 million
kilos of tea annually, as well as 17 rubber estates totaling
13,868 acres producing 3.55 million kilos.
The total investment into this sector
amounted to Rs.737 Mn. The Group’s
plantations include managing Tea,
Rubber, Coconut estates and planned
timber cultivation.
The Plantation segment faced
a challenging year with adverse
weather conditions and a drop in
tea and rubber prices in both high
grown and low grown regions in line
with the global price fluctuations.
Further pressures on margins were
also anticipated as a result of the
impending wage rate hike as per
the collective agreement with the
workers. Global prices for tea and
rubber affected the profitability of
the plantation companies in the
year under review. The acquisition
of the balance 50% stake in FLC
joint venture has paved the way
for BI to implement strategies of
restructure and realignment of these
company operations which will drive
productivity, including improved
agricultural practices, better resource
utilization and realignment of
processes for long term sustainability
and increased margins.
Pussellawa and Maturata manage
34 tea estates spread across 18,534
acres, producing 12.25 million
kilos of tea annually, as well as 17
rubber estates totaling 13,868 acres
producing 3.55 million kilos, of
which 8 estates are tea cum rubber
estates. The total assets of the

plantation amount to Rs. 18.3 Bn as
of 31st March 2015. In addition, the
plantations also manage 519 acres
of coconut and other crops, including
5,188 acres of timber. The Group also
owns the largest cinnamon plantation
in the country and is continuing
with its strategy on expanding this
business.
FLC Hydropower PLC consists of
the Sanquhar Mini Hydro Plant,
commissioned in year 2003; the Delta
Mini hydro Plant, commissioned
in year 2006, both with installed
capacity of 1.6 Mw each and the
Stellenberg mini hydro Plant with
Installed Capacity of 0.9 Mw,
Commissioned in 2014, bringing the
total installed capacity to 4.1 Mw.
This sector, recorded its best year
since the commissioning of its first
plant in 2003. The sector achieved
its highest revenues and Profit after
Tax growing by a significant 1,270%
to reach Rs. 74 Mn, supported by
favorable rainfall conditions in the
second and third quarters. Revenue in
this sector grew by a significant 115%
to Rs. 187 Mn.
During the year, we ensured
minimum down time of our plants
and succeeded in running the plants
at maximum efficient levels while
keeping optimum annual plant factor
between 45% - 55%. We continued
to strengthen the relationship with
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the Ceylon Electricity Board (CEB)
with whom the Company has entered
into a Standard Power Purchase
Agreement (SPPA).
The Thebuwana Hydro Plant with an
installed Capacity of 0.8Mw is under
final stages of testing and would be
commissioned during the first half of
2015/16.
BI also holds 12.8% investment
in Agstar PLC held jointly with the
parent, LOLC PLC. The purpose of
this investment is to provide supplies
of straight and blended fertiliser,
crop-care products and seeds to the
agriculture sector and complements
the agriculture and plantation
businesses Group.
A building owned by FLC Holdings
PLC’s subsidiary company, FLC
Properties (Pvt) Ltd was completed
during the year and is now fully
occupied and well on the way of
recovering the investment made with
a steady income stream for future
profitability. The Company also forged
ahead with its hydropower projects,
of which several are in operation.

Construction
BI has a significant shareholding in
the construction giant Sierra Group
together with parent company LOLC
PLC. The Sierra Group is a dominant
player in the engineering and
construction industry in Sri Lanka.
The segment reported a profit of
Rs.63 Mn compared to the Rs.41 Mn
profit in the previous year. It has also
partnered with Group companies on
several projects, such as those in the
leisure and healthcare sectors.

The Construction segment comprises
of Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd, a
subsidiary of BI, and a leader in
installing aluminium curtain walls,
doors, windows and glass facades.
Having commenced operations
in 1982, the company has grown
exponentially over the past 30 years
and is today classified as a Super
Contractor by ICTAD, qualified to
handle projects of any value. The
Company performed well in the year
under review, embarking on several
new projects. In the coming year BI
will work towards integrating this
business to the rest of its operations
to expand the scope for medium and
long term returns.

Other Investments
BI also manages a substantial
portfolio of investments in equity
shares, other financial instruments
and real estate. The investment
portfolio amounted to Rs. 1,128
million and a land portfolio in excess
of Rs. 1,186 million. The investment
portfolio consists of a trading
portfolio of approximately Rs.303
million. The land portfolio consists
of 15.4 acres of land currently which
will be held as a strategic investment
for value appreciation or for future
development purposes.

Future Outlook
BI’s Leisure sector will expand its
presence in the region and also
cater to the expected growth in Sri
Lanka’s tourism industry. Completion
of the current hotel projects will
complement the target capacity levels
of the Group. BI will continue to
develop its Excel World entertainment
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complex, upgrading existing facilities
and adding new ones.
The agri-business and plantations
sector will continue with tea and
rubber as its main crops but
will diversify into other crops as
well. Continuous alignment and
restructuring will gear the plantation
companies to increase their ability to
contribute sustainable revenue to the
Group. Agstar is expected to increase
its presence in the agri-business
sector, leveraging on synergies with
the Browns agriculture machinery and
plantations services divisions.
The construction sector is well
positioned to capitalize on the
development projects of the
country as well as the Group capital
expansions. Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd
are expected to expand operations
with significant projects planned in
the coming years.
BI’s bold and decisive strategies
to invest into businesses with
future potential and the Brown
and Company PLC and LOLC PLC’s
backing for building a sustainable
business proposition will allow BI to
realize its full potential from all the
investments made during the last
few years. The management will work
towards aligning all the companies in
achieving these goals.
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Corporate Governance
“Corporate Governance Is The System By Which
Companies Are Directed And Controlled”
(Sir Adrian Cadbury, the Committee on the Financial Aspects of
Corporate Governance)
CA Sri Lanka is considered a strong
gesture to strengthen transparency,
accountability and disclosure of the
Group’s business practices.

Leadership

Focused and
effective Board

Integrity

Capability

Transparent and fair
business

Principles
of Corporate

An appropriate mix of
skills, experience and
independence of the
Board to discharge
their duties

Governance

Sustainability

Proper guidance to
re-investment and
distribution

The Corporate Governance philosophy
at Browns Investments PLC is based
on a culture of performance within
a framework of compliance and
conformance.
We firmly believe in good Corporate
Governance, a system by which
companies are directed and
controlled. It ensures a regulatory
environment complemented by
compliance and accountability. The
Company holds itself accountable to
the highest standards of Corporate
Governance and provides public
accessibility to the information of
the Company. Corporate Governance
lays the basis for responsible
performance–oriented management
and control which is geared towards

Accountability
Clear and
understandable
communication

sustainable value creation. Corporate
Governance has been institutionalized
at all levels in the Group through a
strong set of corporate values which
have been closely followed to by the
Senior Management and Board of
Directors in the performance of their
official duties and in other situations
which could affect the Group image.
The Company is committed to the
highest standards of integrity, ethical
values and professionalism in all its
activities.
Formal publication of the Code
of Best Practice on Corporate
Governance Rules issued jointly
by the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC) and

The Company is committed to its
corporate values and adheres to the
Code of Best Practice on Corporate
Governance. The consistent adherence
to the principles and practices of
good Corporate Governance has
resulted in the Company acquiring a
matchless reputation among all its
stakeholders in Sri Lanka for fidelity
and dependability.
The Corporate Governance framework
has been incorporated within
the Group with adherence to the
following:
•

Complying with laws, rules and
regulations within the territory

•

Allegiance to the Group Values

•

Ensuring that no individual has
unfettered decision making powers

•

Exercising professionalism
and integrity in all business
transactions

•

Timely and efficient decision
making and resource allocation
within a framework which is
compliant with the laws of
the territory and standards of
governance

The key components of the Corporate
Governance framework of the
Company comprising of Internal
Governance Structure, Assurance
of Compliance and Regulatory
Framework which guide the Company
towards the progress by way of
developing and implementing
appropriate corporate strategies are
discussed in detail in this report.
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Corporate Governance Framework

SHAREHOLDERS

INTERNAL GOVERNANCE

ASSURANCE OF

REGULATORY

STRUCTURE

COMPLIANCE

FRAMEWORK

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
&
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD
COMMITTEES

AUDIT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REMUNERATION

MANDATORY
COMPLIANCE
GROUP CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER

COMPANY SECRETARY

Companies Act No 7 of 2007
Listing Rules of the CSE
Rules and Regulations of
other Authorities such as
the Department of Inland
Revenue of Sri Lanka

VOLUNTARY  
COMPLIANCE

INTERNAL CONTROL

COMPANY’S CODE OF
CONDUCT/
PROCEDURES &
POLICIES

EXTERNAL AUDIT

INTERNAL AUDIT

EMPLOYEES

The Code of Best Practice
on Corporate Governance
published by the Securities
and Exchange Commission
and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants of
Sri Lanka
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A - Internal Governance Structure
The internal governance structure
of the Company facilitates effective
and efficient decision making with
accountability. This is mainly based
on the following three pillars:
i.

The Executive Chairman and the
Board of Directors

ii. Sub-Committees
iii. Internal Policies

a) The Executive Chairman and
the Board of Directors
The Role of the Executive Chairman
The Executive Chairman’s primary
role is to ensure that the Board
is effective in its tasks of setting
and implementing the Company’s
direction and strategy. The Executive
Chairman is also expected to
act as the Company’s leading
representative who will be involved in
the presentation of the Company’s
aims and policies to the external
world. While providing leadership to
the Board, the Executive Chairman
should ensure that the participation
and contribution of the Executive,
Non-Executive and Non/Independent
Directors are encouraged and

their views on the matters under
consideration are determined.
The Board considers that none of
the Executive Chairman’s other
commitments interfere with the
discharge of his responsibilities to the
Group. The Board is satisfied that the
Executive Chairman makes sufficient
time to serve the Company effectively.
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors, along with the
Executive Chairman is the ultimate
governing body of the Company
and is abundant in experience,
professionalism with a wide range
of expertise in diverse fields as set
out on pages 6 to 10. The Board
is responsible for the ultimate
supervision and accountability for
the stewardship function of the
Group. In all actions taken by the
Board, the Directors are expected to
exercise their business judgement
considering the best interests of the
Company. The Directors participate
in defining goals, visions, strategies
and business targets. All Directors are
able to and willingly add value and
independent opinion on the decision
making process, which is of immense
benefit for the effective functioning

of the Board. The questions raised
by shareholders at General Meetings
are readily answered by the Board
members and they maintain an
appropriate dialogue with the
shareholders.
The Board gives leadership in
setting the strategic direction
and establishing a sound control
framework for the successful
functioning of the Company. The
Board’s composition reflects sound
balance of independence and
anchors.
Composition of the Board and
Directors’ Independence
As at date, the Board consists of 10
members comprising of•

07 Non-Executive Directors

•

02 Independent Non-Executive
Directors

•

01 Executive Director

The Independence of the Directors
has been determined in accordance
with the Colombo Stock Exchange
Rules and the Independent NonExecutive Directors have submitted
signed confirmations of their
independence.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN:
•

Provides leadership to the Company and ensures the Board of Directors works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities.

•

Ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information, including on the Company’s current
performance, to enable the Board to take sound decisions, monitor effectively and provide advice to promote the success
of the Company (dissemination of information).

•

With the assistance of the Company Secretary ensures that;
• Board procedures are followed.
• Timely disclosures are made as per the requirements of the SEC/CSE.

•

Promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors in
particular and encouraging active engagement by all members of the Board.

•

Ensures an effective communication with shareholders.

•

Ensures an appropriate balance is maintained between the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders (Employees,
Customers, Suppliers and the Community).

•

Ensures that the operating model of the Group is aligned to the short term and long term strategies pursued by the Group
and thereby ensures the long term sustainability of the business through guiding the senior management of the company

•

Upholds the highest standards of integrity.

•

Identifying profitable and advantageous trade investments and major capital expenditure and make recommendations to
the Board.
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No

Name  of Director

Executive / Non
Executive

Independent/ Non
Independent
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Gender Representation

01

Ishara Nanayakkara

Executive

Non-Independent

Male

02

Shanker Somasunderam

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

03

Kapila Jayawardena

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

04

Kalsha Amarasinghe

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Female

05

Kamantha Amarasekara

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

06

Stefan Furkhan

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

07

Rajah Nanayakkara
(Appointed w.e.f 29th September
2014)

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

08

Ruwan Sugathadasa

Non-Executive

Non-Independent

Male

09

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

Non-Executive

Independent

Male

10

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
(Appointed w.e.f 29th September
2014)

Non-Executive

Independent

Male

* Rimoe Saldin who was the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer resigned on 14th November 2014.

Transactions which have a material
bearing on the Company are disclosed
by way of circulars to shareholders
and by announcements to the
Colombo Stock Exchange.
The Non-Executive Directors are
required to notify the Executive
Chairman of their external Board
appointments and the Executive
Chairman reviews such appointments
in consultation with the other
Directors where necessary to
ascertain any possible conflicts of
interest.

The Directors are required to follow the ‘Best Practices’ as illustrated below:

PRIOR TO
APPOINTMENT

ONCE
APPOINTED

Nominees are requested to make known their
various interests that could potentially be in
conflict with the interest of the Company.

Directors obtain Board clearance prior to engaging
in any transaction that could create a potential
conflict of interest.
All Non-Executive Directors shall notify the
Executive Chairman of any changes to their
current Board representations or interest including
related parties.
All Directors should make a general disclosure of
interest every year and also changes thereto.

Board Balance
The balance of Executive, NonExecutive and Independent NonExecutive Directors on the Board
ensures the balance between
executive expediency and independent
judgement as no individual Director or
small group of Directors dominates
the Board discussion and decisionmaking. The Independent Directors
shall be able to ensure equal benefits
for all shareholders with independent
views and opinions.

DURING BOARD
MEETINGS

Directors who have interest in a matter under
discussion:
•

Excuse themselves from deliberations on the
subject matter

•

Abstain from voting on the subject matter
(abstentions where applicable from decisions
are duly minuted)

•

Declare interest and comment if needed
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Re-Election of Directors
The Company’s Articles of Association
call for one third of the Directors in
office to retire at each Annual General
Meeting. The Directors who retire
are those longest in office since their
appointment/re-appointment. Retiring
Directors are generally eligible for reelection by the shareholders.

Board Responsibilities and
Decision Rights
The business of the Company is
conducted by its managers, officers
and employees under the direction of
the Executive Chairman and the Board
to enhance the long-term value of the
Company for its shareholders. The
Board aims to fulfil its responsibilities
by creating value for all stakeholders
that is sustainable and beneficial. The
Board of Directors is well equipped
to realize the Company’s corporate
business. The Board meets monthly
and gives full consideration to the
following:•

Review strategic and operational
issues

•

Approve financial statements and
annual budgets

•

Review profit and working
capital forecasts and quarterly
management accounts

•

Sanction major investments

The Board is responsible ultimately
for the Company’s financial
performance.
All Directors receive appropriate
training relevant to their experience
and position within the Company.

Board Meetings and Attendance
For the financial year ending 31st
March 2015 there has been a total
number of 05 Board Meetings and
Directors attendance for the same is
shown below:

Name of Director

Number of Board meetings attended

Ishara Nanayakkara

05/05

Rimoe Saldin
(Resigned on 14th November 2014)

03/03

Shanker Somasunderam

05/05

Kapila Jayawardena

04/05

Kalsha Amarasinghe

04/05

Kamantha Amarasekara

05/05

Stefan Furkhan

04/05

Ruwan Sugathadasa

05/05

Rajah Nanayakkara
(Appointed w.e.f 29th September
2014)

01/03

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

05/05

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
(Appointed w.e.f 29th September
2014)

03/03

Directors are provided with minutes
of the Board Meetings and are given
the specific documentation necessary,
in advance of such meetings.
The Chairman ensures all Directors
are adequately briefed on issues
arising at meetings.

Professional advice
The Directors obtain independent and
professional advice with regard to
decision making in their duties.

Financial Acumen
Financial acumen is a key factor in
the successful career of the Directors
who have held senior management
positions in other institutions.
The Board consists of four Senior
Accountants, who posses the
necessary knowledge to offer the
Board guidance on matters of
finance.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretaries are
responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and that
all relevant information, details and
documents are made available to the
Directors to effective decision making
at the meetings. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretaries,
S.F.L. Services (Pvt) Ltd. The
Secretaries provide support to the
Board on all Corporate Governance
matters and compliance with
applicable rules and regulations.

Stakeholder Engagement
The Board recognizes the rights of all
stakeholders which encourages active
co-operation between the Company
and the stakeholders. The Company
has adopted a comprehensive
policy for communication based on
efficiency, transparency and clarity.
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Stakeholders’ Rights Framework

Shareholders
The Company is committed to enhance
long term shareholder value and facilitate
the existing shareholder rights.

Customers/Community

Employees

The Company is committed to maintain
and enhance its public reputation and
to meet its activities on corporate social
responsibility.

The Company is committed to build a
convenient work environment.

Regulators
The Company is committed to ensure the
fulfilment of all regulatory frameworks
fulfilling the legal and good governance
practices adopted by the Company.

•

Shareholder Value

The Board constantly strives to
enhance shareholder value as it is
the shareholder who have built this
winning organization.
•

Shareholder Relations

The Board considers the Annual
General Meeting a prime opportunity
to communicate with shareholders.
Shareholders are given the
opportunity to exercise their rights
at the Annual General Meeting and
to seek and obtain clarifications and
information on the performance of
the Company and to meet Directors.
The notice of the Annual General
Meeting and the relevant documents
required are published and sent to
the shareholders within the statutory
period. The Company circulates
the agenda for the meeting and
each resolution brought before the
meeting will be voted separately by
the shareholders. All shareholders are
invited and encouraged to participate
at the Annual General Meeting. The
external auditors are also present at
the Annual General Meeting to render
any professional assistance that may

be required. Shareholders who are
not in a position to attend the Annual
General Meeting in person are entitled
to have their voting rights exercised by
a proxy of their choice.

Risk assessments carried out across
the Group’s operations take account
of environmental, social and ethical
matters.

b)  Sub-Committees
The Company publishes and
circulates Quarterly Accounts in a
timely manner as it is considered
a principal communication with
shareholders and others. This enables
the stakeholders to make a rational
judgement of the Company.
•

Corporate Social Responsibility

Rights and claims of Stakeholder
Groups such as employees,
consumers, clients, suppliers,
creditors and the government are also
considered important apart from the
Shareholders. Corporate decisions are
made with due consideration to these
matters.
The Group acknowledges the issues
facing the environment and adopts a
responsible attitude whilst meeting all
of its business objectives. The Group’s
policy is, wherever economically
practical, to recycle waste material
and conserve water and energy.

The Board has delegated some of
its functions to board committees
while retaining final decision rights
pertaining to matters under the
purview of these committees.
The Sub-Committees are:
•

Audit Committee - Oversight of
Internal Controls and Financial
Reporting.

•

Remuneration Committee
- Recommendation of the
remuneration framework of the
company.
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Board
Audit Committee

Remuneration
Committee

• 2  Independent
Non-Executive
Directors

• 1 Independent  
Non-Executive
Director

• 1 Non-Executive
Director

• 3 Non-Executive
Directors

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is established
to approve the quarterly and
annual Financial Statements and
to recommend same to the Board
prior to its issuance. The Committee
comprises of:

The Group Chief Financial Officer and
the External Auditors’ representative
join the meetings of the committee by
invitation of its members.
The Audit Committee meets with
the External Auditors M/s. KPMG to
review the Audits and determine the
objectivity and independence of the
Auditors.
The Audit Committee report is given
on page 34.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, which
met on regular occasions during the
period under review, comprises of one
Independent Non-Executive Director
and three Non-Executive Directors,
namely:

•

Kamantha Amarasekera  
Chairman/Non-Executive Director

•

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC  
Member/Independent NonExecutive Director

•

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
Member/ Independent NonExecutive Director
(Appointed w.e.f. 29th September
2014)

•

Kalsha Amarasinghe
Member/Non-Executive Director

•

For the financial year ending 31st
March 2015 there have been a total
number of two (2) Audit Committee
Meetings and the attendance of the
members are shown below:

Kapila Jayawardena
Member/Non-Executive Director

•

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC
Member /Independent NonExecutive Director

•

Name of
member

Number of
meetings
held

Attendance

Kamantha
Amarasekera

2

2

Dr. Harsha
Cabral PC

2

2

Dr. Jayanta
Swaminathan

-

-

The financial statements have
been approved by way of circular
resolutions.

Kamantha Amarasekera
Chairman/Non-Executive Director
(Appointed as Chairman on 19th
February 2015)

The Remuneration Committee is
responsible for:
•

assisting the Board of Directors
in establishing the remuneration
policies and practices in the
Company

•

evaluating the performance of the
Executives of the Group

•

in reviewing and recommending
to the Board appropriate
remuneration packages based on
performance

The detailed Remuneration Committee
Report is given on page 35 of the
Annual Report.

c) Internal Policies
These are designed to support
and maintain a transparent and
effective internal control system and
institutionalization of best process
of governance. Some of the policies
which play a key role in this respect
are the Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics and IT Governance.

B - Assurance Of Compliance
This element is the supervisory
module of the Group’s Corporate
Governance framework, where a range
of assurance mechanism such as
monitoring, tests on effectiveness are
carried out and corrective actions are
proposed and implemented towards a
sound governance system.

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN &
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD
SUB COMMITTEES

EXTERNAL & INTERNAL
AUDIT
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The Board is conscious of its
responsibility to the shareholders,
the Government and the society in
which it operates and is committed
to upholding the highest standards
of ethical behaviour in conducting
its business. The Board, through
the Group Legal Division, the Group
Finance Division and its other
operating structures monitors and
assesses the level of compliance
of the Company with laws and
regulations, it also reviews the
changes in regulations and strive
to ensure that the Company is
in compliance with regulatory
requirements of the country.
When carrying out the function
of compliance, the Internal and
External audit as well as Board Subcommittees also play a vital role
in the governance structure of the
Company.

Accountability
The Board places great emphasis
on complete disclosure of Group
financial information within the
bounds of commercial reality and has
taken necessary steps to ensure the
integrity of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting systems.
They also review and monitor on a
periodical basis.
The Board is responsible for
formulating internal control and
implementing an adequate and
appropriate internal control system.

Going Concern
The Board of Directors, after
reviewing the financial position and
the cash flow of the Company is of
the belief that the Company has
adequate resources to continue
operation well into the foreseeable
future. Therefore the Board adopts
the going concern basis in preparing
financial statements.

Ethical Standards
The Board is committed to maintain
high ethical standards in conducting
its business and to communicate its
values to its employees and agents
and ensure their conduct is based on
such values.

C - Regulatory Framework
This refers to the regulatory structure
within which the Group operates to
achieve governance and to comply
with related laws, regulations and to
adhere to best practice.
The vehicle used by the Company
in developing and implementing
the Company’s involvement in the
Community has ensured that the
social programmes of the Company
are consistent with the principles of
sustainable development.
Self- Governance Practices by the
Company
The Solvency Statements prepared
by the Group Chief Financial Officer
are tabled every quarter at the
Board Meeting in order to determine
whether the Company is solvent.
As provided by the Companies Act
No.7 of 2007, the Company has
obtained insurance cover for Directors
and key officials of the Company.
The new rules of Corporate
Governance and disclosure
requirements for listed companies, as
mandated by the Securities Exchange
Commission of Sri Lanka and also in
the requirements of the listing rules
of the Colombo Stock Exchange are
complied with and given importance
as this helps to build an ethical
environment in the Company.
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Statement of Compliance Under Section 7.10 Of The Rules of The Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) On
Corporate Governance
(Implemented on 1st April 2009 and includes amendments to date)
CSE Rule
7.10

Compliance

a/b/c

Compliance with Corporate
Governance Rules

7.10.1

Non-Executive Directors (NED)

a/b/c

At least 02 members or 1/3 of the
Board, whichever is higher should be
NEDs

Compliance
Status

Company’s Action

Executive

Non-Independent

√

The Company is in compliance with the Corporate Governance Rules and any deviations are
explained where applicable

√

As at date the Board consists of 10 Directors
and 09 out of the 10 Board members are
NEDs
The Company is conscious of the need to
maintain an appropriate mix of skills and
experience in the Board and to refresh
progressively its composition over time, in line
with needs

7.10.2

Independent Directors

a.

02 or 1/3 of NEDs, whichever is
higher shall be ‘independent’

b.

Each NED to submit a signed
and dated declaration of his/her
independence or non-independence

7.10.3

Disclosures relating to Directors

a/b

As at date the Board consists of 09 NEDs
and 02 out of the 09 Board members who are
NEDs are independent
√

The Independence of the Directors has been
determined in accordance with CSE Listing
Rules and the Non-Executive Directors have
submitted signed confirmation of their
independence

The Board shall annually determine
the independence or otherwise of
NEDs

√

Non-Executive Directors have submitted
declarations as to their independence

c

A brief resume of each Director
should be included in the annual
report including the Director’s
experience

√

Refer Board of Directors section

d

Provide a resume of new Directors
appointed to the Board along with
details

√

Details of the new Directors appointed during
the financial year were submitted to the
Colombo Stock Exchange

7.10.4

Criteria for defining independence

a.to h.

Requirements for meeting the criteria
to be an Independent Director

√

All the Independent Directors of the Company
meet the criteria for independency specified in
this rule

7.10.5

Remuneration Committee

a.1

Remuneration Committee

√

The Remuneration Committee comprises of
both an Independent Non-Executive Director
and three Non- Executive Directors

a.2

One Non-Executive Director shall
be appointed as Chairman of the
Committee by the Board of Directors

√

Complied. Refer Remuneration Committee
Report.
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Company’s Action

b.

Remuneration Committee shall
recommend the remuneration of the
Executive Directors

√

The remuneration of the Executive Chairman
and the Executive Directors is determined
as per the remuneration principles of
the Company and recommended by the
Remuneration Committee

c.1

Names of Remuneration Committee
members

√

Refer Board Committees

c.2

Statement of Remuneration Policy

√

Refer Remuneration Committee Report

c.3

Aggregate remuneration paid to EDs
and NEDs

√

Aggregate remuneration
EDs – NIL
NEDs – Rs. 2.6Mn/-

7.10.6

Audit Committee

a.1

Audit Committee (AC) shall comprise
of NEDs, a majority of whom should
be independent

√

The Audit Committee comprises of two
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one
Non-Executive Director

a.2

A NED shall be the Chairman of the
Committee

√

A Non-Executive Director is the Chairman of
the Audit Committee

a.3

CEO and CFO should attend AC
meetings

√

Since the Chief Executive Officer resigned on
14th November 2014 and no new appointment
was made, the Group Chief Financial Officer
and the Internal Auditors attended the Audit
Committee meetings by invitation

a.4

The Chairman of the Audit Committee
or one member should be a member
of a professional accounting body

√

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is a
member of a professional accounting body

b.

Functions of the Audit Committee
shall include:

b.1

Overseeing of the preparation,
presentation and adequacy of
disclosures in the financial statements
in accordance with SLFRS/LKAS

√

The Audit Committee assists the Board in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the
integrity of the Financial Statements of the
Company and the Group

b.2

Overseeing the compliance with
financial reporting requirements,
information requirements as per the
laws and regulations

√

The Audit Committee has the overall
responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements in accordance with the
laws and regulations of the country and also
recommending to the Board, on the adoption
of best accounting policies

b.3

Ensuring the internal controls and risk
management are adequate, to meet
the requirements of the SLFRS/LKAS

√

The Audit Committee assesses the role and
the effectiveness of the Group Business
Process which is largely responsible for
internal control and risk management

b.4

Assessment of the independence and
performance of the Entity’s external
auditors

√

The Audit Committee assesses the external
auditor’s performance qualifications and
independence

b.5

Make recommendations to the Board
pertaining to external auditors

√

The Audit Committee is responsible for
appointment, re-appointment, removal of
external auditors and also the approval of the
remuneration and terms of engagement
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Company’s Action

c.1

Names of the Audit Committee
members shall be disclosed

√

Refer Board Sub-Committee section

c.2

Audit Committee shall make a
determination of the independence of
the external auditors

√

Refer Report of the Audit Committee

c.3

Report on the manner in which Audit
Committee carried out its functions

√

Refer Report of the Audit Committee

Code of Best Practices of Corporate Governance jointly issued by The Securities and Exchange Commission of
Sri Lanka (SEC) and The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka)
(Issued on 1st July 2008)

A. Directors
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule

Company’s Action

A.1

The Board

A.1

Company to be headed by an effective
Board to direct and control the
Company

√

The Company is headed by an effective
Board of Directors who are responsible and
accountable for the stewardship function of
the Company

A.1.1

Regular Board meetings

√

The Board meets at least once in every
quarter

A.1.2

The Board should be responsible for
matters including implementation
of business strategy, skills and
succession of the management team,
integrity of information, internal
controls and risk management,
compliance with laws and ethical
standards, stakeholder interests,
adopting appropriate accounting
policies and fostering compliance
with financial regulations and fulfilling
other Board functions

√

Powers specifically vested in the Board to
execute their responsibility include:
• Providing direction and guidance to
the Company in the formulation of its
strategies, with emphasis on the medium
and long term, in the pursuance of its
operational and financial goals.
• Reviewing and approving annual budget
plans
• Monitoring systems of governance and
compliance
• Reviewing and approving major
investments, acquisitions, disposals and
capital expenditure

A.1.3

Act in accordance with the laws of the
country and obtain professional advice
as and when required

√

The Board seeks independent professional
advice when deemed necessary

Access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary

To ensure robust deliberation and optimum
decision making, the Directors have access
to the services of the Company Secretaries
whose appointment and/or removal is the
responsibility of the Board.

Annual Report 2014/2015

Compliance
Status

CSE Rule

27

Company’s Action

A.1.5

Bring independent judgement on
various business issues and standard
of business conduct

√

Collectively, the Non-Executive Directors bring
a wealth of value adding knowledge, ranging
from domestic and international experience to
functional know-how, thus ensuring adequate
Board diversity in accordance with principles
of Corporate Governance. Furthermore, every
member of the Board brings independent
judgement on various business issues.

A.1.6

Dedication of adequate time and
effort

√

Allowing for Non-Executive Director
involvement in various Board Committees and
time spent by them in considering various
matters that require discussion and decision
in between the formal Board meetings, the
Company estimates that Non-Executive
Directors devote sufficient time to the Group
during the year.

A1.7

Board induction and training

√

In instances where Non-Executive Directors
are newly appointed to the Board, they are
apprised of the:
• Values and culture
• Operations of the Group and its strategies
• Operating model
• Policies, governance framework and
processes
• Responsibilities as a Director in terms of
prevailing legislation
• Important developments in the business
activities of the Group

A.2

The Executive Chairman

A.3

The Executive Chairman’s role

A.3.1

The Executive Chairman should ensure
Board proceedings are conducted in a
proper manner

√

The Executive Chairman is instrumental in:
• Leading the Board for its effectiveness
• Setting the tone for the governance and
ethical framework
• Ensuring that constructive working
relations are maintained between the
Executive and Non-Executive members of
the Board
• Ensuring, with the assistance of the
Company Secretaries, that Board
procedures are followed and information
is disseminated in a timely manner to the
Board

A.4.

Financial acumen

A.4

The Board should ensure the
availability within it of those with
sufficient financial acumen and
knowledge to offer guidance on
matters of finance

√

Four Board members hold memberships in
professional accounting bodies
Refer Board of Directors’ section

28

Browns Investments PLC

Corporate Governance

Compliance
Status

CSE Rule

Company’s Action

A.5

Board balance

A.5.1

Board should include Non-Executive
Directors of sufficient calibre

√

A.5.2

Where the constitution of the Board
of Directors includes only two
Non-Executive Directors, both such
Non-Executive Directors should be
Independent Directors

N/A

A.5.3

Definition of Independent Directors

√

All the Independent Directors of the Board
are independent of management and free of
any business or other relationship that could
materially interfere with or could reasonably
be perceived to materially interfere with the
exercise of their unfettered and independent
judgement

A.5.4.

Declaration of Independent Directors

√

Each Non-Executive Director has submitted
a signed and dated declaration of his/her
independence

A.5.5

Board determinations on
independence or non-independence of
Non-Executive Directors

√

All of the Independent Directors of the
Company met the criteria for independency
specified in this rule

A5.8

Where Directors have concerns about
the matters of the Company which
cannot be unanimously resolved,
they should ensure their concerns are
recorded in the Board Minutes

√

All the Board meeting proceedings are
comprehensively recorded in the Board
Minutes

A.6

Supply of information

A.6.1

The Board should be provided with
timely information to enable it to
discharge its duties

√

The Board is provided with:
• Information as is necessary to carry out
their duties and responsibilities effectively
and efficiently
• Information updates from management
on topical matters, new regulations and
best practices as relevant to the Group’s
business
• External and internal auditors’ opinions
• Experts and other external professional
services
• The services of the Company Secretaries

A.6.2

Timely submission of the minutes,
agenda and papers required for the
Board meeting

√

Board agendas and necessary Board Papers
and minutes are dispatched at least 07 days
prior to the Board meeting

A.7

Appointment to the Board

A.7.1

Formal and transparent procedure for
Board appointments

√

Board appointments follow a transparent and
formal process

A.7.2

Assessment of the capability of Board
to meet strategic demands of the
Company

√

Refer Corporate Governance

A.7.3

Disclosure of new Board member
profile and interests

√

Refer Board of Directors’ section

As at date, the Board consists of 09 Directors,
with a majority being Non-Executive Directors
Not applicable as the Board comprises of
more than two Non-Executive Directors
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Re-election

A.8.1/

Re-election at regular intervals and
should be subject to election and reelection by Shareholders

√
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Company’s Action

The Non-Executive Directors are appointed
and recommended for re-election until their
prescribed Company retirement age
The Directors are subject to re-election on the
basis of ‘longest in the office’ as provided in
the Articles of the Association
One third of the Directors shall retire by
rotation on the basis prescribed in the Articles
of the Company. Directors retiring by rotation
or a Director who is subject to appointment
is eligible for re-election by a shareholder
resolution at the AGM.

A.9

Appraisal of Board performance

A.9.1

The Board should annually appraise
itself on its performance in the
discharge of its key responsibilities

√

The Board continued with its annual Board
performance appraisal. This is a formalized
process of self-appraisal, whereby each
member assesses, on an anonymous basis,
the performance of the Board.

A.9.2

The Board should also undertake
an annual self-evaluation of its
own performance and that of its
Committees

√

Under the areas of;
• Role clarity and effective discharge of
responsibilities
• People mix and structures
• Systems and procedures
• Quality of participation
• Board image

A.9.3

The Board should state how such
performance evaluations have been
conducted

√

The performance evaluations are analyzed
to give the Board an indication of its
effectiveness as well as areas that require
addressing and/or strengthening

A.10

Disclosure of information in respect
of Directors

A.10.1

•
•
•
•

√

Refer Board of Directors’ section and
Corporate Governance

Profiles of the Board of Directors
Directors’ interests
Board meeting attendance
Board Committee memberships

B. Directors Remuneration
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule

Company’s Action

B.1

Remuneration procedure

B.1.1

The Board of Directors should set up
a Remuneration Committee

√

The Remuneration Committee primarily
focused on the remuneration policies and
practices of the Directors and the Executive
Chairman

B.1.2.

Remuneration Committees should
consist exclusively of Non–Executive
Directors

√

Complied. For more details refer Board
Committees

B.1.3.

The Executive Chairman and members
of the Remuneration Committee
should be listed in the Annual Report
each year

√

Refer Board Sub-Committees
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B.1.4.

Determination of the remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors

√

NEDs receive a fee for devoting time and
expertise for the benefit of the Group in their
capacity as Directors

B.1.5.

The Remuneration Committee should
consult the Chairman about its
proposals relating to the remuneration
of other Executive Directors

√

Complied

B.2/B.3

Disclosure of Remuneration

B.3/B.3.1

Disclosure of remuneration policy and
aggregate remuneration

√

In accordance with the guidelines of the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Sri
Lanka aggregate remuneration paid to the
Executive and Non- Executive Directors during
the financial year 2014/2015 is disclosed as
follows:
EDs- NIL
NEDs Rs. 2.6 Mn/-

C. Relations with Shareholders
Shareholders have the opportunity at the AGM, to put forward questions to the Executive Chairman and the Board of
Directors, to have better familiarity with the Company’s business and operational workings.
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule

Company’s Action

C.1

Constructive use of the Annual
General Meeting (AGM) and conduct
of General Meetings

√

Complied

C.1.1.

Counting of proxy votes

√

Complied

C.1.2.

Separate resolution to be proposed for
each item

C.1.3.

Heads of Board subcommittees to be
available to answer queries

√

All the Non-Executive Directors who are the
heads of Board subcommittees are available
to answer queries

C.1.4.

Notice of Annual General Meeting to
be sent to shareholders with other
papers as per statute

√

Notice of the AGM and related documents are
sent to shareholders along with the Annual
Report within the specified period.

Complied

The contents of this Annual Report will enable
existing and prospective stakeholders to make
better informed decisions in their dealings
with the Company
C.1.5.

Summary of procedures governing
voting at General meetings to be
informed

C.2

Major transactions

C.2.1.

Disclosure of all material facts
involving any proposed acquisition,
sale or disposition of assets

√

Complied

√

All material and price sensitive information
about the Company is promptly
communicated to the Colombo Stock
Exchange, where the shares of the Company
are listed, and released to the employees,
press and shareholders.
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D. Accountability and Audit
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule
D.1.

Financial reporting

D.1.1.

Disclosure of interim and other pricesensitive and statutorily mandated
reports to regulators

√

Company’s Action

The Board of Directors, in consultation
with the Audit Committee, have taken all
reasonable steps in ensuring the accuracy
and timeliness of published information
and in presenting an honest and balanced
assessment of results in the quarterly and
annual financial statements.
All price sensitive information has been
made known to the Colombo Stock Exchange,
shareholders and the press in a timely manner
and in keeping with the regulations.

D.1.2.

Declaration by the Directors that the
Company has not engaged in any

√

Refer Corporate Governance

activities, which contravene laws and
regulations, declaration of all material
interests in contracts, equitable
treatment of shareholders and going
concern with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary
D.1.3.

Statement of Directors’ responsibility

√

Refer Statement on Directors Responsibility

D.1.4.

Management Discussion and Analysis

√

Refer Management Discussion and Analysis

D.1.5.

The Directors should report that
the business is a going concern,
with supporting assumptions or
qualifications as necessary

√

The Board of Directors, upon the
recommendation of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Company has sufficient
resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future

D.1.6.

Remedial action at Extraordinary
General Meeting (EGM) if net
assets fall below half of value of
Shareholders funds

√

In the unlikely event that the net assets of the
Company fall below a half of Shareholders
funds, shareholders would be notified and an
extraordinary resolution would be passed on
the proposed way forward

D.2

Internal Control

D.2.1.

Annual review of effectiveness of
system of internal control and report
to shareholders as required

√

The Board has taken necessary steps to
ensure the integrity of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting systems and internal
control systems remain effective via the review
and monitoring of such systems on a periodic
basis

D.2.2.

Internal Audit Function

√

The internal audit function of the Company is
not outsourced to the external auditors of the
Company to ensure the independence of the
external auditor of the Company. The Auditors
report on the Financial Statements of the
Company for the year under review is found
in the financial information section of this
Annual Report
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D.3

Audit Committee

D.3.1.

The Audit Committee should be
comprised of a minimum of two
Independent Non-Executive Directors
or exclusively by Non-Executive
Directors, a majority of whom should
be independent, whichever is higher.

√

The Chairman of the Committee
should be a non- Executive Director,
appointed by the Board.
D.3.2.

Terms of reference, duties and
responsibilities

Company’s Action

The Audit Committee comprises of two
Independent Non- Executive Directors and one
Non- Executive Director. For more details refer
Audit Committee Report.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is a
Non-Executive Director
√

The Audit Committee has the overall
responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of Financial Statements in accordance with
the laws and regulations of the Country and
also recommending to the Board, on the
adoption of best accounting policies.
The Committee is also responsible for
maintaining the relationship with the external
auditors.

D.3.3.

The Audit Committee to have written
terms of reference covering the salient
aspects as stipulated in the section

√

The Audit Committee has written terms of
reference outlining its scope

D.3.4.

Composition of the Audit Committee
independence of the Auditors

√

Refer Audit Committee Report

D5

Corporate Governance disclosures

D.5.1.

The Directors should include in the
Company’s Annual Report a Corporate
Governance Report

√

Complied

E. Institutional Investors
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule
E1

Shareholder voting

E.1.1

A listed Company should conduct
a regular and structured dialogue
with shareholders based on a mutual
understanding of objectives.

E2

Evaluation of governance disclosures

E.2.1.

When evaluating companies
governance arrangements, particularly
those relating to the Board structure
and composition, institutional
investors should be encouraged to
give due weight to all relevant factors
brought to their attention

Company’s Action

√

The Company has a well – developed
investor relations programme to address the
information needs of investment institutions
and analysts regarding the Company, its
strategy, performance and competitive
position

√

The institutional investors are kept informed
on any changes to the Group Governance
structure

Annual Report 2014/2015

F. Other investors
Compliance
Status

CSE Rule
F.1

Investing divesting decisions

F.1.1.

Individual shareholders, investing
directly in shares of Companies
should be encouraged to carry
out adequate analysis or seek
independent advice in investing or
divesting decisions

F.2

Shareholder voting

E.2.1.

Individual shareholders should be
encouraged to participate in General
Meetings of Companies and exercise
their voting rights.

√

Company’s Action

The Company maintains an active dialogue
with shareholders, potential investors,
investment banks, stock brokers and other
interested parties.
Any concerns raised by a Shareholder are
addressed promptly and forwarded, when
necessary, to the Company Secretaries for
consideration and advice.

√

All steps are taken to facilitate the exercise
of shareholder rights at AGMs, including
the receipt of notice of the AGM and related
documents within the specified period.
Shareholders exercise their voting rights
for the election of New Directors or any
other issue of materiality that requires
shareholders’ approval.
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Audit Committee Report
Role of the Committee

Financial Reporting

The role of the Audit Committee
which reports its findings to the
Board, is to ensure the integrity of the
financial reporting of the Company,
internal and external audit processes
of the Company and the maintenance
of sound internal control and risk
management of the Company and its
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

The Committee is established to
oversee the Company’s financial
reporting on behalf of the Board of
Directors as part of its responsibility
and to review the Quarterly and
Annual Financial Statements and
recommend the same to the Board for
its deliberations prior to its issuance.

Composition
The Audit Committee, appointed
by and responsible to the Board of
Directors during the said financial
year comprises of two Independent
Non-Executive Directors and one NonExecutive Director with the Company
Secretary acting as the Secretary. One
of the above Directors acts as the
Chairman and is also a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Sri Lanka. All Non-Executive Directors
satisfy the criteria for independence
as specified in the Standards on
Corporate Governance for listed
Companies issued by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Sri
Lanka.
The members of the Audit Committee
are:•

The Committee is also engaged in
reviewing the Financial Statements to
ensure consistency of the accounting
policies and their compliance with the
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.
The Committee regularly discusses
the operations of the Company
and its future prospects with the
management and ensures that all
relevant matters are taken into
account in the preparation of the
Financial Statements.

Controls and Risks
The Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s
system of Internal Control. The
Committee also assesses the major
business and control risks and the
control environment prevalent in the
Company and advises the Board on
actions to be taken where weaknesses
are observed.

Kamantha Amarasekera
Chairman/Non- Executive Director

External Auditors

•

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC
Independent Non-Executive
Director

The Audit Committee evaluates the
independence of the External Auditors
and the effectiveness of the audit
process.

•

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
Member/ Independent NonExecutive Director (Appointed w.e.f
29th September 2014)

The Chairman and Group Chief
Financial Officer attend all meetings
of the Committee by invitation.

The Committee meets with the
External Auditors in relation to
the scope of the audit and also to
discuss the Management Letter at the
conclusion of the audit.
The Committee reviews the audited
financial statements with the External
Auditors who are responsible
for expressing an opinion on its
conformity with the Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards.

The Audit Committee evaluates the
independence of the External Auditors
and recommends to the Board of
Directors that M/s. KPMG be reappointed as Auditors for the financial
year ending 31st March 2015, subject
to the approval of the shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting.

Conclusion
The reports submitted by the External
Auditors of the Company and the
certification provided by the Senior
Management is considered by the
Committee in identifying that the
financial position of the Company has
been adequately monitored.

Kamantha Amarasekera
Chairman - Audit Committee
15th June 2015
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Remuneration Committee Report
The Remuneration Committee reconstituted under the new Corporate
Governance rules of the Colombo
Stock Exchange is responsible to the
Board of Directors and comprises
of one Independent Non-Executive
Director and three Non-Executive
Directors with the Company Secretary
functioning as its Secretary. The
members of the Remuneration
Committee are:
•

Kamantha Amarasekera
Chairman/Non-Executive Director
(Appointed as Chairman on 19th
February 2015)

•

Kalsha Amarasinghe
Member/Non-Executive Director

•

•

Kapila Jayawardena
Member/Non-Executive Director
Dr. Harsha Cabral PC
Member/Independent NonExecutive Director

The Chairman and the Group Chief
Financial Officer attends meetings on
invitation by the members.
The main responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are:
•

To recommend the remuneration
of the Directors and members of
the senior management.

•

To recommend the policy
governing annual increments to
staff.

•

To recommend the policy
governing annual ex-gratia
payments to staff.

Accordingly, the Committee will review
and re-draft the remuneration policy
and based on the recommendations
of the Committee, the Board shall
approve the adoption of the policy.
The policy will cover the remuneration
to Executive and Non-Executive
Directors, including the Executive
Chairman. Under the terms of this
policy, remuneration will be related to
performance and contribution.

Kamantha Amarasekera
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
15th June 2015
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors
Gross Profit

The Directors of Browns Investments PLC have pleasure
in presenting to its members their Report and the Audited

The Group’s Gross Profit for the year was Rs. 1,018 Mn

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 3l

compared with the Gross Profit of Rs. 359 Mn for the

March 2015.

previous year. A detailed analysis of the Company’s Gross

st

Browns Investments PLC

Profit is given in Note 6 of the Financial Statements.

Browns Investments PLC is a public limited liability

Company’s Investments

company incorporated in Sri Lanka on 10th November

FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd

2008 under the provisions of the Companies Act No. 07

On 03rd March 2015, Browns Investments PLC (BI), an

of 2007 and the Company was listed on the Diri Savi Board

investment arm of LOLC Group has acquired remaining

of the Colombo Stock Exchange on 26th July 2011. The

50% of F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd (FLCJV) for a

Registered Office of the Company is No. 481, T.B. Jayah

consideration of Rs. 651.2 Mn.

Mawatha, Colombo 10. The Business Office is situated at
No. 34, Sir Mohamed Macan Markar Mawatha, Colombo 3.

Sun & Fun Resorts Limited.
In September 2014, Browns Investments PLC (BI) has

Principal Activities

acquired 51% stake of Sun & Fun Resorts Limited (S&F)

The principal activities of the Company are investments

for a consideration of Rs. 255 Mn. S&F is a BOI approved

in listed and non-listed companies and investments in

Company which is in the process of constructing a four star

subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which are mainly

international standard hotel in Pasikudah with 71 rooms.

engaged in the plantation management, agriculture, hydro
power, leisure and construction sectors. Principal activities

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

are described in detail in the “Management Discussion and

60% of the stake of Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd (CLR) was

Analysis” report on pages 11 to 15 of this report.

acquired by Browns Investments PLC for a consideration of
Rs. 44.24 Mn. CRL is primarily concerned with creating and

The principal activities of Browns Investments PLC and the

facilitating travel experiences in Sri Lanka and it is fully-

review on its progress and performance during the year are

fledged professional destination management Company

described in the Chairman’s Review on pages 4 to 5 of this

focused on providing comprehensive travel packages.

report.
Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd

Review Of Business And Future Developments

Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd (CCE) is

A review of the Group’s business and its performance

a reputed business venture specialized in manufacturing

during the year, with comments on financial results

fixed and movable furniture for large hotel projects. Browns

and future strategic developments is contained in the

Investments PLC acquired 50% stake of CCE in March

Chairman’s Review (Pages 4 to 5), Management Discussion

2015 for a consideration of Rs. 10 Mn with an intention of

& Analysis (Pages 11 to 15) sections of this Annual Report.

integrating the supply chain of its leisure sector projects

This report together with financial statements reflect the

and with subsequent expansion to other external hotels and

state of affairs of the Company.

leisure projects.

Turnover

Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd

The Turnover of the Group was Rs. 1,815 Mn as compared

100% stake of Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd was acquired

with Rs. 1,126 Mn in the previous year. A detailed analysis

by Browns Investments PLC for a consideration of Rs. 36.2

of the Group’s turnover is given in Note 4 of the Financial

Mn during the year.

Statements.

38

Browns Investments PLC

Annual Report of the Board of Directors

Bodufaru Beach Resort Private Limited

Employment Policies

Browns Investments PLC, Palm Garden Hotels PLC and

The Group employment policies respects the individuals

Eden Hotel Lanka PLC jointly invested USD 3Mn to acquire

and offers equal career opportunities, regardless of sex,

33.33% each, of Bodufaru Beach Resort Private Limited in

race or religion and considers the relationship with the

Maldives to develop a resort hotel. Bodufaru Beach Resort

employees to be good. The number of persons employed

Private Limited is a limited liability company incorporated

in the Company as at 31st March 2015 was 04 (31st March

in the Republic of Maldives.

2014 – 04).

Property, Plant And Equipment

The Group promotes a culture of teamwork, integrity and

Information relating to the movement in Property, Plant and

dedication and remuneration is linked to performance

Equipment is given in Note 16 of this Financial Statement.

by annual appraisals of both qualitative and quantitative

Stated Capital

performance of all employees.

The Stated Capital of the Company as at the date

Statutory Payments

of this Report is Rs.7,705,000,000/- which consists

The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge,

3,720,000,000 ordinary shares.

all taxes, duties and levies payable by the Company and

Reserves

its Group Companies, all contributions, levies and taxes
payable on behalf of, and in respect of the employees of

The total reserves at 31st March 2015 amounts to Rs 6,024

the Company and its Group Companies and all other known

Mn as compared with Rs. 5,241 Mn in the previous year.

statutory dues as were due and payable by the Company

Taxation
A sum of Rs. 16.8 Mn has been provided for Group taxation
as compared to Rs. 14.3 Mn in the previous year.

Share Holdings/Share Information
The market value of an ordinary share of the Company as
at 31st March 2015 was Rs. 1.60 (31st March 2014 was Rs.
2.30) The number of shareholders as at 31st March 2015
was 10,111(31st March 2014 – 10,075 shareholders )
An analysis of shareholders based on shares held, the
distribution of ownership is provided on pages 43 to 44.
The information in respect of earnings, dividends, net
assets per share is given on page 148.

Shareholders
It is a Group policy to treat its shareholders equitably
and maximize shareholder wealth. Quarterly returns of
financial results with any developments or changes would be
circulated to the shareholders on a timely basis.

Events Occuring After The Reporting Date
Subsequent to the reporting date, no circumstances have
arisen which would require adjustments to or disclosure in
the financial statements.

and Group Companies as at the statement of financial
position date have been paid or, where relevant provided for.

Environmental Protection
It is the Group’s policy to keep adverse effect on the
environment to a minimum and to promote co-operation
and compliance with the relevant authorities and
regulations.

Corporate Governance & Internal Control
The information called for by this item with respect to
the practice followed by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance statement on pages 16 to 33.

Going Concern
As in the statement of Directors’ Responsibilities given on
page 42. The Directors have adopted the going concern
basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

Annual Report 2014/2015

Profit And Appropriations
Group
2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Profit/(loss) attributable to
Equity holders

(11,650)

49,085

Other comprehensive income

(39,488)

(10,293)

Retained profit brought
forward from previous year

5,186,863

5,097,667

5,135,725

5,136,459

-

130,588

On disposal of subsidiary
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Shanker Somasunderam

- Non-Executive Director

Kapila Jayawardena

- Non-Executive Director

Kalsha Amarasinghe

- Non-Executive Director

Kamantha Amarasekera

- Non-Executive Director

Stefan Furkhan

- Non-Executive Director

Rajah Nanayakkara

- Non-Executive Director

Ruwan Sugathadasa

- Non-Executive Director

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

- Independent Non-

		 Executive Director
Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan

- Independent Non-

Acquisition of non-controlling

		 Executive Director

interest without change

		 (Appointed w.e.f 29th

control

212,531

-

5,890

-

Adjustment due to changes in
group holdings
Cost of equity transaction
Realized revaluation on
disposals

Directors’ Meetings
(27,992)

(385)

36,922

10,299

Other movements in net
223,750

(89,266)

Dividend Paid
Retained Profit carried
forward

The Directors conduct Board Meetings on a quarterly
basis. Board decisions are resolved at meetings and by way
of resolution which are circulated among the Directors,
approved and signed by all the Directors and tabled at the
Board Meetings. The Minutes of the Board Meetings and

assets in equity accounted
investees

		 September 2014)

(832)
5,586,826

5,186,863

the Agenda for the next meeting are circulated to all the
Directors in advance.

Resignation Of Director
Rimoe Saldin, Managing Director/CEO resigned from the
Board of Directors with effect from 14th November 2014.

Company

Profit/(Loss) for the year

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

(228,551)

(107,927)

Retained Profit brought
forward from previous year
Cost of Share issue

1,235,622

1,343,549

(15,810)

-

Retained Profit carried
forward

991,261

1,235,622

Re-Election Of Directors
In accordance with Article 23(6) of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Ishara Nanayakkara, Executive
Director/Chairman retires by rotation and being eligible
offers himself for re-election.
In accordance with Article 23(6) of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Kapila Jayawardena, NonExecutive Director retires by rotation and being eligible
offers himself for re-election.

Directorate
The Directors of the Company during the year under review
are as follows:

In accordance with Article 23(6) of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Kalsha Amarasinghe Non-

Ishara Nanayakkara

- Executive Chairman

Rimoe Saldin

- Managing Director/

Executive Director, retires by rotation and being eligible
offers herself for re-election.

		CEO

In accordance with Section 210 of the Companies Act No.

		 (Resigned 		

7 of 2007 Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan, Independent Non-

		w.e.f.14.11.2014)

Executive Director retires and offers himself for re-election.
Special Notice has been received pursuant to Sections
145 and 211 of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 of the
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intention to propose ordinary resolution for such re-election

The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary

notwithstanding the age limit of 70 years stipulated by

course of business with entities in which a Director of the

Section 210 of the said Companies Act for a period of one

Company is a Director. The transactions with entities where

year or until the conclusion of the next Annual General

a Director of the Company either has control or exercises

Meeting which ever occurs first.

significant influence have been classified as related party
transactions and disclosed in Note 46 to the Financial

In accordance with Section 210 of the Companies Act No.

Statements

7 of 2007 Rajah Nanayakkara, Non-Executive Director
retires and offers himself for re-election. Special Notice

The Directors have no direct or indirect interest in any other

has been received pursuant to Sections 145 and 211 of the

contract or proposed contract with the Company.

Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 of the intention to propose
ordinary resolution for such re-election notwithstanding

Directors’ Shareholdings

the age limit of 70 years stipulated by Section 210 of the

The Directors interests in shares as at 31st March 2015 and

said Companies Act for a period of one year or until the

31st March 2014 were as follows:

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting which ever
occurs first.

As at

As at

31 March

31 March

2015

2014

20,000,000

40,000,000

1,108,000

554,000

50,000,000

50,000,000

st

Board Committees
The Board has established the following Committees for

Ishara Nanayakkara

better monitoring and guidance of different aspects of

Rimoe Saldin

operations and control.

(Resigned on 14 November

st

th

2014)

Audit Committee

Shanker Somasunderam

Kamantha Amarasekera - Non-Executive Director - Chairman

Kapila Jayawardena

Nil

Nil

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

Kalsha Amarasinghe

Nil

Nil

- Independent Non-Executive

		Director

Kamantha Amarasekera

Nil

Nil

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan - Independent Non-Executive

Stefan Furkhan

Nil

Nil

		Director

Ruwan Sugathadasa

4,000,000

2,000,000

Margin Trading

The report of the Audit Committee is given on page 34.

Remuneration Committee
Kamantha Amarasekera - Chairman/Non-Executive Director
		 (Appointed as Chairman on 19

Rajah Nanayakkara

Nil

N

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

Nil

Nil

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan

Nil

Nil

th

		 February 2015)
Kalsha Amarasinghe

- Non-Executive Director

Kapila Jayawardena

- Non-Executive Director

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

- Independent Non-Executive 		

		Director
The report of the Remuneration committee is given on
page 35.

Interest Register
The Directors have made the declarations required by the
Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. These have been entered
into the Interest Register which is maintained by the
Company.

Remuneration Of Directors
The remuneration of the Directors are disclosed in Note
46.5.

List Of Major Shareholders
The list of 20 major shareholders and the percentage held
by each as at 3lst March 2015 and as at 31st March 2014 is
given on page 44 of the Financial Statements.

Parent, Subsidiary, Sub-subsidiary And Associate
And Its Directors
The Directors of parent, subsidiary, sub-subsidiary and
associate companies as at date are given on pages 149 to
151 of the Financial Statements.
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Auditors’ Report

The fees paid to auditors are disclosed in Note 11 to the

The Auditors of the Company Messrs KPMG, Chartered

financial statements. As far as the Directors are aware, the

Accountants have carried out the audit of the Consolidated

Auditors do not have any relationship (other than that of an

Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31st March

Auditor) with the Company or any of its subsidiaries other

2015 and their Report on the Financial Statements appear

than those disclosed above. The Auditors also do not have

on page 45 of this Annual Report.

any interest in the Company or any of its group Companies.

Accounting Policies

For and on behalf of the Board:

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the
financial statements are given on pages 54 to 78 There
were no changes in the accounting policies adopted in the
previous year.

Ishara Nanayakkara
Executive Chairman

Annual Report
The Board of Directors approved the financial statements
on 15th June 2015. The appropriate number of copies of
this report will be submitted to Colombo Stock Exchange
and to the Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards

Kamantha Amarasekera
Director

Monitoring Board on or before 31st August 2015

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at Park Premier,
Excel World, No, 338, T.B. Jayah Mawatha, Colombo 10 on
Thirtieth day of September 2015 at 10.30 am. The Notice
of the Annual General Meeting is given on page 156.

Auditors
In accordance with Section 154 (1) of the Companies Act
No. 7 of 2007 a resolution proposing the reappointment
of Messrs. KPMG, Chartered Accountants as Auditors of
the Company for the ensuing year will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.
In terms of Section 155 (a) of the Companies Act No. 7
of 2007 a resolution authorizing the Directors to fix the
remuneration of the Auditors Messrs. KPMG, Chartered
Accountants for the ensuing year will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

S.F.L. SERVICES (PVT) LTD
Secretaries
Colombo 15th June 2015
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility

The responsibility of the Directors in relation to the

Further, the Directors have a responsibility to ensure that

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2015

the Company maintains sufficient accounting records to

which have been prepared and presented in conformity with

disclose, with reasonable accuracy the financial position of

the requirements of the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards,

the Company, and to ensure that the financial statements

the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and the

presented comply with the requirements of the Companies

Companies Act No.7 of 2007, is set out in the following

Act.

statement.
The Directors are also responsible for taking reasonable
The responsibility of the Auditors in relation to the Financial

steps to safeguard the Assets of the Company and in this

Statements is set out in the Report of the Auditors on page

regard to give proper consideration to the establishment

45 of the Report. As per the provisions of the Companies

of appropriate internal control systems with a view to

Act No. 7 of 2007, the Directors are required to prepare

preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

financial statements, for each financial year and place
before a general meeting which comprise:

The Directors are required to prepare the Financial
Statements and to provide the Auditors with every

1. An Income Statement, which presents a true and fair

opportunity to take whatever steps and undertake whatever

view of the profit and loss of the Company and its

inspections they may consider to be appropriate to enable

subsidiaries for the financial year;

them to give their Audit Opinion.

2. A Statement of changes in Equity which presents a true
and fair view of the changes in the Company’s and its

The Directors are of the view that they have discharged their
responsibilities as set out in this statement.

Subsidiaries’ retained earnings for the financial year;

Compliance Report
3. A Statement of Cash Flow which presents a true and fair

The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge,

view of the flow of cash in and out of the business for

all taxes, duties and levies payable by the Company and its

the financial year; and a Statement of Financial Position,

subsidiaries, all contributions levies and taxes payable on

which presents a true and fair view of the state of affairs

behalf of and in respect of the employees of the Company

of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the

and its subsidiaries, and all other known statutory dues as

financial year.

were due and payable by the Company and its subsidiaries
as at the reporting date have been paid or, where relevant

The Directors are of the view that, in preparing these

provided for.

Financial Statements:
The Board of Directors confirms that the Company, based
1. The appropriate accounting policies have been selected

on the information available, satisfies the Solvency test as

and applied in a consistent manner. Material deviations,

and when required according to the Section 56(2) of the

if any have been disclosed and explained;

Companies Act No 07 of 2007.

2. All applicable Accounting Standards, as relevant, have

By order of the Board

been followed.
3. Judgements and estimates have been made which are
reasonable and prudent.
Ishara Nanayakkara
The Directors are also of the view that the Company has

Executive Chairman

adequate resources to continue in operation and have
applied the going concern basis in preparing these Financial
Statements.

15th June 2015

Annual Report 2014/2015

43

Share Information
Share Analysis As at 31st March 2015								
Resident
No. of

Non Resident

No.of shares

(%)

shareholders

No. of

No.of shares

Total
(%)

shareholders

1 to 1,000 shares

3,512

2,719,934

0.07

7

1001 to 10,000 shares

5,098

15,366,779

0.41

10,001 to 100,000 shares

1,085

37,551,093

1.01

305

98,939,779

No. of

No.of shares

(%)

shareholders
3,423

0.00

3,519

2,723,357

0.07

6

27,600

0.00

5,104

15,394,379

0.41

6

293,300

0.01

1,091

37,844,393

1.02

2.66

9

2,556,645

0.07

314

101,496,424

2.73

76 3,529,577,383

94.88

7

32,964,064

0.89

83 3,562,541,447

95.77

10,076 3,684,154,968

99.03

35

35,845,032

0.97

10,111 3,720,000,000

100

100,001 to 1,000,000
shares
over 1,000,000 shares
TOTAL

Categories of Shareholders
No. of

No.of shares

%

584,586,070

15.71

165 3,135,413,930

84.29

3,720,000,000

100

shareholders
Individual
Institutional

9,946

Total
Public Holding

843,422,375

Public Holding as a
percentage

22,67%

Number of shareholders
representing the public
holding
Share Price Information

High

10,100

-

As at

As at

31/03/2015

31/03/2014

  (Rs.)

  (Rs.)

2.50

2.60

Low

1.30

2.20

Close

1.60

2.20
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List of 20 Major Shareholders
Name of shareholder

31.03.2015

% Name of shareholder

No.of shares
Brown & Company PLC A/c No. 1

1,429,334,825

31.03.2014

%

No.of shares
38.42 Brown & Company PLC A/C No. 1

692,337,413

37.22

Lanka Century Investments PLC

744,000,000

20.00 Environmental Resources Investments PLC

372,000,000

20.00

LOLC Investments Ltd.

509,855,000

13.71 LOLC Investments Ltd.

244,927,500

13.17

Commercial Trust Technologies (Pvt)Ltd

171,187,385

4.60 National Savings Bank

93,606,200

5.03

Dr. Ruwanpura Rohitha De Silva

111,592,639

3.00 Seylan Bank PLC/Arrc Capital (Pvt) Ltd

87,436,000

4.70

National Savings Bank

93,606,200

2.52 Shanker Varadananda Somasunderam

50,000,000

2.69

Jayaweera Muhandiramge Sumeda Rohini

81,155,864

2.18 Seylan Bank Limited/Brown & Company

24,688,800

1.33

20,000,000

1.08

PLC
Shanker Varadananda Somasunderam

50,000,000

1.34 Ceylinco Insurance PLC A/C No 2 (General
Fund)

Seylan Bank Limited/Brown & Company

49,377,600

1.33 Ishara Chinthaka Nanayakkara

20,000,000

1.08

Ishara Chinthaka Nanayakkara

40,000,000

1.08 Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC

14,344,100

0.77

Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC

28,688,200

0.77 Finco Holdings (Private) Limited

12,800,416

0.69

Ceylinco Insurance PLC A/C No.2(General

20,000,000

0.54 Bhagwan Wassiamal Kundanmal

8,708,100

0.47

Bhagwan Wassiamal Kundanmal

17,416,200

0.47 Hamish Winston Mcdonald Woodward

7,968,161

0.43

Pubudhu Saranga Wijayakumari

12,522,000

0.34 Dr. Ruwanpura Rohitha De Silva

7,334,614

0.39

10,711,459

0.29 Pubudhu Saranga Wijayakumari

6,261,000

0.34

PLC

Fund)

Rupasinghe
Finco Holdings (Private) Limited

Rupasinghe
David Kotthoff

8,218,587

0.22 Nithiabala Balasingam

5,194,900

0.28

Hamish Winston Mcdonald Woodward

7,968,161

0.21 Lalith Prabash Hapangama

5,000,000

0.27

Lexinton Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

6,984,600

0.19 Nadarajah Murali Prakash

5,000,000

0.27

Waldock Mackenzie Ltd/

6,800,000

0.18 Hiran Arjuna Surendra Madanayake

5,000,000

0.27

A.C. Jayasinghe
Associated Electrical Corporation Ltd
Total

6,400,000
3,405,818,720

0.17 Prime Lands (Pvt) Ltd
91.56

4,890,000

0.26

1,687,497,204

90.73
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Independent Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BROWNS
INVESTMENTS PLC
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of Browns Investments PLC, (“the Company”), and the
consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (“Group”), which comprise the statement
of financial position as at March 31, 2015, and the
income statement, statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information set out on pages 46 to 144 of the annual report.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible for the
preparation of these financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards,
and for such internal control as Board determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by Board, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
March 31, 2015, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07
of 2007, we state the following:
a) The basis of opinion and scope and limitations of the
audit are as stated above
b) In our opinion:
-

we have obtained all the information and explanations
that were required for the audit and, as far as appears
from our examination, proper accounting records have
been kept by the Company,

-

The financial statements of the Company give a true and
fair view of its financial position as at March 31, 2015,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards.

-

The financial statements of the Company, and the Group
comply with the requirements of sections 151 and 153 of
the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Colombo
June 15, 2015
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Income Statement

Group

Company

2015

For the year ended 31st March
Notes

Rs.000

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

42,826

108,599

(Restated)
Revenue/Income

4

Cost of sales

5

-

-

Gross profit

6

1,018,501

359,633

42,826

108,599

Other income

7

100,393

44,041

69,114

51,571

-

-

-

-

Distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses

Net change in fair value of investment properties

1,126,643

(797,208)

(767,010)

(104,285)

(52,552)

(1,081,095)

(283,910)

(73,852)

(30,135)

8

(71,922)

(100,279)

(36,391)

(155,443)

9

(646,285)

(242,738)

(13,223)

(33,371)

34,777

63,000

(9,344)

-

-

-

-

Interest income
Finance costs

1,815,709

35,859
17

37,900

62,298
(327,199)

50,500
(196,019)

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees
(Net of tax)

22

(99,218)

Gain on bargain purchases

10

621,335

Profit/(loss) before tax

11

(239,940)

Income tax expense

12

Profit/(loss) for the year

6,410

319,975
39,355
(18,192)

(228,427)
(124)

(107,927)
-

(233,530)

21,163

(228,551)

(107,927)

(11,650)

49,085

(228,551)

(107,927)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(221,880)

(27,922)

Profit/(loss) for the year

(233,530)

21,163

(228,551)

(107,927)

(0.003)

0.02

(0.08)

(0.05)

Basic/diluted earnings/(loss) per share (Rs.)

13

The notes on pages 54 to 144 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

-

-

Annual Report 2014/2015

47

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Group
2015

For the year ended 31st March
Notes

Rs.000

Company
2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(Restated)
Profit/(loss) for the year

(233,530)

21,163

168,733

25,000

(228,551)

(107,927)

Other comprehensive income
Item that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of Property, plant and equipment

16

1,197

25,000

(156)

-

-

(190,896)

114,594

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit
obligations

36

(1,902)

Item that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets

115,615

(190,896)

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets reclassified to income statements

130,973

72,146

130,973

75,838

104,261

-

-

Share of other comprehensive income of equity
accounted investees (net of tax)

22

(35,085)

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)

378,334

10,355

246,764

(90,058)

Total comprehensive income for the year

144,804

31,518

18,213

(197,985)

366,653

59,440

18,213

(197,985)

(221,849)

(27,922)

144,804

31,518

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 54 to 144 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

18,213

(197,985)
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Statement of Financial Position

Group
As at 31st March

Notes

2015

Company

2014
(Restated)

2013

2015

2014

(Restated)

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Leasehold property

15

684,454

-

-

-

-

Property, plant and equipment

16

13,780,840

10,090,004

2,223,032

355,019

400,452

Investment property

17

5,383,130

4,382,999

3,853,000

842,734

761,000

Intangible assets and goodwill

18

1,379,157

1,282,726

47,023

187

688

Bearer biological assets

19

5,803,326

-

-

-

-

Consumer biological assets

20

6,383,655

-

-

-

-

Investment in subsidiaries

21

-

-

-

7,058,389

5,427,227

investees

22

1,008,699

2,209,418

2,640,679

593,231

643,231

Other financial assets

23

894,641

1,037,772

988,656

825,265

1,024,333

Deferred tax assets

24

222,731

-

-

-

-

Loans to related parties

27

Investments in equity accounted

56,837

50,727

-

56,837

50,727

35,597,470

19,053,646

9,752,390

9,731,662

8,307,658
-

Current Assets
Inventories

25

630,084

81,575

278,802

-

Trade and other receivables

26

1,864,096

683,255

367,635

222,909

37,784

Loans to related parties

27

32,382

83,223

445,263

588,062

291,027

Amounts due from related parties

28

185,055

404,507

414,926

1,707,855

1,499,903

Income tax recoverable

29

21,031

7,444

228

-

-

Other financial assets

30

800,485

897,622

1,415,365

303,348

793,767

Cash and cash equivalents

31

Total Assets

692,357

156,673

8,642

4,713

8,901

4,225,490

2,314,299

2,930,861

2,826,887

2,631,382

39,822,960

21,367,945

12,683,251

12,558,549

10,939,040
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As at 31st March

Notes

2015

Group
2014
(Restated)

2013
(Restated)

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

7,705,000
438,120
5,586,826

5,380,000
55,885
5,186,863

5,380,000
176,064
5,097,667

13,729,946

10,622,748

10,935,179
24,665,125

3,604,330
335,278
2,129,650
1,127,073
461,405
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Company
2015
Rs.000

2014
Rs.000

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Stated capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity

32
33

holders of the company
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Non Current Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred income

34
35
36
37
38

Loans from related parties

39

7,705,000
(56,074)
991,261

5,380,000
(302,838)
1,235,622

10,653,731

8,640,187

6,312,784

2,729,208
13,351,956

70,170
10,723,901

8,640,187

6,312,784

1,584,133
3,289
33,256
247,360
-

1,015,768
32,248
45,253
-

1,389,327
-

701,075
-

-

39,539

50,000

-

-

7,657,736

1,907,577

1,143,269

1,389,327

701,075

Current liabilities
Trade and other payable
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Loans from related parties
Amounts due to related parties
Income tax payable
Other short term interest bearing

40
34
35
41
42
43

1,505,117
3,010,591
22,361
1,785,270
560,058
57,122

383,448
4,339,366
2,088
688,355
590,968
68,571

256,891
245,637
50,000
142,750
29,943

22,008
1,654,357
816,465
12,882
23,323

15,814
3,699,999
111,333
74,836
23,199

liabilities
Bank overdraft

44
31

340,913
218,667
7,500,099
39,822,960

35,616
6,108,412
21,367,945

4,354
86,506
816,081
12,683,251

2,529,035
12,558,549

3,925,181
10,939,040

45

3.69

5.71

5.73

2.32

3.39

Total Equity and Liabilities
Net assets per ordinary share (Rs.)

The notes on pages 54 to 144 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.
I certify that these financial statements have been prepared and are presented in compliance with the requirements of the
Companies Act, No. 07 of 2007.

Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Chief Financial Officer, LOLC Group
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements.
Signed for and on behalf of the Board

Ishara Nanayakkara
Kamantha Amarasekera
Executive Chairman 						Director
15th June 2015
Colombo
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Stated Revaluation Available for
Retained
capital
reserve sale reserve
earnings
Group

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Balance as at 1st April 2013-(Restated)

5,380,000

525,906

(349,842)

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

-

141,309
141,309

(120,661)
(120,661)

Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions
Preference dividend
Total Contributions and distributions

-

-

Changes in ownership interests
On disposal of subsidiary
On acquisition of subsidiary
Total Changes in ownership interests
Total Transactions with owners of the
Company
Other movements in equity
Deferred tax impact
Cost of share issue
Realized revaluation on disposals
Other movements in net assets in equity
accounted investees
Total other movements in equity
Balance as at 31st March 2014
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners of the
Company
Contributions and distributions
Issue of ordinary shares
Dividend to non-controlling interest by
subsidiaries
Total Contributions and distributions
Changes in ownership interests
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
without change control
On acquisition of subsidiary
Share issue by subsidiaries to noncontrolling interest
Total Changes in ownership interests
Total Transactions with owners of the
Company
Other movements in equity
Realized revaluation on disposals
Cost of share issue
Other movements in net assets in equity
accounted investees
Total other movements in equity
Balance as at 31st March 2015

-

Rs.000

49,085
(10,293)
38,792

(832)
(832)

(130,588)
(130,588)

-

130,588
130,588

-

(130,588)

-

129,756

-

220
(10,299)

-

5,380,000

-

(160)

Rs.000

5,097,667 10,653,731

-

-

Total

49,085
10,355
59,440

(832)
(832)
-

Noncontrolling
interest
Rs.000

Total
equity
Rs.000

70,170 10,723,901
(27,922)
(27,922)

832
832

21,163
10,355
31,518

-

(89,674)
2,775,553
2,685,879

(89,674)
2,775,553
2,685,879

(832)

2,686,711

2,685,879

(385)
10,299

220
(385)
-

249
-

469
(385)
-

(89,266)

(89,426)

-

(89,426)

(10,079)
526,548

(160)
(470,663)

-

168,846
168,846

248,946
248,946

2,325,000

-

-

-

2,325,000

2,325,000

-

-

-

2,325,000

(15,446)
(15,446)

-

-

-

218,421
-

218,421
-

(206,523)
8,568,305

11,898
8,568,305

-

-

-

218,421

218,421

82,621
8,444,403

82,621
8,662,824

2,325,000

-

-

218,421

2,543,421

-

36,922
(27,992)

-

(36,922)
-

7,705,000

1,901
(35,021)
660,373

(536)
(536)
(222,253)

(79,352)
(89,591)
5,186,863 10,622,748
(11,650)
(39,488)
(51,138)

(11,650)
378,304
366,654

(27,992)

249
(89,342)
2,729,208 13,351,956
(221,880)
30
(221,850)

-

(233,530)
378,334
144,804

2,325,000
(15,446)
2,309,554

8,428,957 10,972,378
(1,136)

(29,128)

223,750
225,115
225,115
232,680
197,123
(1,136)
195,987
5,586,826 13,729,946 10,935,179 24,665,125
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Stated Revaluation
capital

reserve

Available

Retained

Total

for

earnings

equity

Rs.000

Rs.000

(349,680) 1,343,549

6,510,769

sale
reserve
Company
Balance as at 1st April 2013

Rs.000

Rs.000

5,380,000

136,900

Rs.000

Total comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) for the year

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

25,000

Total comprehensive income for the year

(115,058)

(107,927)

(107,927)
(90,058)

-

25,000

5,380,000

161,900

Profit/(loss) for the year

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

1,197

245,567

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

1,197

245,567

Issue of ordinary shares

2,325,000

-

-

-

2,325,000

Total Contributions and distributions

2,325,000

-

-

-

2,325,000

Total Transactions with owners of the Company

2,325,000

-

-

-

2,325,000

Cost of share issue

-

-

-

(15,810)

(15,810)

Total other movements in equity

-

-

-

(15,810)

(15,810)

7,705,000

163,097

Balance as at 31st March 2014

(115,058)

(107,927)

(464,738) 1,235,622

(197,985)
6,312,784

Total comprehensive income
(228,551)
(228,551)

(228,551)
246,764
18,213

Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions

Other movements in equity

Balance as at 31 March 2015
st

The notes on pages 54 to 144 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

(219,171)

991,261

8,640,187
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Cash Flow Statement

Group
For the year ended 31st March

2015
Rs.000

Company
2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before taxation

(239,940)

39,355

(228,427)

(107,927)

(34,777)

(63,000)

Adjustments for :
-

Net change in fair value of investment properties

13,223

33,371

-

(Profit)/loss on disposal of other financial assets

(2,216)

(7,033)

-

Provision for retirement benefit obligations

6,279

6,608

-

Gain on disposal of subsidiary

-

Depreciation/amortization

-

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees

-

(34,048)

6,612
-

(78)
(46,700)

230,723

137,648

2,997

2,081

(Net of tax)

99,218

9,344

-

-

-

Impairment of goodwill

25,289

-

-

-

Loss on disposal of Investment property

5,411

-

5,411

-

-

Finance cost

646,285

242,738

327,199

196,019

-

Interest income

(35,859)

(37,900)

(62,298)

(50,500)

-

Change in fair value of financial assets classified as fair
13,148

-

Gain on bargain purchases

-

(Gain)/loss from disposal of property, plant and

value through profit or loss

equipment
-

21,987

12,741

(621,335)

21,987

(319,975)

-

-

(3,085)

(348)

-

-

-

75,838

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets reclassified to profit or loss

-

72,146

-

Loss on disposal of intangible assets

1,507

-

-

-

-

Write-off of loan given to related parties

6,315

-

6,315

66,187

-

Impairment of inventories

-

Dividend income from associate companies

Operating profit before working capital changes

8,408

-

-

-

19,000

52,607

-

-

181,210

207,661

45,019

84,661

Working capital changes
-

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

-

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

-

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related parties

-

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

-

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related parties

Cash generated from/(used In) operations
-

Retirement benefit obligations paid

-

Interest paid

-

Income tax/ESC/SRL paid

Net cash generated from/(used In) operating activities

(1,690)
(473,992)
356,173
91,103
(1,077,093)
(924,289)

12,821

-

-

(69,985)

(174,301)

(16,336)

257,956

(207,952)

(385,376)

36,442
(303,840)
141,055

(2,321)

(3,756)

(647,557)

(242,738)

(52,055)

(6,297)

(1,626,222)

(111,736)

6,194
(61,954)
(392,994)
(327,199)
(720,193)

13,962
64
(303,025)
(192,162)
(495,187)
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Company

2015
Rs.000

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of subsidiary
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Investments in intangible assets
Investments in equity accounted investees
Acquisition of leasehold property
Proceeds from long term investments

(892,890)

320,605
(3,224,318)

(1,888)

-

-

(565,447)

(197,922)
342,371

20,000
(1,608,537)
-

300,000
(3,356,500)
(565,447)

-

-

-

13,237

342,371

-

Acquisition and construction of property, plant and
equipment
Bearer biological assets

(847,403)

Consumer biological assets

(3,518)

Interest income received

35,859

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

16,463

Investments in long term investments
Receipts from withdrawal of short term investments
Share buyback
Net cash proceeds from loans to related parties
Net cash generated/(used) in investment activities

(822,292)

(5,319)

-

(334,215)
-

-

-

-

62,154

20,862

(200,000)

559,391

479,241

-

435,000

44,731

311,313

(950,125)

-

37,900
3,146

-

(19,052)

(3,211,615)

-

(200,000)

571,598

508,778

-

435,000

(303,146)
(934,612)

156,833
(3,034,689)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of finance lease liabilities
Receipt from right issue

(3,556)

-

-

-

2,325,000

-

2,325,000

-

82,621

-

-

-

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares to non-controlling
interest

(29,128)

(385)

(15,810)

Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Cost of issue of ordinary shares

(5,572,067)

(1,147,342)

(5,530,985)

(1,052,814)

Proceeds from Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

5,090,495

4,563,059

4,173,595

4,507,888

Net proceeds on loans from related parties

1,051,061

106,940

698,817

107,476

-

-

-

2,928,980

3,522,272

1,650,617

3,562,550

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

352,633

198,921

(4,188)

32,674

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

121,057

(77,864)

8,901

(23,773)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

473,690

121,057

4,713

8,901

692,357

156,673

4,713

8,901

-

-

4,713

8,901

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities

(15,446)

-

Note A : Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Cash in hand and at banks
Bank overdrafts

(218,667)
473,690

The notes on pages 54 to 144 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

(35,616)
121,057
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1.
1.1.

Corporate Information
Reporting entity – domicile and legal form

comprise the Statement of Financial Position,

Browns Investments PLC, (“the Company”) is

Income, Statement of Changes in Equity,

a public quoted company incorporated on 10th

Statement of Cash Flows and Notes thereto have

November, 2008 under the Companies Act No.07 of

been prepared in accordance with the Sri Lanka

2007 and domiciled in Sri Lanka.

Accounting Standards (SLFRS and LKASs) effective

Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive

from 1st January 2012, laid down by the Institute
The registered office of the Company is located

of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri

at 481, T.B. Jayah Mawatha, Colombo 10 and the

Lanka) and in compliance with the requirements

business office is located at No. 34, Mohamed

of Companies Act No 7 of 2007 and the Sri Lanka

Macan Markar Mawatha, Colombo 03.

Accounting and Auditing Standards Act No 15 of
1995.

Ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the
Diri Savi Board of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

2.2.

The Board of Directors of the Company is

The staff strength of the Group as at 31st March

responsible for the preparation and fair presentation

2015 is four (2014-four).

1.2.

of these financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements
The financial statements for the year ended 31st

2.3.

Company for the year ended 31st March 2015

to Browns Investments PLC as the holding company

(including comparatives) were authorised for issue

and “the Group” referring to the companies whose

by the Board of Directors on 15th June 2015.

accounts have been consolidated therein.

Principal activities and nature of operations
There were no significant changes in the nature
of the principal activities of the Company and
the Group during the financial year under review.
Principal activities of the Group are described in
detail in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
pages 11 to 15 of the annual report.

1.4.

Immediate and ultimate parent enterprise
PLC which holds 39.75% of issued ordinary shares

Basis of measurement
The financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with the historical cost
basis, except for the following material items in the
statement of financial position.
• Financial instruments at fair value through profit

• Consumable biological (timber stocks) assets are
measured at fair value less cost to sell
• Bearer biological assets namely rubber and

of Browns Investments PLC. In the opinion of the

coconut are measured at fair value less cost to

Board of Directors, the company’s ultimate parent

sell

undertaking and controlling party as at the date of
financial position was Lanka ORIX Leasing Company
PLC incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka.

• Liability for defined benefit obligations is
recognized as the present value of the defined
benefit obligation plus unrecognized actuarial
gains, less unrecognized past service cost and

Financial period
The financial period of the Company and its Group
represents twelve months period from 01 April
st

2014 to 31st March 2015.

2.
2.1.

2.4.

or loss are measured at fair value

The Company is a subsidiary of Brown & Company

1.5.

Date of authorization for issue
The financial statements of the Group and the

March 2015 comprises of “the Company” referred

1.3.

Responsibility for financial statements

Basis of Preparation
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the financial statements of the Company which

unrecognized actuarial losses.
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair value
• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

• Land and buildings are measured at the revalued

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting

amounts

estimates are recognized in the period in which the

• Investment properties are measured at fair value

2.5.

estimates are revised, if the revision affects only that
period and any future periods.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Sri Lankan

The most significant areas of estimation, uncertainty

Rupees, which is the Group’s functional currency. All

and critical judgements in applying accounting

financial information presented in rupees has been

policies that have most significant effect on the

rounded to the nearest thousand.

2.6.

in its statement of financial position are grouped
by nature and listed in an order that reflects their
relative liquidity and maturity pattern.

2.7.

amounts recognized in the financial statements of
the Group are in the following notes:

Presentation of financial statements
The assets and liabilities of the Group presented

Critical accounting estimate/
judgement

Disclosure reference
Note

Page

19

93

20

99

17

89

52

134

16

87

18

90

Bearer biological assets –
rubber & coconut

Materiality and aggregation

Consumable biological assets

Each material class of similar items are presented

– timber

separately in the financial statements. Items

Determination in fair value of

of dissimilar nature or function are presented

investment properties

separately unless they are immaterial as permitted

Financial instruments - fair

by the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard-LKAS 1 on

value disclosure

‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

Revaluation of lands and
buildings

2.8.

55

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset

Goodwill on business

and the net amount reported in the statement

combination

of financial position, only when there is a legally

Gain on bargain purchase on

enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts

business combination

10

80

and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,

Retirement benefit obligation

36

113

or to realize the assets and settle the liability

Deferred taxation

37

114

simultaneously. Income and expenses are not

Leasehold right to bare land

15

82

offset in the Income statement unless required

Useful lives of property, plant

or permitted by any accounting standard or

and equipment

3.3.3

62

interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the

Useful lives of intangible

accounting policies.

assets

3.3.4

65

Significant accounting judgements, estimates
and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements of the
Group and the Company in conformity with SLFRSs
requires the management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Hence, actual experience and results may differ from
these judgements and assumptions.

2.9.

Comparative Information
The accounting policies have been consistently
applied by the Group and the Company with those of
the previous financial year in accordance with LKAS
01 presentation of financial statements, except those
which had to be changed as a result of application
of the new Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS/
LKAS) explained in Note 54. Furthermore, the
comparative year’s information and phrases have
been re-arranged, reclassified whenever necessary, to
comply with the current year’s presentation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.10. Going concern

2.11.2. Disburse of interests in other entities – SLFRS 12

The Directors have made an assessment of the

SLFRS 12 sets out the requirement for disclosures

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and

relating to an entities interests in subsidiaries, joint

being satisfied that it has the resources to continue

arrangement, associates and structured entities.

in business for the foreseeable future and confirm
that they do not intend to either liquidate or cease

When making this arrangement, the Group considers

operations of any business unit of the Group other

the structure of the arrangement, the legal form of

than those disclosed in the notes to the financial

any separate vehicles, the contractual terms of the

statements.

arrangements and other facts and circumstances.
Previously, the structure of the arrangement was the

2.11. Changes in accounting policies

sole focus of classification.

Except for the changes below, the Group has
consistently applied the accounting policies as

2.11.3. Fair value measurement

set out in Note 3 to all periods presented in these

In accordance with the transitional provisions of

consolidated financial statements.

SLFRS 13, the Group has applied the new definition
of fair value, as set out in Note 3.11 prospectively.

The Group has adopted the following new standards

The change had no significant impact on the

and amendments to standards, including any

measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities,

consequential amendments to other standards, with

but the Group has included new disclosures in the

a date of initial application of 1 January 2014.

financial statements, which are required under

st

SLFRS 13.
1. SLFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
2. SLFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

These new disclosure requirements are not included
in the comparative information. However, to the

3. SLFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

extent that disclosures were required by other

4. Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive

standards before the effective date of SLFRS 13,

Income (Amendments to LKAS 1)
5. SLFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
The nature and the effects of the changes are

the Group has provided the relevant comparative
disclosures under those standards.
2.11.4. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
As a result of the amendments to SLFRS 7, the

explained below

Group has expanded disclosures about offsetting
2.11.1. Consolidated Financial Statements – SLFRS10

financial assets and financial liabilities.

As a result of SLFRS 10, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for determining whether

2.11.5. Presentation of Financial Statements

it has control over and consequently whether it

As a result of the amendments to LKAS 1, the Group

consolidates other entities. SLFRS 10 introduces

has modified the presentation of items of other

a new control model that focuses on whether the

comprehensive income in its income statement and

Group has power over an investee, exposure or rights

OCI, to present items that would be reclassified to

to variable returns from its involvement with the

income statement in the future separately from those

investee and the ability to use its power to affect

that would never be. Comparative information has

those returns.

been represented on the same basis.

In accordance with the transitional provisions

2.11.6. SLFRS 11 – Joint Arrangement

of SLFRS 10, the Group reassessed its control

With the adoption of SLFRS 11 in Sri Lanka, the

conclusions as of 1 April 2014. The change did not

Group changed its accounting policies for its

have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

interests in joint arrangements under SLFRS 11. The

st

Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either joint operations or joint ventures depending on
the Group’s rights to the assets and obligations for
the liabilities of the arrangements.

Annual Report 2014/2015

2.12. New and amended standards issued but not
effective as at reporting date
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c)  SLFRS 14 - Regulatory Deferral
Accounts effective for announced periods beginning

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka

on or after 1st January 2018.

has issued the following standards which become
effective for annual periods beginning after the

d)  SLFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with

current financial year. Accordingly these standards

customers

have not been applied in preparing these financial

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

statements. The Group is currently in the process

January 2018.

of evaluating the potential effect of adoption of
these standards and amendments on its financial

e)  Amendment to LKAS 16 and LKAS 41

statements.

Agricultural Bearer, Biological Plants - effective for

Accounting

Name of the accounting Effective date

standard

standard

SLFRS 9

Financial instruments

1st January 2015

annual periods beginning on or after 1st January
2016.

3.

classification and

The accounting policies set out below have been

measurement
SLFRS 13

Fair value measurement

Summary of significant accounting policies
applied consistently to all periods presented in these

1st January 2015

financial statements of the Group and the Company,
unless otherwise indicated.

Such impact has not been quantified as at the
reporting date. The Group will be adopting these

3.1

standards as and when they become effective.

3.1.1. Business combinations and goodwill

a)  SLFRS 9 - Financial instruments

Basis of consolidation
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which

SLFRS 9, as issued reflects the first phase of work

is the date on which control is transferred to the

on replacement of LKAS 39 and applies to the

Group. Control exists when the Company has the

classification and measurement of financial assets

power, directly or indirectly to govern the financial

and liabilities as defined in LKAS 39. SLFRS 9,

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain

was issued in 2012 and the effective date of this

benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the

standard on or after 1st of January 2018. Pending

Group takes into consideration potential voting rights

the completion of the full study of this standard,

that are currently exercisable.

the financial impact is not yet known and reasonably
estimable.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date,
as:

b)  SLFRS 13 - fair value measurement
SLFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement applies to SLFRSs
that require or permit fair value measurements or
disclosures and provides a single SLFRS framework
for measuring fair value and requires disclosures
about fair value measurement. The Standard defines
fair value on the basis of an ‘exit price’ notion
and uses a ‘fair value hierarchy’, which results
in a market-based, rather than entity-specific,
measurement.

• The fair value of the consideration transferred;
plus
• The recognised amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquisition; plus
• If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the fair value of the pre-existing interest in the
acquisition; less
• The net recognised amount (generally fair value)
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

SLFRS 13, defines fair value, sets out in a single

assumed measured at the acquisition date.

SLFRS a framework for measuring fair value and
requires disclosures about fair value measurements.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with
the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group
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incurs in connection with a business combination are

The interest of the minority shareholders in the net

expensed as incurred.

assets employed of these companies are reflected
under the heading ‘Non–controlling interest’ in the

Any contingent consideration payable is measured

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, then it is not re-

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are

measured and settlement is accounted within equity.

accounted for as transactions with the equity holders

Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of

in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill

the contingent consideration are recognised in the

is recognised as a result of such transactions.

income statement.

Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from
transactions that do not involve the loss of control

The goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is

are based on a proportionate amount of the net

presented as an intangible asset.

assets of the subsidiary.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost,

3.1.3. Subsidiaries

less any accumulated impairment losses. For the

Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in

Group. Control is achieved when the Group is

a business combination is, from the acquisition date,

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating

involvement with the investee and has the ability

units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from the

to affect those returns through its power over the

combination, irrespective of whether other assets

investee. The Group controls an investee if, and only

or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those

if, the Group has:

units.
• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
If the Group’s interest in the net fair value of

give it the current ability to direct the relevant

the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

activities of the investee)

liabilities of the entity acquired exceed the cost of
the acquisition of the entity, the surplus, which is a
gain on bargain purchase is recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement.

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee
• The ability to use its power over the investee to
affect its returns

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cashgenerating unit and part of the operation within that

The Group considers all relevant facts and

unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the

circumstances in assessing whether it has power

operation disposed of is included in the carrying

over an investee which includes: the contractual

amount of the operation when determining the

arrangement with the other vote holders of the

gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill

investee, Rights arising from other contractual

disposed of in this circumstance is measured based

arrangements and the Group’s voting rights and

on the relative values of the operation disposed of

potential voting rights over the investee.

and the portion of the cash generating unit retained.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls
3.1.2. Non-controlling interest

an investee if facts and circumstances indicate

The proportion of the profits or losses after taxation

that there are changes to one or more of the three

applicable to outside shareholders of subsidiary

elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary

companies is included under the heading ‘Non–

begins when the Group obtains control over the

controlling interest’ in the Consolidated Income

subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control

Statement. Losses applicable to the non-controlling

of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and

interests in a subsidiary is allocated to the non-

expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of

controlling interest even if doing so causes the non-

during the year are included in the consolidated

controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

financial statements from the date the Group gains
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control until the date the Group ceases to control the

investees arising since the acquisition date. Goodwill

subsidiary.

relating to the equity-accounted investees is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Entities that are subsidiaries of another entity which

If consideration paid is more than the net asset

is a subsidiary of the company are also treated as

acquired or taken into to income statement as

subsidiaries of the Company.

gain on bargain purchase if the net asset acquired

The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date of acquisition, being the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continues to

is more than the consideration paid. Dividends
declared by the equity-accounted investees are
recognised against the equity value of the Group’s
investment.

be consolidated until the date when such control

The income statement reflects the Group’s

ceases.

share of the results of operations of the equity

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed when necessary to align them with the
policies adopted by the Group.
3.1.4. Loss of control
On the loss of control, the Group immediately
derecognises the assets including goodwill and
liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests and the other components of equity related
to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of control is recognised in income statement.
If the Group retains any interest in the previous
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair
value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently,

accounted investees. When there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the entity,
the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the equityaccounted investees are eliminated to the extent of
the interest in the equity-accounted investees.
The Group’s share of profit or loss of equity
accounted investees is shown on the face of the
income statement and represents profits or loss after
tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries
of the equity-accounted investees.

it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee

Adjustments are made if necessary, to the financial

or as an available–for-sale financial asset depending

statements of the equity accounted investees to

on the level of influence retained. A change in the

bring the accounting policies in line with those of

ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of

the Group. After application of the equity method,

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

the Group determines whether it is necessary to

3.1.5. Equity accounted investees (investments in associates)
Equity accounted investees are those entities in
which the Group has significant influence, but does
not have control, over the financial and operating
policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist
when the Group holds between 20% - 50% of the
voting rights of another entity.
The Group’s investments in its equity accounted
investees are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method Investments in equityaccounted investees are recognised initially at cost.
The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted
at each reporting date to recognise changes in the
Group’s share of net assets of the equity-accounted

recognise an impairment loss on its investment in
its equity accounted investee. The Group determines
at each reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in the equity accounted
investee is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the
equity-accounted investees and its carrying value
and recognises the amount in ‘share of losses of an
equity accounted investee’ in the income statement.
Upon loss of significant influence over the equity
accounted investee, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the
equity accounted investee disposed and the fair
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value of the retaining investment and proceeds from

unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is

disposal is recognised in the income statement.

no evidence of impairment.

3.1.6. Joint agreements

3.2.

Foreign currencies

SLFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, which replaces LKAS

Foreign currency transactions

31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated

Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions

to the respective functional currencies of Group

by Ventures. SLFRS 11 also amends LKAS 28

entities at exchange rates at the dates of the

Investments in Associates.

transactions. All monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency at the reporting

The following are the main changes from LKAS 31:

date are retranslated to the reporting currency
at the exchange rate prevailing at that date. The

The structure of the joint arrangement, although still

foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is

an important consideration, is no longer the main

the difference between the amortised cost in the

factor in determining the type of joint arrangement

functional currency at the beginning of the period,

and therefore the subsequent accounting and if

adjusted for effective interest and payments during

a joint arrangement is determined to be a joint

the period, and the amortised cost in foreign

venture, then the joint venture accounts for its

currency translated at the exchange rate at the end

investment using the equity method in accordance

of the reporting period.

with LKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures; the free choice between using either the

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated

equity method or proportionate consolidation has

in foreign currencies that are measured based on

been eliminated.

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of transaction.

SLFRS 11 was effective for annual periods beginning

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in

on or after 1st January 2014.

foreign currencies that are measured at fair value

The effect of the change in current method of

are retranslated to the reporting currency at the

accounting using proportionate consolidation and

exchange rate that prevailed at the date the fair value

future equity method of accounting is disclosed in

was determined.

note 54 to the Financial Statements.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation
are recognised in the income statement, except for

3.1.7. Reporting date
All the Group’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities

differences arising on the re-translation of available

and equity-accounted investees have the same

for sale equity investments, a financial liability

reporting period as the parent company.

designated as a hedge of the net investment in a
foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow hedges,
which are recognised in other comprehensive income

3.1.8. Intra-group transactions
Pricing policies of all intra-group sales are identical
to those adopted for normal trading transactions,

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a

which are at market prices.

net basis in the income statement.

3.1.9. Transactions eliminated on consolidation

3.3.

Property, plant and equipment

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any

Basis of recognition

unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses

Property, plant and equipment are recognized if it

arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated

is probable that future economic benefits associated

in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

with the asset will flow to the Group and cost of the

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with

asset can be reliably measured.

equity accounted investees are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as

Annual Report 2014/2015

Basis of measurement
Cost
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the
cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a
working condition for their intended use, the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and capitalized
borrowing costs for long-term construction projects
if the recognition criteria are met.
When significant parts of plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
derecognises the replaced part, and recognizes
the new part with its own associated useful
life and depreciation. Likewise, when a major
inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in
the carrying amount of the plant and equipment
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in the income statement as incurred.
The present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of the asset after its use is
included in the cost of the respective asset if the
recognition criteria for a provision are met.
Revaluation
Assets are measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation on the assets and impairment losses
recognised after the date of the revaluation.
Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency
to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does
not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
in the asset revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of
the same asset previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income, in which case the increase
is recognised in the other comprehensive income.
A revaluation deficit is recognised in the other
comprehensive income, except to the extent that
it offsets an existing surplus on the same assets
recognised in the assets revaluation reserve.
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3.3.1. Subsequent cost
The cost of replacing part of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying
amount of the item. If it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow
to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced
is derecognised in accordance with the derecognition
policy given below. The costs of the day-to-day
servicing of property, plant and equipment are
recognized in the income statement as incurred.
3.3.2. De-recognition
An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the income statement when the asset is
derecognised.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods
of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year
end and adjusted prospectively to the financial
statements, to increase the relevance and reliability
of information provided in financial statements for
decision makers if appropriate.
3.3.3. Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the valuation of an asset
less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component
has a useful life that is different from the remainder
of that asset, that component is depreciated
separately.
Depreciation is recognized in the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life
of each component of an item of property, plant
and equipment other than freehold land. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term and their useful lives unless it
is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term.
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Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available

3.3.4. Amortization

for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the

The leasehold rights are being amortized in equal

asset is classified as held for sale and the date that

amounts over the shorter of lease term and the

the asset is de-recognized.

expected useful life of the assets is as follows:

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Property, plant and

No. of years

Rate range

equipment

range

Buildings

20 to 50 years

2% to 5%

Plant and Machinery

5 to 30 years

3.33% to 20%

Motor Vehicles

1 to 15 years

6.66% to
100%

Tools and Equipment

8 to 40 years

2.5% to
12.50%

Computers

4 to 8 years

12.50% to
25%

Furniture and Fittings

5 to 20 years

5% to 20%

Ergonomic Equipment

25 years

4%

Water, Sanitations and

20 years

5%

Roads and Bridges

50 years

2%

Penstock Pipeline

20 years

5%

Security Fences

3 years

33.33%

Power/Electricity

13 1/3 years

7.5%

Air Conditioners

5 years

20%

Generator

8 years

12.5%

Cutlery, Crockery and
Glassware

5 years

20%

Linen

3 years

33.33%

Sewage System

20 years

5%

Others

Supply

The cost of areas coming into bearing are
transferred to mature plantations and depreciated as
follows:

No. of years

Rate range

range
Bare Land

53 years

1.89%

Mature Plantations –

30 years

3.33%

Other Crops

15 years

6.67%

Buildings

25 years

4%

Machinery

15 years

6.67%

Water and Sanitation

15 to 20 years

6.67% to 5%

Other Vested Assets

15 to 30 years

6.67% to

Tea

3.33%
Permanent Land

53 years

1.89%

30 years

3.33%

Development
Improvements to
Lands

3.4.

Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered
primarily through a disposal rather than through
continuing use are classified as held for sale.
Immediately before classification as held for sale,
these assets (or components of a disposal group)
are re-measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies.
Thereafter the assets (or disposal group) are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on
the above assets is first allocated to goodwill and
then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a

No depreciation is provided for immature
plantations.

pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets,
employee benefit assets and investment property,

Bearer biological

No. of years

assets

range

Tea

30 to 33.33

Rate range

10 to 15 years

which are continued to be measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment

3% to 3.33%

losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and
subsequent gains or losses on re-measurement are

years
Mixed/Other Crops

Class of asset

6.66% to 10%

recognised in the income statement. Gains are not
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment
loss.
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3.5.

Biological assets

3.5.1. Basis of recognition

Bearer biological assets
3.5.2. Bearer biological assets at cost

The Group recognizes the biological assets when,

The bearer biological assets, other than rubber

and only when, the entity controls the assets as

and coconut trees, are measured at cost less

a result of a past event, it is probable that future

accumulated depreciation and accumulated

economic benefits associated with the assets will

impairment losses, if any, in terms of LKAS 16

flow to the entity and the fair value or cost of the

‘Property Plant and Equipment’ as per the ruling

assets can be measured reliably.

issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountant of

Basis of classification
Biological assets are classified into mature biological
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Sri Lanka as follows.
3.5.3. Tea and other crops

assets and immature biological assets. Mature

The Group recognizes tea and mixed crops, except

biological assets are those that have attained

for the rubber and coconut trees owned by the Group

harvestable specifications or are able to sustain

in 19 estates, at cost in accordance with the ruling

regular harvests. Immature biological assets

issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants

are those that have not yet attained harvestable

of Sri Lanka dated 02nd March, 2012, due to

specifications. Tea, rubber, coconut, other

the impracticability of carrying out a proper fair

plantations and nurseries are classified as biological

valuation. The ruling provides the option to measure

assets.

bearer biological assets using LKAS16 ‘Property,
Plant and Equipment’. The Group measures tea

The cost of land preparation, rehabilitation, new

and mixed crops at their cost less any accumulated

planting, replanting, crop diversification, inter-

depreciation and any accumulated impairment

planting and fertilizing, etc. incurred between the

losses, if any, at the end of the financial period.

time of planting and harvesting (when the planted
area attains maturity), are classified as immature

3.5.4. Immature and mature plantations

plantations. These immature plantations are shown

The cost of replanting and new planting are

at direct costs plus attributable overheads, including

classified as immature plantations up to the time of

interest attributable to long-term loans used for

being ready for harvesting.

financing immature plantations. The expenditure
incurred on bearer biological assets (tea, rubber and

Further, the general charges incurred on the

coconut fields) which comes into bearing during the

plantation are apportioned based on the labour days

year, is transferred to mature plantations.

spent on respective replanting and new planting
areas and capitalized on the immature areas. The

Expenditure incurred on consumable biological

remaining portion of the general charges is expensed

assets is recorded at cost at initial recognition and

in the accounting period in which it is incurred.

thereafter at fair value at the end of each reporting
period.

The cost of areas coming into bearing is transferred
to mature plantations at the end of the financial

Biological assets are further classified as bearer

year.

biological assets and consumable biological assets.
Growing crop nurseries
Bearer biological assets include Tea, Rubber and

Nursery cost includes the cost of direct materials,

Coconut plants, those that are not intended to

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of

be sold or harvested, however used to grow for

directly attributable overheads.

harvesting agricultural produce. Consumable
biological assets include managed timber trees those

3.5.5. Bearer biological assets at fair value

that are to be harvested as agricultural produce from

Rubber and coconut trees

biological assets or sold as biological assets.

The Group recognizes the rubber and coconut
plantations at fair value less estimated point-of-salecosts, in accordance with LKAS 41- ‘Agriculture’.
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Point-of-sales-costs include all the costs that would

3.6.

Borrowing cost

be necessary to sell the assets, including costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable

necessary to get the assets to market. In respect of

to acquisition, construction or production of a

immature fields, the cost incurred up to the maturity

qualifying asset, which takes a substantial period

is deemed to be its fair value for the valuation

of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are

purpose.

capitalized as a part of the asset.

3.5.6. Consumable biological assets - managed timber

Borrowing costs that are not capitalized are

plantations

recognized as expenses in the period in which they

Consumable biological assets include managed

are incurred and charged to the income statement.

timber trees that are to be harvested as agricultural
The amounts of the borrowing costs which are

produce or sold as biological assets.

eligible for capitalization are determined in
The managed timber trees of the 19 estates of the

accordance with LKAS 23 - ‘Borrowing Costs’.

Group are measured on initial recognition and at
the end of each reporting period at its fair value

Borrowing costs incurred in respect of specific loans

less cost to sell in terms of LKAS 41. The cost of

that are utilized for field development activities

young plants which are below 4 years is treated

have been capitalized as a part of the cost of the

as approximation to fair value as the impact on

relevant immature plantation. The capitalization will

biological transformation of such plants to price

be ceased when the crops are ready for commercial

during the period is immaterial. All assumptions and

harvest.

sensitivity analysis are given in Note 20.

The amount so capitalized and the capitalization

Nursery cost includes the cost of direct materials,

rates are disclosed in the notes to the financial

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of

statements.

directly attributable overheads, less provision for

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable

overgrown plants.

to the acquisition, construction or production of a

The gain or loss arising on initial recognition of

qualifying asset are recognized in income statement

biological assets at fair value less cost to sell and

using the effective interest method.

from a change in fair value less cost to sell of
biological assets are included in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income for the period in which it
arises.
3.5.7. Infilling costs on bearer biological assets
The land development costs incurred in the form of
infilling have been capitalized to the relevant mature
field, only where the number of plants per hectare
exceeded 3,000 plants and, also if it increases the
expected future benefits from that field, beyond its
pre-infilling standard of performance assessment.
Infilling costs so capitalized are depreciated over the
newly assessed remaining useful life of the relevant
mature plantation or the unexpired lease period,
whichever is lower.
Infilling cost that are not capitalized have been
charged to the statement of comprehensive income
in the year in which they are incurred.

3.7.

Intangible assets
Intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary
asset without physical substance held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, for rental
or for administrative purpose.
An intangible asset is recognized if it is probable
that future economic benefits that are attributable to
the assets will flow to the entity and the cost of the
assets can be measured reliably in accordance with
LKAS 38 - ‘Intangible Assets’.
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
as initial recognition at cost. Following initial
recognition intangible assets are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses. The useful life of intangible
assets is assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortized
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over the useful economic life and assessed for

3.9.

impairment whenever there is an indication that the

3.9.1. Finance leases
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Leases

intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes

period and the method for an intangible asset with a

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial

are classified as finance leases. On initial

year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

recognition, the leased assets under property,

are tested for impairment annually either individually

plant and equipment, is measured at an amount

or at the cash generating unit level.

equal to the lower of its fair and the present value
of minimum payments. Subsequent to initial

a)  Subsequent expenditure

recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets

with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

is capitalized only when it increases the future

Minimum lease payments under finance leases are

economic benefits embodied by these assets. All

apportioned between the finance expense and the

other expenditure is expensed when incurred.

reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
expense is allocated to each period during the term

b)  Derecognition

so as to produce a constant periodic rate interest on

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or

the remaining balance of the liability.

when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use. The gain or loss arising from derecognition

3.9.2. Operating leases

of intangible assets are measured as the difference

Leases where the lessor effectively retains

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

amount of the asset.

over the assets are classified as operating leases.
Payments under operating leases are recognized as

c)  Amortization

an expense in the income statement on a straight-

Amortization is recognized in the income statement

line basis over the term of the lease or any other

on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful

basis more representative of the time pattern of

lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from

the benefits derived from the lease. The initial cost

the date that they are available for use.

of acquiring a leasehold property treated as an
operating lease is recognised as a non-current asset

The estimated useful life of each intangible asset is

and is over the period of the lease in accordance

as follows:

with the pattern of benefits expected to be derived
from the lease. The carrying amount of leasehold

Computer Software		

3 to 5 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual

3.8.

property is tested for impairment annually.
3.9.3. Leasehold rights to bare land of JEDB/SLSPC estate

values are reviewed at each reporting date and

assets and immovable (JEDB/SLSPC) estates assets on

adjusted if appropriate.

finance lease

Capital work-in-progress
The cost of capital work-in-progress is the cost of
purchase or construction together with any related
expenses thereon.
Expenditure incurred on capital work-in-progress
for the permanent nature or for the purpose of
increasing the earning capacity of the business has
been treated as capital expenditure.
Capital work–in-progress is transferred to the
respective asset accounts at the time of first
utilization or at the time the asset is commissioned.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka
has issued a Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP) with effect from 01st January, 2012) for
right-to-use of land on lease on 19th December
2012. Since the SORP issued by CA Sri Lanka has
not been finalized, the Group has not complied with
the SORP issued by them.
As the current practice, the group followed the
‘Urgent Issue Task Force’ (UITF) ruling issued prior
to 01st January, 2012 which has been superseded by
the Sri Lanka Accounting Framework with effect from
01st January, 2012.
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3.10. Investment properties

For a transfer from investment property to owner

3.10.1. Basis of recognition

occupied property or inventories, the deemed cost

Investment property is property held either to earn

of property for subsequent accounting is its fair

rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,

value at the date of change in use. If the property

but not for sale in the ordinary course of business,

occupied by the Company as an owner occupied

use in the production or supply of goods or services

property becomes an investment property, the

or for administrative purposes.

Company, accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under property, plant and

3.10.2. Basis of measurement

equipment up to the date of change in use.

Fair value model
Investment properties are initially recognized at

For a transfer from inventories to investment

cost except for the leasehold properties which

property, any difference between the fair value of

are recognized at fair value. Subsequent to initial

the property at that date and its previous carrying

recognition the investment properties are stated at

amount is recognized in the income statement.

fair values, which reflect market conditions at the

When the Company completes the construction

date of statement of financial position. Gains or

or development of a self-constructed investment

losses arising from changes in fair value are included

property, any difference between the fair value of

in the income statement in the year in which they

the property at that date and its previous carrying

arise.

amount is recognized in the income statement.

Where the Group’s companies occupy a significant

3.10.5. Determination of fair value

portion of the investment property of a subsidiary,

External and independent valuer, having appropriate

such investment properties are treated as property,

recognized professional qualifications and recent

plant and equipment in the consolidated financial

experience in the location and category of property

statements, and accounted for as per LKAS 16 -

being valued, values the investment property

Property, Plant and Equipment.

portfolio every year.

3.10.3. Derecognition

The fair values are based on market values, being

Investment properties are derecognised when either

the estimated amount for which a property could be

they have been disposed of or when the investment

exchanged on the date of the valuation between a

property is permanently withdrawn from use and

willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length

no future economic benefit is expected from its

transaction after proper marketing wherein the

disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or

parties had each acted knowledgeably.

disposal of an investment property are recognized
in the income statement in the year of retirement or
disposal.
3.10.4. Subsequent transfers to/from investment property

3.10.6. Reclassification to investment property
When the use of a property changes from owneroccupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and reclassified as investment

Transfers are made to the investment property when,

property. Any gain arising on re-measurement is

and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced

recognized in the income statement to the extent

by the end of owner occupation, commencement of

that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the

an operating lease to another party or completion of

specific property, with any remaining gain recognized

construction or development.

and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity.
Any loss is recognized immediately in the income

Transfers are made from the investment property

statement.

when, and only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of owner occupation

3.10.7. Impairment – Non-financial assets

or commencement of development with a view to

The carrying amounts of the Group’s nonfinancial

sale.

assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
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whether there is any indication of impairment. If any

3.11. Financial instruments

such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of

3.11.1. Non derivative financial instruments

such assets are estimated.
The recoverable amount of goodwill is estimated at
each reporting date, or as and when an indication of
impairment is identified.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that
generates cash flows that are largely independent
from other assets. Impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement.
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a)  Recognition
The group initially recognizes loans and advances,
deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated
liabilities on the date at which they are originated.
All the financial assets and liabilities other than
regular way purchases and sales are recognized on
the trade at which the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.
b)  Derecognition
The Group/Company derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-

financial asset in a transaction in which substantially

generating units on acquisition of subsidiaries are

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any

financial asset are transferred or in which the Group/

goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to reduce the

Company neither transfers nor retains substantially

carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or

all the risks and rewards of ownership and it

group of units) on a pro rata basis.

does not retain control of the financial asset. Any
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify

3.10.8. Calculation of recoverable amount

for de-recognition that is created or retained by the

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-

Group/Company is recognized as a separate asset

generating unit is the greater of its value in use and

or liability in the statement of financial position. On

its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in

derecognition of a financial asset, the difference

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted

between the carrying amount of the asset (or the

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate

carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset

that reflects current market assessments of the time

transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration

value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

received (including any new asset obtained less
any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative

3.10.9. Reversal of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

gain or loss that had been recognized in other
comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss.

reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at

The Group/Company enters into transactions

each reporting date for any indications that the loss

whereby it transfers assets recognized on its

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment

statement of financial position, but retains either

loss is reversed if there has been a change in the

all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or
substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent

the transferred assets are not derecognised.

that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been

In transactions in which the Group/Company neither

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if

retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and

no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals

rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it

of impairment losses are recognised in the income

retains control over the asset, the Group/Company

statement.

continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement, determined by the extent
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to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the

The chosen valuation technique makes maximum

transferred asset.

use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on
estimates specific to the group, incorporates all

The Group/Company derecognises a financial liability

factors that market participants would consider

when its contractual obligations are discharged or

in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted

cancelled or expire.

economic methodologies for pricing financial

c) Offsetting

instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial

net amount presented in the statement of financial

instrument at initial recognition is the transaction

position when, and only when, the group has a legal

price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration given

right to offset the amounts and intends either to

or received, unless the fair value of that instrument

settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle

is evidenced by comparison with other observable

the liability simultaneously.

current market transactions in the same instrument
or based on a valuation technique whose variables

d)  Amortized cost measurement

include only data from observable markets. When

The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability

the transaction price provides the best evidence

is the amount at which the financial asset or

of fair value at initial recognition, the financial

liability is measured at initial recognition, minus

instrument is initially measured at the transaction

principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative

price and any difference between this price and the

amortization using the effective interest method of

value initially obtained from a valuation model is

any difference between the initial amount recognized

subsequently recognized directly to the statement of

and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for

comprehensive income.

impairment.
Assets are measured at a bid price; liabilities are
e) Fair value measurement

measured at an asking price. Fair values reflect

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could

the credit risk of the instrument and include

be exchanged, or a liability settled, between

adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length

group entity and the counterparty where appropriate.

transaction on the measurement date.

Valuation of financial instruments

When available, the Group measures the fair value

The Group measures the fair values using the

of an instrument using quoted prices in an active

following fair value hierarchy that reflects the

market for that instrument. A market is regarded

significance of the inputs used in making the

as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly

measurements.

available and represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length

Level 1 – Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an

basis.

active market of an identical instrument.

If a market for a financial instrument is not active,

Level 2 – Valuation techniques based on observable

the group establishes fair value using a valuation

inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly

technique. Valuation techniques include using recent

(i.e. derived from prices), this category included

arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable,

instruments valued using: quoted market prices in

willing parties (if available), reference to the current

active markets similar instruments; quoted prices

fair value of other instruments that are substantially

for identical or similar instruments in markets

the same, discounted cash flow analyses and other

are considered less than active: or other valuation

equity pricing models.

techniques where all significant inputs are directly
observable from market data.
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Level 3 – Valuation techniques use significant

f) Identification and Measurement of Impairment

unobservable inputs. This category includes all

At each reporting date the Group assesses whether

instruments where the valuation technique includes

there is objective evidence that financial assets which

inputs not based on observable data and the

are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are

unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the

impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial

instrument’s valuation.

assets is (are) impaired when objective evidence

This category includes instruments that are valued
based on quoted prices for similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differences
between the instruments.
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For
all other financial instruments the group determines
fair values using valuation techniques.
Valuation techniques include net present value and
discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar
instruments for which market observable prices
exist, other equity pricing models and other valuation
models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation
technique include risk free and bench mark interest
rates, credit spreads and other premium used in
estimating discount rates, bond and other equity
prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and
equity index prices and expected price volatilities
and correlations.
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at
a fair value determination that reflects the price of
the financial instruments at the reporting date that
would have been determined by market participants
acting at arm’s length.

demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the
loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of
the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets (including
equity securities) are impaired can include
significant financial difficulty of the borrower
or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower,
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market
for a security, or other observable data relating to
a group of assets such as adverse changes in the
payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group
of economic conditions that correlate with defaults
in the group. In addition, for an investment in an
equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in
its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of
impairment.
In assessing collective impairment the Group uses
statistical modeling of historical trends of the
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the
amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s
judgement as to whether current economic and
credit conditions are such that the actual losses
are likely to be greater or less than suggested by
historical modeling, default rates, loss rates and the

The group widely recognized valuation models for

expected timing of future recoveries are regularly

determining the fair value of common and simpler

taken into account to ensure that they remain

financial instruments. Observable prices and model

appropriate.

inputs are usually available in the market for listed
debt and equity securities. Availability of observable
market inputs reduces the need of management
judgement and estimation and also reduces the
uncertainty associated with determination of fair
values. Availability of observable market prices and
inputs varies depending on the products and markets
are is prone to changes based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized
cost are measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial asset and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are recognized in income
statement and reflected in an allowance account
against loans and advances. Interest on impaired
assets continues to be recognized through the
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unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event

Attributable transaction costs of fair value through

causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease,

profit or loss financial assets are recognised in the

the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through

income statement when incurred.

profit or loss.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment

loss comprise of its portfolio of investments in

securities are recognized by transferring the

treasury bills and treasury bonds. The Group has not

cumulative loss that has been recognized in

designated any equity instruments in this category.

other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss

b) Loans and receivables

that is reclassified from other comprehensive

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed

income to profit or loss is the difference between

or determinable payments that are not quoted in an

the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment

active market.

and amortization, and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognized in income

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value

statement.

plus any directly attributable transaction costs, if
the transaction costs are significant. Subsequent

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an

to initial recognition loans and receivables are

impaired available-for-sale debt security increases

measured at amortised cost using the effective

and the increase can be objectively related to an

interest rate method (EIR) less any impairment

event occurring after the impairment loss was

losses.

recognized in income statement the impairment
loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash

recognized in profit or loss. However, any subsequent

equivalents, trade and other receivables.

recovery in the fair value of an impaired availablefor-sale equity security is recognized in the other
comprehensive income.

c) Held-to-maturity financial assets
If the Group has the positive intent and ability
to hold debt securities until maturity, then such

3.11.2. Financial assets

financial assets are classified as held-to–maturity.

Financial assets are within the scope of LKAS 39 are

Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised

classified appropriately as fair value through profit

initially at fair value plus any directly attributable

or loss (FVTPL), loans and receivables (R&R), held to

transaction costs if the transaction costs are

maturity (HTM), available-for-sale (AFS) at its initial

significant. Subsequent to initial recognition held-to-

recognition.

maturity financial assets are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any

All the financial assets are recognized at fair value at

impairment losses.

its initial recognition.
During the financial year the Group has not
a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

designated any financial assets as held-to-maturity

loss

investments.

A financial asset is recognised at fair value through
profit or loss, if it is classified as held for trading

d)  Available-for-sale financial assets

or is designated as such upon initial recognition.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if

financial assets that are designated as available-

they are acquired for the purpose of trading in the

for-sale or are not classified in any of the previous

near term. Financial assets at fair value through

categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale

profit or loss are measured at fair value, and any

financial assets are recognized initially at fair value

changes therein, are recognised in the income

plus any directly attributable transaction costs.

statement.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, they are

is recognised in the income statement. If there is no

measured at fair value and any changes therein,

realistic prospect of future recovery of a debt, the

other than impairment losses and foreign currency

amount is written off.

differences on available for sale debt instruments,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and

An impairment loss in respect of other financial

presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When

assets measured at amortised cost is calculated as

an investment is derecognised the gain or loss

the difference between its carrying amount and the

accumulated in equity is reclassified to the income

present value of the estimated future cash flows

statement.

discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. When a subsequent event

The Group designates listed and unlisted equity

causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease,

investments that are not held for trading purposes as

the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through

available-for-sale instruments. Debt securities in this

the income statement to the extent that the carrying

category are those which are intended to be held for

amount of the financial asset at the date the

an indefinite period of time and which may be sold

impairment is reversed, does not exceed what the

or redeemed in response to needs for liquidity or in

amortised cost would have been had the impairment

response to changes in market conditions.

not been recognised.

Interest income on available-for-sale debt securities

f)  Available-for-sale

calculated using the effective interest method and

For equity instruments classified as available-for-sale

dividend income on available for sale quoted and

financial assets a significant or prolonged decline

unquoted equity investments are recognised in the

in the fair value of the investment below its cost is

income statement.

considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

e) Loans and receivables

Impairment losses of an available-for-sale security

The objective evidence of impairment could include

investment are recognised by transferring the

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counter

cumulative loss that has been recognised in other

party, breach of contract such as default in interest

comprehensive income to the income statement as

or principal payments, or it becomes probable that

a reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss

the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-

that is reclassified from other comprehensive income

organisation.

to the income statement is the difference between
the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment

The Group considers impairment of trade receivables

and amortisation, and the current fair value, less

at both a specific significant individual debtor level

any impairment loss previously recognized in

and collectively. Any Group company which has any

the income statement. Changes in impairment

individually significant debtors them for specific

provisions attributable to time value are reflected as

impairment.

a component of interest income.

All individually insignificant debtors that are not

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an

specifically impaired are then collectively assessed

impaired available-for-sale debt security increases

for any impairment that has been incurred but not

and the increase can be objectively related to an

yet identified by grouping them together based on

event occurring after the impairment loss was

similar risk. In assessing collective impairment the

recognised in the income statement, the impairment

Group uses historical trends of the probability of

loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal

default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of

recognized in the income statement. However, any

loss incurred and adjusted for the management’s

subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired

judgement. The carrying amount of the trade

available-for-sale equity security is recognised in

receivables is reduced through the use of the bad

other comprehensive income.

debt provision account and the amount of the loss
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On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference

measurement is deemed to be the cost at the time

between the carrying amount of the asset or the

of transferring the harvested crop to inventories.

carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
transferred and the sum of the received together

j)  Finished/semi-finished agricultural produce of

with receivable and any cumulative gain or loss that

biological assets

had been recognised in other comprehensive income

Finished and semi-finished agricultural produce are

is recognised in the income statement.

valued adding the cost of conversion depending on
the existing state of conversion as at the date of

g) Current assets

financial position and thereafter vale at the lower of

Assets classified as current assets in the statement

cost or net realizable value.

of financial position are those expected to realize
during the normal operating cycle of business or

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price at

within one year from the statement of financial

which stocks can be sold in the ordinary course of

position date, whichever is longer and cash balances.

business after allowing for cost of realization and/

Assets other than current assets are those which the

or cost of conversion from their existing state to

Group/Company intends to hold beyond the one year

saleable condition.

period from the statement of financial position date.
h) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and
net realizable value.

k) Input material, spares and consumables
At actual cost on weighted average basis.
l) Finished goods and work-in-progress
First in first out (FIFO) basis

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in firstout principle, and includes expenditure incurred in

m) Certified emission reduction

acquiring the inventories, production or conversion

Carbon credit units as at the reporting date have

costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to

been valued at their estimated net realizable value as

their existing location and condition.

inventories and disclosed in the financial statements
as Certified Emission Reduction.

In the case of manufactured inventories and work
in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of

n) Other receivables

production overheads based on normal operating

Other receivable balances are stated at estimated

capacity. Net realizable value is the estimated selling

amounts receivable after providing for doubtful

price in the ordinary course of business, less the

receivables.

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
o) Cash and cash equivalents
For the manufacturing stocks, provision for slow
moving inventories is made when the holding period
exceeds 365 days, and the sale of the inventories is
no longer probable.
The cost incurred in bringing inventories to its
present location and condition is accounted using
the following cost formula:
i)  Agricultural produce harvested from biological
assets
Agricultural produce harvested from an entity’s
biological assets is measured at its fair value
less cost to sell at the point of harvest. Such

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in
hand and cash at banks and other highly liquid
financial assets which are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments with original
maturities of less than three months which are
subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair
value.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the group’s cash
management are included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
statement of cash flows.
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benefit expense in the income statement in the

The Group initially recognizes debt securities

periods during which services are rendered by

and loans and borrowings on the date that they

employees.

are originated. All other financial liabilities are
recognized at initially on the trade date, which is the

Provident Fund (EPF), Ceylon Plantation Provident

date that the Company/Group becomes party to the

Society (CPPS) and Estate Staff Provident Society

contractual provisions of the instruments.

(ESPS)

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its

The group contributes 12% on the salary of each

contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or

employee to the above mentioned funds.

expired.

Employees’ Trust Fund (ETF)

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities

The group contributes 3% of the salary of each

into the other financial liabilities category. Such

employee to the Employees’ Trust Fund.

financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction cost.

3.12.2. Defined benefit plan – gratuity

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit

liabilities are measured at amortized cost using

plan other than a defined contribution plan. The

effective interest rate method.

Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
pension plans of subsidiary mentioned above is

Other financial liabilities comprise of loans and

calculated by estimating the amount of future

borrowings, bank overdraft and debentures issued.

benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods; that benefit

Accounts Payables and Accrued Expenses
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
Provisions

is discounted to determine its present value. Any
unrecognized past service costs are deducted.
The calculation is performed every year by a qualified
actuary using the projected unit credit valuation

A provision is recognised if, as a result of past

method as recommended by LKAS 19 on Employee

events, the Group has a present legal or constructive

Benefits. However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is

No.12 1983, the liability to an employee arises only

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be

on completion of 5 years of continued service.

required to settle the obligation.
When the benefits of a plan are improved, the
Provisions are determined by discounting the

portion of the increased benefit related to past

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that

service by employees is recognized in profit or loss

reflects current market assessments of the time

on a straight-line basis over the average period until

value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

the benefits become vested. To the extent that the

The unwinding of the discount is recognized as

benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized

finance cost.

immediately in the income statement.

3.12. Employee benefits

The group recognizes all actuarial gains and losses

3.12.1. Defined contribution plans – provident and trust fund

arising from the defined benefit plan in other

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment

comprehensive income (OCI). This retirement benefit

benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed

obligation is not externally funded.

contributions into a separate entity and will have
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further

Other components of the Group

amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined

The defined benefit obligation of the Sub subsidiary

contribution plans are recognized as an employee

of the group is calculated annually using the
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projected unit credit method. The present value

Government grant related to the biological assets

of the defined benefit obligation is determined by

which are measured at fair value less point sale cost

discounting the estimated future cash outflows using

is directly charged to the carrying value of such

interest rates that are denominated in the currency

assets in accordance with the applicable financial

in which the benefits will be paid, and that have

framework.

terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the
related liability.

3.14. Tax expense
Tax expense comprises of current, deferred tax

3.12.3. Short-term employee benefits

and other statutory taxes. Income tax expense is

Short-term employee benefit obligations are

recognized in the income statement except to the

measured on an undiscounted basis and are

extent that it relates to items recognized directly in

expensed as the related service is provided. A

the statement of changes in equity.

liability is recognized for the amount expected to be
paid under short-term cash bonus if the company

3.14.1. Current tax

has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable

this amount as a result of past service provided by

on the taxable income or loss for the year, using

the employee, and the obligation can be estimated

tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the

reliably.

reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

3.13. Grants and subsidies
Government grants are recognized where there is

The provision for income tax is based on the

reasonable assurance that the grant will be received

elements of income and expenditure as reported

and all attached conditions will be complied with.

in the financial statements and computed in

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is

accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue

recognized as income over the period necessary to

Act. No 10 of 2006 and subsequent amendments

match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs

thereto.

that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant
relates to an asset, it is recognized as deferred
income and released to income in equal amounts
over the expected useful life of the related asset.
Where the group receives non-monitory grants,
the asset and the grant are recorded gross at
nominal amounts and released to the statement
of comprehensive income over the expected useful
life and pattern of consumption of the benefit of
the underlying asset by equal annual installments.
Where loans or similar assistance are provided by
governments or related institutions with an interest
rate below the current applicable market rate, the
effect of this favourable interest is regarded as
additional government grant.
Grants related to property, plant and equipment

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the Commissioner
General of Inland Revenue.
3.14.2. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognized for:
• Temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
• Temporary differences related to investments in

other than grants received for biological assets are

subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the

initially deferred and allocated to the statement of

extent that it is probable that they will not reverse

comprehensive income on a systematic basis over

in the foreseeable future; and

the useful life of the related property, plant and
equipment.

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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Where a company is entitled to claim the total

subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures who have

value or any part of expenditure made during the

not distributed their entire profits to the parent or

tax holiday period, as deductions for tax purposes

investor.

after the tax holiday period, such an entity will treat
such amount of expenditure as part of the tax base

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are

throughout the tax holiday period for the purpose of

expected to be applied to temporary differences

recognizing deferred tax.

when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date.

3.14.4. Withholding tax on dividends
Dividend distributed out of taxable profit of the local
companies attracts a 10% deduction at source and

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there

is not available for set off against the tax liability of

is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax

the company. Withholding tax that arises from the

liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes

distribution of dividends by the group is recognized

levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable

at the same time as the liability to pay the related

entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to

dividend is recognized.

settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized
simultaneously.

3.14.5. Economic Service Charge (ESC)
As per the provisions of Economic Service Charge
Act No. 13 of 2006 amendments thereto, ESC is

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused

payable on the liable turnover at specified rates.

tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary

ESC is deductible from the income tax liability.

differences, to the extent that it is probable that

Any unclaimed amount can be carried forward and

future taxable profits will be available against which

set off against the income tax payable in the five

they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed

subsequent years as per the relevant provision in the

at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent

Act.

that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefits will be realized.

3.14.6. Nation Building Tax (NBT)
As per the provisions of the Nation Building Tax Act,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

No. 9 of 2009 and the subsequent amendments

The net increase in the carrying amount of deferred

thereto, Nation Building Tax should be payable at the

tax liability net of deferred tax asset is recognized

rate of 2% with effect from 01st January, 2011 on

as deferred tax expense and conversely any net

the liable turnover as per the relevant provisions of

decrease is recognized as reversal to deferred tax

the Act.

expense, in the income statement.
3.14.7. Sales taxes
3.14.3. Companies enjoying tax holidays
Group companies enjoying a tax exemption period

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of
the amount of sales tax except for the following;

shall only recognize deferred tax in their financial
statements for temporary differences, where

• Sales tax incurred on a purchase of a assets

reversals of such differences extend beyond the tax

or services is not recoverable from the taxation

exemption period.

authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or

Deferred tax shall not be considered nor provided for

as part of the expense item as applicable; and

assets/liabilities for which tax impacts and reversals
take place within the tax exemption period. There
will be no tax implications that take place after the
expiration of the tax exemption period for such
assets.

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the
amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or
payable to, the taxation authority is included as
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part of other receivables or other payables in the

a)  Sale of goods

statement of financial position.

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of

3.15. Finance leases
Property and equipment on finance leases, which
effectively transfer to the group substantially the
entire risk and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leased items, are disclosed as finance leases
at their cash price and depreciated over the period
the group is expected to benefit from the use of the
leased assets.
The corresponding principal amount payable to
the lessor is shown as a liability. Lease payments
are apportioned between the finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the outstanding
balance of the liability. The interest payable over
the period of the lease is transferred to an interest
in suspense account. The interest element of the
rental obligations pertaining to each financial year is
charged to the income statement over the period of
lease.
3.15.1. Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are
recognized in income statement on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives
received are recognized as an integral part of the
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

ordinary activities is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, net
of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence
exists, usually in the form of an executed sales
agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the customer,
recovery of the consideration is probable, the
associated costs and possible return of goods
can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing
management involvement with the goods, and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
If it is probable that discounts will be granted and
the amount can be measured reliably, then the
discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as
the sales are recognized. The timing of the transfer
of risks and rewards varies depending on the
individual terms of the sales agreement.
b)  Gain/ (loss) on disposal of property plant and
equipment
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and other non-current assets held by the group
have been accounted for in the statement of
comprehensive income, after deducting from the net
sales proceeds on disposal of the carrying amount
of such assets and related selling expenses. On

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases

disposal of revalued property, plant and equipment,

are apportioned between the finance expense and

amount remaining in revaluation reserve relating to

the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance

that asset is transferred directly to retained earnings.

expense is allocated to each period during the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

c)  Sale and leaseback transactions
Any excess of sales proceeds over the carrying
amount of an asset in respect of a sale and

Income statement

3.16. Revenue
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group, and the revenue and associated costs
incurred or to be incurred can be reliably measured.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, net of trade
discounts and value added taxes, net of sales within
the Group.

leaseback transaction that results in a finance lease
is deferred and amortized over the lease term.
d) Interest income
Interest income is recognized as the interest accrued
on a time basis (taking into account the effective
yield on the asset) unless collectability is in doubt.
e)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income on the date the entity’s right
to receive payment is established.
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f) Gains arising from changes in fair value of

comprehensive income as other income when the

biological assets

grant becomes receivable.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of
biological assets at fair value less estimated point of
sale costs are recognized in the income statement.
Gains or losses arising on change in fair value due
to subsequent measurements are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise.
g)  Sale of electrical energy
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the company and the revenue and associated
costs incurred can be reliably measured. Revenue
is measured at the fair value of the consideration
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Other government grants are recognized initially
as deferred income at fair value when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and
the group will comply with the conditions associated
with the grant and are then recognize in the income
statement as other income on a systematic basis
over the useful life of the asset.
Grants that compensate the group for expenses
incurred are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income as other income on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are recognized.

received or receivable net of trade discounts and

Gains and losses arising from incidental activities to

sales taxes.

main revenue generating activities and those arising

h)  Revenue from accommodation sales and service
charge

from a group of similar transactions which are not
material, are aggregated, reported and presented on
a net basis.

Revenue from accommodation sales is recognized for
the rooms occupied on a daily basis, together with
outlet sales and other income from hotel operations.

3.17. Expenses recognition
Expenses are recognized in the income statement
on the basis of a direct association between the

90% of service charge collected from guests is

cost incurred and the earning of specific items of

distributed among the employees, retaining 10%

income. All expenditure incurred in the running of

of such service charge collected for recovery of

the business and in maintaining the property, plant &

breakages of cutlery, crockery, glassware and

equipment in a state of efficiency has been charged

stainless steel items. Any balance amount of the

to income in arriving at the profit for the year.

retention after recovery of actual breakages is
redistributed among employees at the end of each

For the purpose of presentation of the income

financial year.

statement the directors are of the opinion that
function of expenses method presents fairly the

i)  Rental income

elements of the company’s performance and hence

Rental income from investment property is

such presentation method is adopted.

recognized in income statement on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives

Preliminary and pre-operational expenditure is

granted are recognized as an integral part of the

recognized in the income statement.

total rental income, over the term of the lease.
Rental income from subleased property is recognized
as other income.
j)  CER income
CER income is recognized on accrual basis.
k)  Amortization of government grants received
An unconditional government grant related to a
biological asset is recognized in the statement of

Repairs and renewals are charged to the statement
of comprehensive income in the year in which the
expenditure is incurred.

3.18. Earnings per share
Earnings per share represent basic and diluted
earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic
earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
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of the Group & Company by the weighted average

regularly by the Group’s Board of Directors to make

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the

decisions about resources to be allocated to the

year. Diluted earnings per share is determined by

segment and to assess its performance, and for

adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary

which discrete financial information is available.

shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all

Accordingly, the segment comprises of investments,

dilutive potential ordinary shares.

porcelain, leisure, plantation and travel are described
in the Note 51 to the financial statements.

3.19. Statement of cash flow
The statement of cash flow has been prepared using

Segment results, assets and liabilities include

the ‘Indirect Method’ of preparing cash flows in

items directly attributable to a segment as well

accordance with the LKAS 7 - ‘Statement of Cash

as those that can be allocated on a reasonable

Flow’.

basis. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire segment assets

3.20. Related party disclosures

that are expected to be used for more than one

3.20.1. Transactions with related parties

period.

The company carries out transactions in the ordinary
course of its business with parties who are defined

Expenses that cannot be directly identified to a

as related parties in Sri Lanka Accounting Standard

particular segment are allocated on bases decided

24. The pricing applicable to such transactions is

by the management and applied consistently

based on the assessment of the risk and pricing

throughout the year.

model of the company and is comparable with what
is applied to transactions between the company and
its unrelated customers.
3.20.2. Transactions with key management personnel

3.22. Events after the reporting date
All material events after the date of statement
of financial position have been considered and
where appropriate adjustments or disclosures have

According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 24

been made in the respective notes to the financial

‘Related Party Disclosures’, key management

statements.

personnel, are those having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the entity. Accordingly, the board
of directors (including executive and non-executive
directors), personnel hold designation of divisional
general manager and above positions and their
immediate family member have been classified as
key management personnel of the company.

3.23. Commitments and contingencies
All discernible risks are accounted for in determining
the amount of all known liabilities. Contingent
liabilities are possible obligations whose existence
will be confirmed only by uncertain future events or
present obligations where the transfer of economic
benefit is not probable or cannot be reliably
measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in

The immediate family member is defined as spouse

the statement of financial position but are disclosed

or dependent. Dependent is defined as anyone who

unless they are remote.

depends on the respective director for more than
50% of his/her financial needs.

3.21. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group
that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including
revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Group’s other components. All
operating segments operating results are reviewed
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Group
For the year ended 31 March
st

4

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

1,878,502
(62,793)
1,815,709

1,126,643
1,126,643

42,826
42,826

108,599
108,599

10,885
1,061,804
388,468
354,552
1,815,709

51,748
278,647
558,826
216,254
21,168
1,126,643

42,826
42,826

108,599
108,599

278,860
239,046
279,302
797,208

133,682
497,879
135,449
767,010

-

-

10,885
782,944
149,422
75,250
1,018,501

51,748
144,965
60,947
80,805
21,168
359,633

42,826
42,826

108,599
108,599

3,085
97,308
100,393

34,048
348
9,645
44,041

69,114
69,114

46,700
4,871
51,571

6,315

-

6,315

66,187

-

72,146

-

75,838

21,987
5,841
25,289
5,411
1,507
5,572
71,922

13,148
14,000
677
308
100,279

21,987
2,678
5,411
36,391

12,741
677
155,443

3,596
1,784
640,905
646,285

2,047
1,541
239,150
242,738

327,199
327,199

196,019
196,019

Other expenses
Write off of related party loans
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets reclassified to comprehensive income on
deemed disposal
Changes in fair value of financial assets
classified as fair value through profit or loss
Stamp duty
Prepaid loan cost
Impairment of goodwill
Loss on disposal of investment property
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Sundry expenses

9

2014

Other income
Gain on disposal of subsidiary
Gain on disposal of Property, plant and Equipment
Sundry income

8

2015

Gross profit
Industry segment
Investments
Leisure
Porcelain
Construction
Travel

7

2014

Cost of sales
Industry segment
Investments
Leisure
Porcelain
Construction
Travel

6

2015

Revenue/income
Industry segment
Investments
Leisure
Porcelain
Construction
Travel

5

Company

Revenue/income
Total revenue
Less: Inter group revenue

4.1

79

Finance costs
Lease interest
Loss on transaction of foreign currency
Bank guarantee commission
Interest on term loans
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Group
For the year ended 31st March

10

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

621,335

-

-

-

-

169,560

-

-

Gain on bargain purchases
FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd (Note 21.1)
Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd
Taprobane Holdings PLC

11

Company

2015

-

150,415

-

-

621,335

319,975

-

-

13,302

6,172

2,684

1,658

Profit before taxation
Profit before tax is stated after charging all
expenses including the following:
Directors' emoluments
Auditors' remuneration
Audit service
Depreciation/amortization

3,358

2,325

540

480

256,017

137,648

2,997

2,081

259,627

92,021

3,607

2,817

Personnel costs
Salaries and wages
Defined Contribution plan costs - EPF, ETF, CPPS and
ESPS

12

22,979

7,110

541

422

Defined benefit plan costs - Retirement benefits

6,279

6,608

-

-

Allowance for impairment of inventories

8,408

-

-

-

16,826

14,280

124

-

Income tax expense
Tax recognized in the income statement
Current tax expense
Taxation on profit for the year
Over/under provision in respect of previous
year

14,478

Deferred tax expense

-

-

-

(37,714)

3,912

-

-

(6,410)

18,192

124

-

The Company is liable for tax at the rate of 28% on its taxable income in accordance with the Inland Revenue Act no.
10 of 2006 and subsequent amendments made thereto.

Companies exempt from income tax/liable to tax at concessionary rates
a) Companies exempt from income tax
Company

Statute

Exemption period

Green Paradise ( Pvt) Ltd

Section 17 of BOI Law No.04 of 1978

5 years

Samudra Beach Resorts ( Pvt) Ltd

Section 17 of BOI Law No.04 of 1978

10 years

Thebuwana Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd

Section 17 of BOI Law No.04 of 1978

5 years

Stellenberg Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd

Section 17 of BOI Law No.04 of 1978

- do -

F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd

Section 17A of Inland Revenue Act No.10 of

7 years

2006
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b) Companies liable to tax at concessionary rates 			
Company

Concessionary tax rate and statute

Period

Maturata Plantations Ltd

10% under section 48A-14A of the Inland

Indefinite

Revenue (amendment) Act No.22 of 2011.
Pusellawa Plantations Ltd

- do -

F L C Hydro Power PLC

12% under section 59E of the Inland Revenue - do -

- do -

(amendment) Act No.18 of 2013
F L M C Plantation (Pvt) Ltd

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
F L P C Management (Pvt) Ltd

- do -

- do -

Melfort Green Teas (Pvt) Ltd

10% under section 16 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

Act No.10 of 2006.
Ajax Engineers ( Pvt) Ltd

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
Eden Hotel Lanka PLC

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
Palm Garden Hotels PLC

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
Tropical Villas (Pvt) Ltd

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
Dickwella Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011
Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

12% under section 46 of the Inland Revenue

- do -

(amendment) Act No.22 of 2011

12.1 Numerical reconciliation of the accounting profit and income tax expenses
Numerical reconciliation between the tax expense/(income) and the product of accounting profit/(loss) multiplied by
the applicable tax rate disclosing also the basis on which the applicable tax rate is computed are given below.
Group
For the year ended 31st March

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(239,940)

39,355

(228,427)

(107,927)

(88,425)

(218,289)

29,095

158,764

Less:
Aggregate exempt income
Aggregate disallowable expenses
Aggregate allowable expenses
Aggregate non-business income

(13,321)

(174,792)

319,381

63,700

(697,740)

(48,050)

1,292

2,784

(2,173)
-

(2,108)
-

Aggregate interest income considered
separately
Aggregate loss from the business
Aggregate deductions under section 32
Taxable income
Taxable income at special rate @ 12%
Taxable Income at normal rate @ 28%

8,252

7,776

682

-

743,523

169,770

289,930

169,560

(4,983)
116,464

(5,306)
55,237

(239)

-

443

-

11,838

890

-

-

4,988

13,390

124

-

16,826

14,280

124

-
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Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Tax losses brought forward

1,126,352

534,119

174,020

5,821

Acquisition of subsidiary

3,133,936

For the year ended 31st March

12.2 Tax losses carried forward

Disposal of subsidiary

-

Tax losses for the year

743,523

Utilisation of tax losses during the year

(4,983)
4,998,828

13

935,821

-

-

(508,052)

-

-

289,930

169,560

169,770
(5,306)
1,126,352

(239)

(1,361)

463,711

174,020

(228,551)

(107,927)

Earnings/(loss) per share
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the year (Rs.000)

(11,650)

49,085

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (Nos.)

2,942,661

2,143,729

2,942,661

2,143,729

Earnings per ordinary share (Rs.)

(0.003)

0.02

(0.08)

(0.05)

Diluted earnings per share (Rs.)

(0.003)

0.02

(0.08)

(0.05)

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding at any time during the year, hence dilutive earnings per
share is equal to the basic earning per share.

14

Dividend per share
Group
2014

2015

2014

Interim dividend

-

-

-

-

Final dividend

-

-

-

-

3,720,000

1,860,000

3,720,000

1,860,000

-

-

-

-

Number of ordinary shares in issue (Nos. 000)
Dividend per ordinary share (Rs.)

15

Company

2015

For the year ended 31 March
st

Leasehold property
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

On acquisition of subsidiaries

709,800

-

-

-

Additions during the year

197,922

-

-

-

Balance at the end of the year

907,722

-

-

-

221,957

-

-

-

1,311

-

-

-

As at 31 March
st

Leasehold rights acquired

Accumulated amortisation
On acquisition of subsidiaries
Add : Amount amortised during the year
Accumulated Amortisation at the end of the year

223,268

-

-

-

Total net carrying value

684,454

-

-

-
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As at 31st March
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Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

457,987

-

-

-

15.1 Maturata/Pussellawa Plantations -Lease of
JEDB/SLSPC Estates (Note 15.3)
F L C Hydro Power PLC
Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd

4,838

-

-

-

25,018

-

-

-

Bodufaru Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd (Note 15.2)

196,611

-

-

-

Total net carrying value

684,454

-

-

-

15.2 Bodufaru Beach Resorts ( Pvt) Ltd
Leasehold right represents the acquisition cost of lease right of the Bodufarufinolhu in Raa Atoll for a period of 50
years by Bodufaru Beach Resort (Pvt) Ltd by entering into an agreement with the Government of the Republic of
Maldives on 23rd November 2014.

15.3 Maturata/Pussellawa Plantations -Lease of JEDB/SLSPC Estates
Lease agreements of all JEDB/SLSPC estates handed over to the Company's Sub Subsidiaries have been executed
to date. All of these lease are retroactive to 15th/22nd June 1992, the dates of formation of the Company's Sub
Subsidiaries. The leasehold rights to the bare land on all of these estates have been taken into the books of the
Company's Sub Subsidiaries on 15th/22nd June 1992, immediately after formation of the Company's Sub Subsidiaries,
in terms of the ruling obtained from the Urgent Issue Task Force (UITF) of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Sri Lanka. For this purpose, Board of the company's Sub Subsidiaries decided at its meetings that lease bare land
would be revalued at the value established for this land by Valuation Specialist Dr.Wickramasinghe just prior to the
formation of the Company's Sub Subsidiaries. The values as at 22nd June 1992 and 15th June 1992 were taken in to the
books of Maturata Plantations Limited and Pussellawa Plantations Limited respectively.
The Leasehold right to bare land of JEDB/SLSPC estates is being amortized by equal amounts over a 53 year period
and the unexpired period of the lease as at the financial reporting date is 30.25 years.
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Property, plant and equipment
Group
As at 31st March

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16.1 & 16.5)
Capital work-in-progress (Note 16.6)

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

10,868,204

8,669,098

350,419

400,452

2,912,636

1,420,906

4,600

-

13,780,840

10,090,004

355,019

400,452

-

Transfers

16,877

As at 31st March 2014
4,599,313

4,854,595
3,312,769

4,128,216

663,731

(3,027)

-

100,453

203,557

362,748

4,791,947

(40,767)

-

1,335

17,812

1,138,050

3,675,517

249,113

515,688

857,118

-

(3,623)

56,369

589,950

214,422

1,372,806

-

(11,831)

-

71,544

849,557

463,535

Rs.000

277,744

351,816

402,587

-

(813)

38,197

176,636

188,568

754,403

-

(1,176)

-

31,490

257,777

466,312

47,053

97,510

373,375

-

(1,127)

5,851

353,780

14,872

470,885

-

(5,937)

-

5,408

409,489

61,925

Rs.000

vehicles

Motor

8,913

14,737

19,209

-

-

2,359

10,480

6,371

33,947

-

-

-

3,739

14,923

15,284

Rs.000

computers

tools and

Loose

157,316

808,098

276,611

3,027

(13,669)

22,064

173,511

91,678

1,084,709

40,767

(13,667)

-

18,188

790,426

248,994

Rs.000

assets

tangible

Other

8,669,098

10,868,204

2,765,302

the investments made in the tangible assets by the Company's sub-subsidiaries since their formation have been classified as above. These assets taken over by way of

Assets pledged as collaterals are disclosed in note no 49

finance leases by the Company 's subsidiaries are set out in Note 16.2

-

(19,232)

228,104

1,673,667

882,763

13,633,506

-

(32,610)

168,733

171,242

3,774,279

9,551,861

Rs.000

Total

These immovable/movable assets vested in the Company's sub-subsidiaries by Gazette Notification on the date of formation of the Company's subsidiaries and all

97,545

As at 31st March 2015

-

172,670

-

-

-

-

4,854,595

-

-

167,397

17,561

70,323

4,599,313

-

2,812

165,754

4,104

As at 31st March 2015

Transfers

Disposals

Charge for the year

Acquisition of subsidiaries

As at 1st April 2014

Accumulated depreciation

st

270,215

-

Disposals

As at 31 March 2015

-

5,500

243,734

20,981

(Note 16.2)

Rs.000

and office
Rs.000

Rs.000

machinery

Furniture

Rs.000

buildings

Plant and
equipment

land

finance

Freehold

lease

Freehold

Assets on  

Surplus on revaluation

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries

As at 1st April 2014

Cost/ Valuation

Group

16.1 Property, plant and equipment
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Assets on finance lease

245

1,670

-

As at 31st March 2015

5,174

644

As at 31 March 2015

5,174

-

st

644

-

-

On acquisition of subsidiaries

6,844

6,844

-

889

As at 31st March 2015

Amortisation

889

On acquisition of subsidiaries

Cost

10,266

103,100

103,100

113,366

113,366

-

27,872

27,872

27,872

27,872

46

16,337

16,337

16,383

16,383

Rs.000

286

215

215

501

501

322

955

955

1,277

1,277

Rs.000

assets

Rs.000

Other

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Permanent
development

Rs.000

Water
sanitation

land

Machinery

Rs.000

Buildings
tangible

Vested
plantations

land

to land

unimproved

Vested Improvements

Other
assets

vested

759

3,699

3,699

4,458

4,458

Rs.000

These assets are taken into the Statement of Financial Position of Company’s Subsidiaries as at 15th/22nd June 1992 and depreciated as follows:

13,594

157,996

157,996

171,590

171,590

Rs.000

Total

revalued at their book values as they appear in the books of the JEDP/SLSPC, on the day immediately preceding the date of formation of the Company’s Subsidiaries.

Company’s Subsidiaries retroactive to 15th/22nd June 1992. For this purpose, the Board of Company’s Subsidiaries decided at their meetings, that these assets be

of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, all immovable assets in the JEDP/SLSPC estates under finance leases have been taken into the books of the

As more fully explained in Note 16, Company’s sub subsidiary owns JEDB/SLSPC estate lease deeds have been executed to date. In terms of the ruling of the UITF

16.2.1 Immovable (JEDB/SLSPC) assets on finance lease (Other than bare land) - Group

16.2
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44,010
-

As at 31st March 2015

As at 31 March 2014

assets

16,877

83,951

14,674

2,812

7,758

4,104

98,625

5,500

72,144

20,981

Rs.000

st

16,877

-

2,963

1,336

-

1,336

-

4,299

-

4,299

-

Rs.000

Total

As at 31 March 2014

11,183

14,485

3,763

337

1,628

1,798

18,248

-

5,267

Other
Leasehold

97,545

5,694

22,493

7,418

2,475

2,637

2,306

29,911

5,500

16,411

12,981

Rs.000

building

Leasehold

As at 31st March 2015

Total carrying value of leasehold assets

st

st

2,157

-

2,157

-

46,167

-

46,167

8,000

Rs.000

Rs.000
-

Motor
vehicles

Plant and
machinery

As at 31 March 2015

Charge for the year

Acquisition on subsidiary

As at 1st April 2014

st

As at 31 March 2015

Additions

Acquisition on subsidiary

As at 1st April 2014

16.2.2 Assets on finance lease (Other than immovable (JEDB/SLSPC asset on finance lease) - Group
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Browns Investments PLC
Browns Investments PLC
Browns Investments PLC
Browns Investments PLC
Samudra Beach Resorts ( Pvt) Ltd
Samudra Beach Resorts ( Pvt) Ltd
Green Paradise Resorts ( Pvt) Ltd
Palm Gardens Hotel PLC
Eden Hotel Lanka PLC
Tropical Villas ( Pvt) Ltd
Dikwella Resort ( Pvt) Ltd
Dikwella Resort ( Pvt) Ltd

Okade Road, Kosgoda

Tuduwa Road, Dampe

Okade, Kosgoda, Gimanagewatta

Batawala Road, Meegoda

Okade Road, Kosgoda

Okade Road, Kosgoda

Kubukkandanwala, Dambulla

Kaluwamodara, Aluthgama

Kaluwamodara, Aluthgama

Galle Road, Moragalle,Beruwala

Batheegama, Dickwella

Batheegama, Dickwella

1-3-28.75

6-2-3.93

2-1-39.98

6-0-15.66

7-2-11.8

15-0-39

0-1-17

6-0-16

2-3-12.90

0-1-36.7

3-0-5

0-1-10.5

91,899

238,353

37,966

20,073

Sq. Ft.

A-R-P

0-2-27

Building

Extent
Land

The above land and buildings have been revalued by independent, qualified valuers on the basis of current market value.

**Acquired in 2014/15		

* Acquired in 2013/14		

F L C Holdings PLC

Browns Investments PLC

Company

Okade Road, Kosgoda

Location

16.4 Details of land and buildings carried at revalued amount as follows,

(2013/14-Rs 251,251,504/-)

31.03.2014

31.03.2014

31.03.2014

31.03.2014

31.03.2014

05.07.2012

Cost*

31.03.2015

31.03.2015

Cost*

31.03.2014

31.03.2013

Cost**

date

Last valuation

16.3 The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment of the Group, which are still in use as at the reporting date is Rs. 886,390,310/-

8,982,811

1,004,816

154,625

1,454,977

329,922

2,355,458

1,939,000

1,001,766

4,421

334,369

63,190

8,842

314,000

4,285

13,140

Rs.000

2015

W.D.V
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16.5. Property plant and Equipment
Company

Freehold

Freehold

Motor

Furniture

land

buildings

vehicles

and

Total

fittings
Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

364,695

25,955

13,140

-

11,304

78

402,032

1,055

257

14,452

1,335

-

-

1,197

Cost
As at 1st April 2014
Additions
Surplus on revaluation

(138)

Transfer to investment properties

(38,496)

As at 31st March 2015

339,201

(27,290)
-

-

-

12,359

335

351,895

(65,786)

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1st April 2014

1,298

260

22

1,580

Charge for the year

1,298

1,157

37

2,492

Transfer to investment properties

(2,596)

As at 31st March 2015

-

-

-

1,417

59

(2,596)
1,476

As at 31st March 2015

339,201

-

10,942

276

350,419

As at 31st March 2014

364,695

24,657

11,044

56

400,452
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Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

1,420,906

438,146

-

-

Acquisition on subsidiary

810,069

559,249

-

-

Additions during the year

681,661

423,511

4,600

-

2,912,636

1,420,906

4,600

-

2,591,278

1,420,906

4,600

-

4,866

-

-

-

305,918

-

-

-

10,574

-

-

-

2,912,636

1,420,906

4,600

-

Balance at the beginning of the year

4,382,999

3,853,000

761,000

135,000

Acquisition of subsidiaries

1,029,587

-

-

-

-

370

As at 31st March

16.6 Capital work-In-progress
Balance at the beginning of the year

Balance at the end of the year
Class of assets
Buildings
Water sanitation
Hydro power
Others

17

Investment property
Movement during the year

Additions during the year
Disposals
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Change in fair value during the year
Balance at the end of the year

(16,233)
(13,223)

-

-

-

(16,233)

-

563,000

63,190

563,000

(33,371)

34,777

63,000

5,383,130

4,382,999

842,734

761,000

4,604,341

3,957,827

818,040

761,000

778,789

425,172

24,694

-

5,383,130

4,382,999

842,734

761,000

Summary of investment properties
Land
Buildings

17.1 Details of investment properties
Location

Extent
A-R-P

No 338,T.B Jayah Mawatha, Colombo 10

Carrying value
Group

Company

Rs.000

Rs.000

5-2-17

3,574,000

-

0-0-49.5

911,586

-

No.05, Summer Place, Colombo 08

0-0-33.75

118,000

-

No 30, Havelock Road, Colombo 05

0-0-28.07

168,420

168,420

5-0-14.5

75,000

75,000

No.19, Dudley Senanayake Mawatha, Colombo 08

Kuchchaveli, Trincomalee
Nos. 781 & 781/2, Nalluruwa, Panadura

0-1-38.32

43,000

43,000

No 251, 253,& 253/3, Ethul Kotte Road, Battaramulla

0-1-25.10

215,000

215,000

0-2-5.05

182,857

182,857

1-2-6.5

95,267

95,267

2-3-12.9

-

63,190

5,383,130

842,734

No 328, Kaduwella Road, Malabe
Egoda Uyana, Moratuwa
Batawala Rorad, Meegoda, Homagama
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Group
As at 31st March

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

93,183

80,675

-

660

(32,553)

(32,889)

-

-

60,630

47,786

-

660

17.2 Income earned from investment property
Rental income
Direct operating expenses
Total net rental income
17.3

Market value
The fair value of investment properties was determined by external, independent property valuers, having appropriate
recognized professional qualifications and relevant experience in the location and category of the property being
valued. The independent valuers provide the fair value of the Group’s investment property portfolio every year.
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Intangible assets and goodwill
Group
As at 31 March
st

Goodwill (Note 18.1)
Other intangible assets (Note 18.2)

18.1

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

1,376,943

1,279,611

-

-

2,214

3,115

187

688

1,379,157

1,282,726

187

688

1,279,611

45,581

-

-

-

25,289

-

-

Arise due to acquisition (Note 21)

122,621

1,208,741

-

-

Impairment of goodwill*

(25,289)

-

-

-

1,376,943

1,279,611

-

-

4,529

1,754

1,501

1501

Goodwill
Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition on subsidiaries

Balance at the end of the year
18.2

Company

Other intangible assets-Computer software
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition on subsidiaries

26

2,775

-

-

Addition during the year

1,888

-

-

-

Disposal during the year

(2,700)

Balance at the end of the year

-

-

-

3,743

4,529

1,501

1,501

1,414

312

813

312

Amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year

-

409

-

-

Amortisation for the year

Acquisition on subsidiaries

1,308

693

501

501

Disposal during the year

(1,193)

-

-

-

Balance at the end of the year

1,529

1,414

1,314

813

Carrying amount at the end of the year

2,214

3,115

187

688

*Goodwill as at the reporting date has been tested for impairment and fully provided for Tropical Villas (Pvt) Ltd

Annual Report 2014/2015

19

91

Bearer biological assets
Group
2015

As at 31 March
st

2014

Tea/Rubber

Others

Total

Tea

Others

Total

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Bearer biological assets carried at cost
(Note 19.1)

1,574,179

151,989

1,726,168

-

-

-

Bearer biological assets carried at fair
value (Note 19.2)
Total carrying value

4,010,487
5,584,666

66,671
218,660

4,077,158
5,803,326

-

-

-

-

-

-

19.1 Bearer biological assets carried at
cost
On finance lease (Note 19.5)
Investments by the Group (Note 19.6)
Growing crop nurseries (Note 19.7)

116,822

-

116,822

1,438,496

150,466

1,588,962

-

-

-

18,861

1,523

20,384

-

-

-

1,574,179

151,989

1,726,168

-

-

-

-

-

-

19.2 Bearer biological assets carried at
fair value
On finance lease (Note 19.8)
Growing crop nurseries (Note 19.10)

4,003,818

66,671

4,070,489

6,669

-

6,669

-

-

-

4,010,487

66,671

4,077,158

-

-

-

On finance Investments
lease
after
formation
of the
Company

Growing
nurseries

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

19.3 At cost
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

380,212
(263,390)
116,822

1,980,963
(391,999)
1,588,964

20,382
20,382

2,381,557
(655,389)
1,726,168

19.4 At fair value
Valuation

-

800,508

3,269,981

6,669

4,077,158

800,508

3,269,981

6,669

4,077,158

-

Group
2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

19.5 On finance lease
At cost
Acquisition of subsidiaries

380,212

-

-

-

380,212

-

Acquisition of subsidiaries

263,390

-

Balance at the end of the year

263,390

-

Movement during the period
Balance at the end of the year
Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount
As at 31st March 2015

116,822

-

As at 31st March 2014

-

-

92

Browns Investments PLC

Notes to the Financial Statements

Immature Plantations

Mature Plantations

Group

Tea

Other

Total

Tea

Other

Total

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

-

-

-

-

-

41,462 1,431,106 1,975,644

-

19.6 Investments by the Group
Cost/valuation
Balance as at 01st April

-

-

446,995

97,543

-

5,319

446,995

102,862

Balance as at 01st April

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Acquisition of subsidiaries

-

-

-

389,865

2,136

392,001

392,001

-

Balance as at 31st March

-

-

-

389,865

2,136

392,001

392,001

-

As at 31 March 2015

446,995

102,862

549,857

999,779

39,326 1,039,105 1,588,962

-

As at 31 March 2014

-

-

-

-

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions
Balance as at 31 March
st

544,538 1,389,644
5,319

-

549,857 1,389,644

-

-

5,319

-

41,462 1,431,106 1,980,963

-

Accumulated depreciation

st

st

-

-

-

-

Group
Immature Plantations
Tea

Mixed Crops

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

19.7 Growing crop nurseries
Cost
Balance as at 01st April

-

-

-

-

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

18,861

1,523

20,384

-

Balance as at 31 March

18,861

1,523

20,384

-

st

The above carrying amount as at 31st March 2015 includes a sum of Rs. 1,814 Mn which is the cost of immature
rubber and coconut trees having up to the age of 6 years is treated as approximate to fair value particularly on the
ground of little biological transformation taking place since initial cost incurrence and impact of such transformation
on price is expected to be immaterial. When such plantations become mature, the additional investments since taken
over to bring them to maturity are transferred from immature to mature.
Specific borrowings have been identified to finance the planting expenditure. Hence, borrowing costs of Rs 42.04
Mn (2013/2014 - Rs. 66.61 Mn) incurred on borrowings obtained to meet expenses relating to bearer biological
assets, which are below 6 years of age and carried at cost, have been capitalized at an average rate of 13.56.% p.a.
(2013/2014 - 19.34%). Capitalization of borrowing costs will cease when the bearer biological assets are ready for
bearing (harvesting agricultural produce).
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Group
Rubber

Coconut

Rs.000

Rs.000

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

19.8 At fair value
On Finance Lease
Valuation
Balance as at 01st April

-

-

-

-

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

785,114

15,394

800,508

-

Balance as at 31 March

785,114

15,394

800,508

-

-

-

-

-

st

Investments after formation of the Company
Valuation
Balance as at 01st April
Acquisition of Subsidiaries

3,218,704

51,277

3,269,981

-

Balance as at 31st March

3,218,704

51,277

3,269,981

-

Total

4,003,818

66,671

4,070,489

-

19.9 Measurement of fair value					
The fair value of bearer biological assets (Other than Tea and Other crop) was ascertained as per LKAS 41 ”Agriculture”” applicable for managed agricultural activity. The valuation was carried by Mr.K.T.D.Tissera, an
independent Chartered Valuation Surveyor, using Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) methods. In ascertaining the fair value, a
physical verification was carried covering all the estates.
The fair value measurement for the bearer biological assets has been categorized as Level 3 fair value based on the
inputs to the valuation technique used.		
Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
Following table shows the valuation techniques in measuring Level 3 fair value of consumable biological asses as well
as the significant unobservable inputs used.
Type

Valuation technique used

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement
The estimated fair value

Rubber

Discounted cash flows

- Latex

The valuation model considers

- Crop Forecast

would increase/(decrease)

present value of future net

Useful life span of a tree is considered

if;

cash flows expected to be

as 30 years with tapping started in the

generated by the plantation

7th year after planting.

from the Latex to be tapped
from a rubber tree in a
relevant field until the end
of cessation of tapping from

Yield forecast is based on the actual crop
of the base year. Yield variation is taken
from the moving average trend of the

- the NSA were higher/
(lower)
- the COP were lower/
(higher)

such trees in that field.

‘Yield Curve’. ‘Yield Curve’ is the average - the risk-adjusted discount
rate were lower/(higher)
annual field level yields of the last year

Expected cash flows are

and this will be assessed every year to

discounted using a risk-

reflect a fair representation of the fields

adjusted discount rate of 12% considering location, climatic variation
comprising a risk premium of
3%.			

and agricultural practices.
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Type

Valuation technique used

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement

- Yield of a particular field is the
fractional change in yield of the
preceding year.
- Rubber Price (NSA) Forecast
Net Sale Average (NSA) is the weighted
NSA of an estate which sells raw latex.
Average NSA of past 12 months gained
by Diddenipotha Estate is used for the
valuation of latex component of rubber.
-Cost of Production (COP) Forecast
Average COP of Diddenipotha Estate for
past 12 months is used for the valuation
of latex component of rubber, which
excludes manufacturing charges which
differs from Estate to Estate depending
on the nature of their manufacturing
process.
The estimated fair value

Coconut

Discounted cash flows 		

- Nuts

The valuation model considers

- Coconut Yield Forecast

would increase/(decrease)

present value of future net

Under optimal conditions it is expected

if;

cash flows expected to be

to obtain 100-129 nuts per palm on

generated by the plantation

average, but may vary according to

from the Coconuts to be

the age, soil, rainfall and management

picked from a coconut tree in

conditions.

a relevant field until the end of
cessation of picking from such
coconut trees in that field.

Coconut yields have been forecasted

- the forecast yield were
higher/(lower)
- the NSA were higher/
(lower)

assuming that there will be a marginal

- the COP were lower/

decrease of 5% of the crop.

(higher)

- Coconut Price (NSA) Forecast

- the risk-adjusted discount

12 months net sales average (NSA) of 3

rate were lower/(higher)

coconut producing estates was used to
value the coconut crop.
- Cost of Production (COP) Forecast
Average cost of production (COP) of 3
coconut producing estates was used to
value the coconut crop
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Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement

Rubber

Discounted cash flows		

- Timber

The valuation model considers

component

the discounting of the scrap
value, being the timber
component of a rubber tree,
using current market price of

The estimated fair value
- Current Market Price per Tree
Estimated current market price of a tree

would increase/(decrease)
if;

is treated as equivalent to Rs.2,200.

-the estimated current

(Previous year - Rs2,200)

market price were higher/
(lower)

such tree.

-the risk-adjusted discount

Current market price is

rate were lower/(higher)

discounted for the number of
years that a tree would take
for uprooting using a riskadjusted discount rate of 13%
comprising a risk premium of
4%.
Coconut

Discounted cash flows		

- Timber

The valuation model considers

- Current Market Price per Tree

The estimated fair value

component

the discounting of the scrap

Estimated current market price of a

would increase/(decrease)

value, being the timber

tree is treated as equivalent to Rs.2,200

if;

component of a coconut tree,

(Previous year - Rs.2,200)

using current market price of
such tree.
Current market price is
discounted for the number of
years that a tree would take

- the estimated current
market price were higher/
(lower)
- the risk-adjusted discount
rate were lower/(higher)

for uprooting using a riskadjusted discount rate of 13%
comprising a risk premium of
4%.		
2015

2014

Rs. '000

Rs. '000

19.10 Cost/valuation
Balance at the beginning of the year

-

-

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

6,669

-

Balance at the end of the year

6,669

-

19.11 Bearer biological assets, namely Rubber and Coconut plantations are recognized at its fair value less cost to sell under
LKAS 41 - Agriculture. However the Company measures Tea and other bearer biological Assets at cost using LKAS 16 Property ,Plant & Equipment in accordance with the new ruling issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri
Lanka dated 2nd March 2012, due to the impracticability of carrying out proper fair valuation.

19.12 Rubber and Coconut plantations as at 31st March 2015 of the Group was valued by Mr K.T.D. Tissera, an independent
Chartered Valuation Surveyor as per the Valuation Report dated 06th May 2015 having separately valued latex/crop
and timber components based on the physically verified statistics on a field by field basis. Rubber and Coconut
plantations were retrospectively valued as at 31st March 2014 by the same Chartered Valuation Surveyor on a field by
field basis.
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19.13 The valuation has been prepared in respect of each estate separately for the latex/nuts and the timber component of
the Rubber/Coconut plantation. The Rubber and Coconut plants having up to six years of ages as at the reporting date
have been taken at cost.

19.14 Determination of risk premium
As indicated under 19.9, risk-adjusted discount rate includes a risk premium of 3% for yield component in rubber and
coconut and 4% for timber component. The Group has considered following factors in deciding the risk premium for
the year.
1. The illiquid nature of the plantations prior to maturity
2. Lack of market evidences as to the value of biological assets throughout their life cycle
3. Risk in relation to diseases affecting the Biological Assets
4. Value of varieties of timber for their highest and the best use
The Group has also considered following additional factors in this regard

.

“Rubber and Coconut yield is sold through a well established auction system where reliable information on current
market is reflected. However the market prices of timber varies from location to location which is regulated by few
institutions and mainly by individuals.
The costs associated with production of latex and nuts are systematically recorded and easily accessed but the costs
associated with timber harvesting also varies from location to location depending on the institution or the individual
who perform the harvesting operation.
Significant assumptions used in the valuation of Rubber and Coconut plantations are as follows:
Future cash flows of timber component of Rubber and Coconut are determined by references to current timber prices
without considering the inflationary effect.						
The ongoing cost of growing trees which are deducted in determining the net cash flows are constant in real terms.		
Rubber/Coconut Plants have been valued working out the period that would take for those trees to be harvested.		
Due consideration has been given for cost of felling and transport.

19.15 Sensitivity analysis for bearer biological assets								
Sensitivity variation sales price
Values as appearing in the Statement of Financial Position are very sensitive to price changes with regard to the
average sales prices applied. Simulations made for rubber, coconut and timber show that a rise or decrease by 10% of
the estimated future selling price has the following effect on the net present value of biological assets:

As at 31st March

Rubber
Coconut

2015

2014

+10%

+10%

+10%

+10%

Variance

Variance

Variance

Variance

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

198,326

(198,326)

-

-

2,702

(2,702)

-

-

Sensitivity variation on discount rate					
Values as appearing in the Statement of Financial Position are very sensitive to changes of the discount rate applied.
Simulations made for rubber, coconut and timber show that a rise or decrease by 1% of the estimated future discount
rate has the following effect on the net present value of biological assets;
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2014

+1%

+1%

+1%

+1%

Variance
Rs.000

Variance
Rs.000

Variance
Rs.000

Variance
Rs.000

(111,652)

124,230

-

-

(3,702)

4,040

-

-

Bearer
Rubber
Coconut

20

Consumer biological assets
Group
2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

-

3,518

-

Acquisition of subsidiaries

6,380,137

-

Balance at the end of the year (Note 20.1)

6,383,655

-

As at 31 March
st

Balance at the beginning of the year
Increase due to new planting

Group
2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

6,353,743

-

25,367

-

4,545

-

6,383,655

-

As at 31 March
st

20.1 The carrying value of timber as at the year end has been computed as follows;
Valuation of consumer biological assets
Cost of timber plant below three years of age, not considered for valuation
Growing crop nurseries

20.2 The Consumable Biological Assets as at 31st March 2015 of the Group was valued by Mr.K.T.D.Tissera, an independent
Chartered Valuation Surveyor as per the Valuation Report dated 06th May 2015 prepared on the physically verified
timber statistics provided by the Group on a tree by tree basis.

20.3 Timber Trees namely Eucalyptus Torariyana, Albezzia, Graveelia, Eucalyptus Grandis, Astonia, Pinus, Toona, Mahogany,
Teak, Jak, Turpentine, Rubber, Nadun, Mango, Pellen, Hora, Domba , Lunumidella, Wal Del and Mara on the plantations
have been taken into consideration in this valuation of Timber Trees.

20.4 In valuing the timber plantations, under-mentioned factors have been taken into consideration
1 The present age of trees
2 Maturity age of the tree - Maturity of the tree is based on the variety of the species of the tree.
3 Annual marginal increase in timber content
4 Number of years to harvest
5 Timber content of harvestable trees on maturity
6 Timber Plants having below three years of age have not been taken into the valuation
7 The timber content of immature trees at an estimated future harvestable year
8 The current price of species of timber per cubic foot at the relevant year

20.5 Trees have been valued as per the current timber prices in the domestic market based on the price list of the State
Timber Corporation and prices of timber trees sold by estates and prices of logs and sawn timber in the popular
timber traders in Sri Lanka.
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20.6 The fair value is determined on the basis of net present value of expected future cash flows using a discount rate of
13% per annum. The significant assumptions used in the valuation of Consumable Biological Assets are as follows:
1 Future cash flows are determined by references to current timber prices without considering the inflationary effect.
2 The ongoing cost of growing trees which are deducted in determining the net cash flows are constant in real terms.
3 Timber trees that have not come upto a harvestable size are valued working out the period that would take for those
trees to grow up to a harvestable size.
4 The present value of the trees is worked out based on the projected size and the estimated number of years it would
take to reach the size. This is worked out on the basis of an annual marginal increase of timber content which
normally ranges from 0.50 to 1.50 cm per year for trees of diameter girth over 10 cm.
5 The value of each matured species of timber is worked out on the price of a cubic foot of timber in the market of
the species and the available cubic content of timber in the tree.
6 Due consideration has been given for cost of felling, transport, sawing, cost to sell including obtaining of approval
for felling.

20.7 Managed trees include commercial timber plantations cultivated in estates. The cost of immature trees is treated at
approximate fair value particularly on the ground of little biological transformation has taken place and impact of the
biological transformation on price is not material. When such Plantations become mature, the additional investments
since taken over to bring them to maturity are transferred from immature to mature.

20.8 The fair value of managed trees was ascertained since LKAS 41 is only applicable for managed agricultural activity in
terms of the ruling issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. The valuation was carried but by
using Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) methods. In ascertaining the fair value of timber a physical verification was carried
out covering all the estates.

20.9 The valuations, as presented in the external valuation models based on net present values, takes into account the longterm exploitation of the timber plantation. Because of the inherent uncertainty associated with the valuation at fair
value of the biological assets due to the volatility of the variables, their carrying value may differ from their realisable
value. The Board of Directors retains their view that commodity markets are inherently volatile and that long-term price
projections are highly unpredictable. Hence, the sensitivity analysis regarding selling price and discount rate variations
as included in this note allows every investor to reasonably challenge the financial impact of the assumptions used in
LKAS 41 against his own assumptions.

20.10 The biological assets of the Group is cultivated in the leased lands. When measuring the fair value of the biological
assets it was assumed that these concessions can and will be renewed at normal circumstances. Timber content
expects to be realised in future and is included in the calculation of the fair value that takes into account the age of the
timber plants and not the expiration date of the lease.
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20.11 Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
Following table shows the valuation techniques in measuring Level 3 fair value of consumable biological asses as well
as the significant unobservable inputs used.
Type

Valuation technique used

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Inter-relationship between

		

key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement

Timber

Discounted cash flows

Determination of Timber Content

older than

The valuation model considers

Timber trees in inter-crop areas and

The estimated fair value

4 years

present value of future net

pure crop areas have been identified

would increase/(decrease)

cash flows expected to be

field-wise and spices were identified

if;

generated by the plantation

and harvestable trees were separated,

from the timber content of

according to their average girth and

managed timber plantation on

estimated age.

a tree-per-tree basis.

Timber trees that have not come up to
a harvestable size are valued working
out the period that would take for those
trees to grow up to a harvestable size.

- the estimated timber
content were higher/(lower)
- the estimated timber
prices per cubic meter were
higher/(lower)
- the estimated selling
related costs were lower/
(higher)

Expected cash flows are

Determination of Price of Timber

discounted using a risk-

Trees have been valued as per the

adjusted discount rate of 13% current timber prices per cubic meter
comprising a risk premium of

based on the price list of the State

4%.

Timber Corporation and prices of timber
trees sold by the estates and prices of

-the estimated maturity age
were higher/(lower)
- the risk-adjusted discount
rate were lower/(higher) “

logs sawn timber at the popular timber
traders in Sri Lanka.			
In this exercise, following factors have
been taken into consideration.
1. Cost of obtaining approval of felling
2. Cost of felling and cutting into logs
3. Cost of transportation
4. Sawing cost
Risk-adjusted discount rate		
2014/2015 13% (risk premium - 4%)
2013/2014 14.5% (risk premium - 4%)
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20.12 Sensitivity analysis for biological assets
20.12.1 Sensitivity variation sales price
Values as appearing in the Statement of Financial Position are very sensitive to price changes with regard to the
average sales prices applied. Simulations made for rubber, coconut and timber show that a rise or decrease by 10% of
the estimated future selling price has the following effect on the net present value of biological assets:
As at 31st March

Managed Timber

2015

2014

+10%

+10%

+10%

+10%

Variance

Variance

Variance

Variance

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

-

372,355

(372,355)

20.12.2 Sensitivity Variation on Discount Rate
Values as appearing in the Statement of Financial Position are very sensitive to changes of the discount rate applied.
Simulations made for rubber, coconut and timber show that a rise or decrease by 1% of the estimated future discount
rate has the following effect on the net present value of biological assets;
As at 31st March

Managed Timber

2015

2014

+1%

+1%

+1%

+1%

Variance

Variance

Variance

Variance

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

288,310

-

-

(239,417)

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its timber plantations;
Regulatory and environmental risks
The Group is subject to laws and regulations imposed by the environmental authorities of Sri Lanka. The Group has
established environmental policies and procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental and other laws.
Management performs regular reviews to identify environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage those risks.
Supply and demand risk
The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and sales volume of timber. When possible the
Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market supply and demand. Management performs regular
industry trend analyses to ensure that the Group’s pricing structure is in line with the market and to ensure that
projected harvest volumes are consistent with the expected demand.
Climate and other risks
The Group’s timber plantations are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases, forest fires and
other natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular forest health inspections and industry pest and disease surveys.
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Investment in subsidiaries
Number of

Group Holding %

Company Holding %

Shares
2015

As at 31st March

2015

2014

2015

2014

Nos
Excel Global Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

Carrying

Carrying

Value

Value

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

888,387

888,387

53,448,329

100

100

100

100

81,027,500

100

100

100

100

810,275

331,275

239,694

51

51

51

51

100,000

100,000

849,166,000

100

100

100

100

3,565,065

3,565,065

Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt)
Ltd
Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd
Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd

2,550,006

51

51

51

51

502,500

502,500

B G Air Service (Pvt) Ltd.

50,000

100

100

100

100

12,628

12,628

2,030,000

100

100

100

100

-

27,372

10,000

100

-

33.33

-

132,800

-

Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd.
Bodufaru Beach Resort Pvt Ltd
Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

31,936,956

51

-

51

-

255,064

-

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

150,000

60

-

60

-

44,240

-

100,000,000

100

-

100

-

701,200

-

20,000

50

-

50

-

10,000

-

3,605,000

100

-

100

-

FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd
Creations Construction &
Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd
Total

36,230

-

7,058,389

5,427,227

FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd
On 03rd March 2015, Browns Investments PLC (BIPLC), acquired remaining 50% of F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd
(FLCJV) for a consideration of Rs. 651.2 Mn.
Sun & Fun Resorts Limited.
Browns Investments PLC (BIPLC) acquired 51% stake of Sun & Fun Resorts Limited (SFRL) for a consideration of Rs.
255 Mn. SFR(P)L is a BOI approved Company which is in the process of constructing a four star international standard
hotel in Pasikudah with 71 rooms.
Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Investments PLC (BIPLC) acquired 60% of the stake of Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd (CRPL) for a consideration of
Rs. 44.24 Mn. CRPL is primarily concerned with creating and facilitating travel experiences in Sri Lanka and it is fullyfledged professional destination management Company focused on providing comprehensive travel packages.
Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd (CCE) is a reputed business venture specialized in manufacturing fixed
and movable furniture for large hotel projects. Browns Investments PLC acquired 50% stake of CCE in March 2015 for
a consideration of Rs. 10 Mn with an intention of integrating the supply chain of its leisure sector projects and with
subsequent expansion to other external hotels and leisure projects.
Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Investments PLC acquired 100% stake of Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Limited for a consideration of Rs. 36.2
Mn during the year					
Bodufaru Beach Resort (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Investments PLC and it’s subsidiaries jointly invested USD 3Mn to acquire 33.33% each, of Bodufaru Beach
Resort Limited in Maldives to develop a resort hotel. Bodufaru Beach Resort Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Republic of Maldives. 					
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21.1 Investment in subsidiaries
The fair values of identified assets and liabilities as at acquisition date were;
Acquisitions
BRPL

FLC JV

CRPL

CCEPL

BGFPL

SFRPL

Total

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Property, plant and equipment

-

2,402,373

824

7,380

2,540

497,564

2,910,681

Leasehold property

-

462,825

-

-

25,018

-

487,843

Investment properties

-

1,029,588

-

-

-

-

1,029,588

Intangible assets

-

26

-

-

-

-

26

Other long term investments

-

42,644

-

-

17,000

-

59,644

Bearer biological assets

-

5,795,037

-

-

2,970

-

5,798,007

Consumer biological assets

-

6,380,137

-

-

-

-

6,380,137

Deferred tax assets

-

221,064

-

-

-

-

221,064

Inventories

-

550,626

-

4,259

342

-

555,227

Trade and other receivables

-

469,513

20,625

2,966

30,414

172,485

696,003

parties

-

136,721

-

-

-

-

136,721

Tax recoverable

-

12,878

-

13

-

-

12,891

-

372,489

-

2,544

-

-

375,033

132,800

261,481

1,546

6,670

108

15,701

418,306

Amounts due from related

Short term investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing borrowings

-

(916,860)

-

(6,134)

-

Finance lease obligation

-

(346,034)

-

(3,856)

-

(250,000)
-

(1,172,994)
(349,890)

Retirement benefit obligations

-

(2,090,463)

-

(71)

-

-

(2,090,534)

parties

-

(973,986)

-

-

Deferred tax liabilities

-

(917,427)

-

-

-

-

(917,427)

Deferred income

-

(461,404)

-

-

-

-

(461,404)

-

(986,984)

Amounts due to related
(47,197)

(25,000)

(1,046,183)

Accounts payable and accrued
expenses

(29,192)

(2,513)

-

(23,775)

(1,042,464)

Income tax payable

-

(8,629)

-

-

-

-

(8,629)

Short term borrowings

-

(340,913)

-

-

-

-

(340,913)

Bank overdraft

-

(169,809)

-

-

(182,146)

(8,604)

(3,733)

2,654

27,462

Net identifiable assets and
liabilities

132,800

10,924,893

(6,197)

386,975

11,468,587
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Acquisitions
BRPL

FLC JV

CRPL

CCEPL

BGFPL

SFRPL

Total

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(8,379,824)

2,479

(1,327)

132,800

2,545,069

(3,718)

1,327

-

651,200

-

651,200

Non controlling interest

-

-

(189,617)

(8,568,305)

27,462

197,358

2,900,298

-

-

-

651,200

44,000

10,000

36,050

255,000

-

-

-

-

Share of net assets recognized
up to acquisition date
Less
Fair value of the previously
held interest
Cash paid on acquisition

132,800

(1,242,669)

1,129,050

Gain on bargain purchase

-

(1,242,669)

Goodwill

-

-

47,718

8,673

8,588

57,642

122,621

Cash paid on acquisition

132,800

651,200

44,000

10,000

36,050

255,000

1,129,050

Cash at bank acquired

(132,800)

Analysis of cash on acquisition
of the subsidiaries

Net cash outflow and inflow

-

(91,672)

(1,546)

1,934

3,625

(15,701)

(236,160)

559,528

42,454

11,934

39,675

239,299

892,890

The results of the acquisition of FLC Joint Venture Co, (Pvt) Ltd
Carrying amount of previously held interest of FLC (Note 22)
Fair value adjustment on the carrying amount
Fair value of the previously held interest

1,272,534
(621,334)
651,200

Gain on bargain purchases
Fair value adjustment on the carrying amount
Gain on bargain purchase
Net result recognised in comprehensive income

(621,334)
1,242,669
621,335
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22

Investments in equity
accounted investees
Number of
Shares
2015

As at 31st March
Group

Group Holding %
2015

Company Holding %

2014

2015

2014

Nos

Carrying
Value

Carrying
Value

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd

50,000

-

50

-

50

-

1,435,380

Taprobane Plantations Ltd

22,500

45

45

45

45

-

-

800,000

40

40

40

40

4,000

4,000

200,587,305

20.38

20.38

20.38

20.38

1,004,699

770,038

1,008,699

2,209,418

50

-

50,000

45

23

23

Virginia International
Investments Ltd
Taprobane Holdings PLC
Company
FLC Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd

50,000

Taprobane Plantations Ltd

22,500

Virginia International
Investments Ltd
Taprobane Holdings PLC

50
45

45

45

800,000

40

40

40

40

4,000

4,000

200,587,305

20.38

20.38

20.38

20.38

589,208

589,208

593,231

643,231

Group share of net assets of
equity accounted investees
Equity value of investment as at 1st April
2013

THPLC
Rs.000

FLCJV
Rs.000

BHRPL
Rs.000

TPL
Rs.000

VIIL
Rs.000

Total
Rs.000

-

1,487,871

1,146,580

2,228

4,000

2,640,679

565,447

-

-

-

-

565,447

Transfer from long term investments

24,211

-

-

-

-

24,211

Share of profit/(loss) of associate
company after tax

30,951

11,899

(49,966)

-

(9,344)

(11,781)

Investment made during the year

Other comprehensive income
Other equity movements

19
(1,005)

Share buy back

-

Dividend paid

-

Gain on bargaining purchase
Transfer to subsidiary
Equity value of investment as at 31st March
2014
Share of profit/(loss) of associate
company after tax
Other comprehensive income
Other equity movements

(2,228)

116,023

-

-

104,261

-

(88,422)

-

-

(89,427)

-

(435,000)

(52,607)

150,415

-

-

-

770,038

1,435,380

-

-

(435,000)

-

-

-

(52,607)

-

-

-

150,415

-

-

(689,215)

-

-

4,000

(689,215)

2,209,418

36,223

(135,441)

-

-

-

6,059

(41,144)

-

-

-

(35,085)

32,736

-

-

-

225,115

192,379

(99,218)

Dividend paid

-

(19,000)

-

-

-

(19,000)

Transfer to subsidiary

-

(1,272,534)

-

-

-

(1,272,534)

-

-

4,000

Equity value of investment as at 31st
March 2015

1,004,699

-

1,008,699
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Summarized financial information of equity accounted investees
For the year ended 31st March 2015

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income

FLCJV

TPL

VIIL

THPLC

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

6,595,350

94,849

-

9,932,415

(1,909,584)

(83,870)

-

(8,022,789)

4,685,766

10,979

-

1,909,626

134,480

-

-

316,176

Expenses

(6,370,263)

(30,684)

-

Profit/(loss) before taxation

(1,550,017)

(19,705)

-

283,319

-

(60,436)

-

222,883

-

(56,646)

-

166,237

Income tax expenses

131,307

Profit/(loss) after taxation

(1,418,710)

Loss from discontinued operations

-

Profit/(loss) for the year
For the year ended 31st March 2014

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Expenses

(1,418,710)

(19,705)
(19,705)

(1,942,483)

FLCJV

BHRPL

TPL

VIIL

THPLC

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

6,414,417

816,220

105,160

-

711,658

(5,976,835)

(140,686)

(84,377)

-

(434,362)

675,534

20,783

-

277,296

437,582
318,620

23,370

-

-

57,664

(653,734)

(943,131)

(34,810)

-

(132,650)

Profit/(loss) before taxation

102,468

(244,227)

(14,027)

-

202,310

Income tax expenses

(77,621)

Profit/(loss) after taxation

24,847

(11,712)
(255,939)

As at 31st March 2015

Non current assets

-

-

(29,193)

-

173,117

TPL

VIIL

THPLC

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

(14,027)

261

-

8,545,476

Current assets

29,006

10,000

7,291,006

Total assets

29,267

10,000

15,836,482

-

-

(2,865,125)
(8,040,398)

Non current liabilities
Current liabilities

(59,249)

-

Net assets

(29,982)

10,000

As at 31st March 2014

Non current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Non current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets

4,930,959

FLCJV

TPL

VIIL

THPLC

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

17,096,397

303

-

6,573,881

2,444,587

8,712

10,000

9,293,474

19,540,984

9,015

10,000

15,867,355

-

(13,825,947)

-

(6,362,557)

(2,844,277)

(19,291)

-

(5,725,813)

2,870,760

(10,276)

10,000

3,778,985
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Other financial assets-Non-current
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Quoted equity securities (Note 23.1.& 23.3)

163,522

209,456

160,000

206,759

Unquoted equity securities (Note 23.2 & 23.4)

710,290

669,760

665,265

667,574

20,829

158,556

-

150,000

894,641

1,037,772

825,265

1,024,333

As at 31 March
st

Long term deposits

No of Shares
As at 31 March
st

Group

Value

2015

2014

2015

2014

Nos

Nos

Rs.000

Rs.000

23.1 Quoted equity securities
Sierra Cables PLC

7,400

32,202,953

30

54,771

40,000,000

40,000,000

160,000

152,000

Lanka IOC PLC

27,800

27,800

1,122

1,072

Vallibal Finance PLC

33,900

33,900

1,526

1,007

3,810

3,810

773

548

26,200

26,200

Commercial Leasing & Finance PLC

DFCC Bank PLC
Raigam Wayamba Salterns PLC

71

58

163,522

209,456

Group

23.2 Unquoted equity securities
Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd

12,490,250

12,490,250

366,938

351,590

Sierra Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

4,494,492

4,494,492

298,325

265,984

Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd

6,483,375

84,000

43,262

609

100

100

3

3

39,100

39,100

1,762

1,574

-

20

Hapugastenna Plantation Ltd
Confifi Trading (Pvt) Ltd (previously known as Confifi
Finance (Pvt) Ltd)
Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

-

50,000

710,290

669,760

Company

23.3 Quoted equity securities
Sierra Cables PLC
Commercial Leasing & Finance PLC

-

32,202,953

-

54,759

40,000,000

40,000,000

160,000

152,000

160,000

206,759

Company

23.4 Unquoted equity securities
Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd
Sierra Holdings (Pvt) Ltd
Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

12,490,250

12,490,250

366,939

351,590

4,494,492

4,494,492

298,326

265,984

-

20

-

50,000

665,265

667,574
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Deferred tax assets
Recognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are attributable to the originations of following temporary differences:
Group
As at 31 March
st

Employee benefits
Unutilised tax losses
Total recognised deferred tax assets

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

934,219

-

-

-

590,383

-

-

-

1,524,602

-

-

-

222,731

-

-

-

Movement in recognised deferred tax assets
Balance at the beginning of the year
On Acquisition of subsidiary
Originations / reversal to the income statement
Balance at the end of the year

25

-

-

-

-

221,064

-

-

-

1,667

-

-

-

222,731

-

-

-

Inventories
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

98,118

79,654

-

-

Work-in-progress

4,844

-

-

-

Finished goods

1,704

-

-

-

55,333

1,921

-

-

372,530

-

-

-

50,317

-

-

-

739

-

-

-

As at 31 March
st

Raw material

Input material
Harvested crop
- Tea
- Rubber
- Coconut
- Others
Consumables and spares
Less: Allowance for impairment

1,827

-

-

-

53,080

-

-

-

638,492

81,575

-

-

-

-

-

81,575

-

-

(8,408)
630,084
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Trade and other receivables
Group
As at 31 March
st

Trade receivables
Allowance for impairment
Other receivables (Note 26.1)

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

775,082

351,348

-

-

(15,419)

(12,159)

-

-

759,663

339,189

-

-

1,104,433

344,066

222,909

37,784

1,864,096

683,255

222,909

37,784

5,372

4,842

-

-

22,756

7,118

-

-

26.1 Other receivables
WHT recoverable
Economic Service Charge recoverable
Dividend receivable

-

-

435

24,439

Advance and prepayments

342,553

34,649

201,500

-

Mobilisation advances

581,824

241,308

-

-

Advance to capital expenses

4,374

-

-

-

Refundable deposits

1,250

1,250

-

-

10,822

-

10,822

-

Proceeds receivable on disposal of investment
property
Others

27

135,482

54,899

10,152

13,345

1,104,433

344,066

222,909

37,784

Loans to related parties
Group
As at 31 March
st

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

27.1 Non-current
Dankotuwa Porcelain PLC

56,837

50,727

56,837

50,727

56,837

50,727

56,837

50,727

Royal Fernwood Porcelain Ltd

-

77,842

-

77,842

Lexinton Holding Ltd

-

5,381

-

5,381

Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

193,791

180,000

Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

-

-

102,548

-

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

17,712

27,804

32,382

-

32,382

-

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

1,063

-

Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd

-

-

239,089

-

27.2 Current

Alpha Kinam Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

Eden Hotel Lanka PLC

-

-

1,477

-

32,382

83,223

588,062

291,027
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Amounts due from related parties
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Samudra Beach Resort (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

919,530

1,092,907

Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd

-

-

12,933

20,542

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

-

111

BG Air Services (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

19,165

-

Bodufaru Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

13

-

Commercial Leasing & Finance PLC

35,350

-

-

-

Taprobane Plantations Ltd

11,132

7,170

-

-

189

-

-

-

As at 31 March
st

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Amounts due from other related companies

Ishara Traders (Pvt) Ltd
Lanka ORIX Finance PLC

137,934

922

-

2,220

Lanka ORIX Leasing PLC

25

17,627

-

-

Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd

417

2,601

-

-

F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd

-

373,800

647,685

373,800

Millennium Development (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

6,489

5,767

Excel Global Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

-

419

8

-

-

-

Royal Fernwood Porcelain Ltd

-

2,060

-

2,060

Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

-

327

2,482

327

Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

31,537

-

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

19,636

-

Browns Global Farm ( Pvt) Ltd

-

-

46,400

-

Masons Mixture Ltd.

-

91

-

-

Ishara Traders (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

189

-

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

46

-

Excel Restaurants (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

1,750

1,750

185,055

404,598

1,707,855

1,499,903

-

-

1,707,855

1,499,903

IG Browns Rubber Industries (Pvt) Ltd

Less: Provision for inter company receivables

185,055

(91)
404,507
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Income tax recoverable
Group
2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

7,444

228

-

-

Acquisition of subsidiary

12,891

7,216

-

-

Current income tax expense

(1,067)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,740

-

-

-

21,031

7,444

-

-

Balance at the beginning of the year

WHT Recoverable

23

Payment made/(recovered) during the year
Balance at the end of the year

30

Company

2015

As at 31 March
st

Other financial assets-current
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Investments in equity securities (Note 30.1)

337,403

803,669

302,089

792,652

Fixed deposits

193,308

-

-

-

-

77,703

-

1,115

As at 31 March
st

Savings deposits
Investments in REPOs
Other investments (Note 30.2)

6,542

16,250

1,259

263,232

-

-

800,485

897,622

303,348

2015

As at 31st March

793,767

2014

No.of

Cost of

shares

investment

Market

No.of

Cost of

value of

shares

investment

investment
Nos.

Rs.000

43,670,061

306,646

Rs.000

Market
value of
investment

Nos.

Rs.000

Rs.000

257,653 40,520,061

288,061

178,289

30.1 Investments in equity securities
Quoted securities-Group
Agstar PLC
C T Land Development PLC
F L C Holdings PLC
Hayleys PLC
Seylan Bank PLC - Non Voting
The Finance Company PLC

19,500

195

43,978,213

43,978

105

35

136,761

4,733

20

19,500

195

569

70,365 43,978,213

683

43,978

92,354

293,105

119,984

83,535

8,670 12,131,541

31

409,008

448,880

1

1

149

42

355,588

337,403

3,720

861,375

803,669

275,311

172,788

Quoted securities -Company
Agstar PLC

39,270,061

275,311

231,693 39,270,061

F L C Holdings PLC

43,978,213

43,978

70,365 43,978,213

105

35

Hayleys PLC

31

43,978

92,354

293,105

119,984

83,535

404,155

443,934

149

41

843,577

792,652

Seylan Bank PLC - Non Voting

-

-

- 11,998,208

The Finance Company PLC

-

-

-

319,324

302,089

3,720
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Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

263,232

-

-

-

263,232

-

-

-

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

30.2 Other investments
Investment in unit trust

31

Cash and cash equivalents
Group
As at 31st March

Company

Cash in hand

318,224

1,571

4,713

2

Cash at banks

374,133

155,102

-

8,899

692,357

156,673

4,713

8,901

Unfavourable bank balances
Bank overdrafts

(218,667)
473,690

32

(35,616)

-

121,057

4,713

8,901

2015

2014

2015

2014

Nos.000

Nos.000

Nos.000

Nos.000

1,860,000

1,860,000

1,860,000

1,860,000

Stated capital
Group
As at 31st March

Company

Issued and fully paid ordinary share capital
Balance at the beginning of the year
Right issue during the year

1,860,000

-

1,860,000

-

Balance at the end of the year

3,720,000

1,860,000

3,720,000

1,860,000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Value of shares
Balance at the beginning of the year

5,380,000

5,380,000

5,380,000

5,380,000

Right issue during the year

2,325,000

-

2,325,000

-

Balance at the end of the year

7,705,000

5,380,000

7,705,000

5,380,000

The shares of Browns Investments PLC are quoted in the Colombo Stock Exchange under Diri Savi Board.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.
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Reserves
Group
As at 31 March
st

Revaluation reserve
Assets available for sale reserve

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

660,373

526,548

163,097

161,900

(222,253)

(470,663)

(219,171)

(464,738)

(56,074)

(302,838)

438,120

55,885

Revaluation reserve
Revaluation reserve relates to the amount by which the Group has revalued its property, plant and equipment.
Available for sale reserve
This represents the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the investments
are derecognised or impaired.

34

Interest bearing loans borrowings
Group
As at 31 March
st

Amount payable after one year
Amount payable within one year

34.1 Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisition on subsidiary
Loans obtained during the year
Repayments during the year
Disposal of subsidiary
Balance at the end of the year

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

3,604,330
3,010,591
6,614,921

1,584,133
4,339,366
5,923,499

1,389,327
1,654,357
3,043,684

701,075
3,699,999
4,401,074

5,923,499
1,172,994
5,090,495
(5,572,067)
6,614,921

1,261,405
1,502,797
4,563,059
(1,147,342)
(256,420)
5,923,499

4,401,074
4,173,595
(5,530,985)
3,043,684

946,000
4,507,888
(1,052,814)
4,401,074

858,750
422,607
1,149,320
2,122,567
69,720
2,082
1,989,875
6,614,921

701,075
10,315
347,731
1,500,000
7,832
150,000
102,270
100,000
1,482
3,002,794
5,923,499

849,671
204,138
1,989,875
3,043,684

701,075
347,729
150,000
102,270
100,000
3,000,000
4,401,074

34.2 Lending institution
Bank of Ceylon
National Development Bank PLC
Sampath Bank PLC
Seylan Bank PLC (Note 34.2.1)
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
People's Merchant Finance PLC
Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka PLC
Union Bank of Colombo PLC
DFCC Bank
Hatton National Bank PLC

34.2.1 Details of related party loans included in interest bearing loans and borrowings			
Lender

Seylan bank

Relationship

Affiliate

Interest rate

3 month
AWPLR + 2%
3 month
AWPLR + 2%
10.50%
10.50%
10.50%
11%

Principal
amount
Rs.000

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

1,500,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

400,000

400,000

-

150,000
75,000
100,000
250,000

50,000
30,900
91,667
50,000
2,122,567

1,500,000
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Finance lease obligation
Group
As at 31 March
st

Net liability to lessor of JEDB/SLSPC estate
Other finance leases

35.1 Amount payable after one year
Interest in suspense

35.2 Amount payable within one Year
Interest in suspense

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

290,568

-

-

-

67,071

5,377

-

-

357,639

5,377

-

-

547,722

3,324

-

-

(212,444)

-

-

335,278

3,289

-

-

41,891

2,217

-

-

(19,530)
22,361

(35)

-

-

2,088

(129)

-

-

35.3 Balance at the beginning of the year

5,541

-

-

-

New leases obtained during the year

7,103

2,997

-

-

580,525

2,544

-

-

-

-

-

5,541

-

-

-

-

-

-

On acquisition of subsidiary
Repayments during the year
Balance at the end of the year
Interest in suspense (Note 35.4)

(3,556)
589,613
(231,974)
357,639

(164)
5,377

35.4 Interest in suspense
Balance at the beginning of the year
On acquisition of subsidiaries
New leases obtained during the Year
Finance charges written off during the year
Balance at the end of the year

36

164

-

-

-

230,635

-

-

-

1,603

164

-

-

-

-

-

164

-

-

(428)
231,974

Retirement benefit obligations
Group
As at 31 March
st

Balance at the beginning of the year
On acquisition of subsidiary
On disposal of subsidiary

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

33,256

32,248

-

-

2,090,534
-

21,311

-

-

(23,311)

-

-

Expenditure recognised in the income statement
(Note 36.1)
Payments made during the year

6,279

6,608

-

-

(2,321)

(3,756)

-

-

Expenses recognized to other comprehensive income
(Note 36.2)
Balance at the end of the year

1,902

156

-

-

2,129,650

33,256

-

-
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Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Current service cost

4,179

6,513

-

-

Interest costs

2,100

95

-

-

Total

6,279

6,808

-

-

1,902

156

-

-

1,902

156

-

-

As at 31 March
st

36.1 Expenditure recognized in the income statement

36.2 Other comprehensive income.
Actuarial gain/(loss)

The provision for retirement benefit obligations for the year is based on the actuarial valuation carried out by
professionally qualified actuaries, Messer. Actuarial & Management Consultants (Pvt) Ltd as at 31st March 2015. This
liability is not externally funded.
The Principal assumptions used by the Group.
Group
As at 31 March
st

Discount rate
Future salary increases
Retirement age - Years				
Staff turnover factor

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

9.5% - 11%

10% - 10.5%

-

-

8% - 10%

7.5%-9%

-

-

55 - 60

55 - 60

-

-

5% - 20%

5% - 20%

-

-

36.3 Sensitivity of assumptions employed in actuarial valuation
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions employed with
all other variables held constant in the employment benefit liability measurement.
The sensitivity of the income statement and the financial position to the effect of the assumed changes in discount
rate and salary increment rate on the profit or loss and employment benefit obligation for the year.
Discount rate

37

Salary escalation

-1%

1%

-1%

1%

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Impact on income statement

(19,375)

19,742

19,858

(19,437)

Impact on financial position

19,375

(19,742)

(19,858)

19,437

Deferred tax liabilities
Group
As at 31st March

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Balance at the beginning of the year

247,360

45,253

-

-

On acquisition of subsidiary

917,427

237,371

-

-

Deferred tax expense on income statement

(37,714)

3,912

-

-

-

-

-

(39,176)

-

-

247,360

-

-

Deferred tax expense on other comprehensive income

-

On disposal of subsidiary

-

Balance at the end of the year

1,127,073
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As at 31st March

Group
2015
Rs.000

2014
Rs.000
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Company
2015
Rs.000

2014
Rs.000

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the originations
of following temporary differences:
Unutilised tax losses
Retirement benefit obligations

38

(455,774)

(14,151)

-

-

(32,645)

(23,572)

-

-

Property, plant & equipment

1,573,696

280,945

-

-

Bearer biological assets

3,450,128

-

-

-

Consumer biological assets

4,475,703

-

-

-

Revaluation of Properties

1,041,107

639,935

-

-

10,052,215

883,157

-

-

Deferred income
As at 31st March
Capital grants (Note 38.1)
PHDT lease rentals (Note 38.2)
Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd (Note 38.3)
Profit on sale and lease back transaction

Group
2015
Rs.000

2014
Rs.000

Company
2015
Rs.000

2014
Rs.000

397,909

-

-

-

5,558

-

-

-

56,248

-

-

-

1,690

-

-

-

461,405

-

-

-

On acquisition of subsidiary

634,150

-

-

-

Balance at the end of the year

634,150

-

-

-

38.1 Capital grants
Total capital grants received

Total amortization
On acquisition of subsidiary

236,241

-

-

Balance at the end of the year

236,241

-

-

-

397,909

-

-

-

The above represents the following,
The funds received from the Plantation Housing and Social Welfare Trust (PHSWT), MTIP, PDP and PHDT for the
development of workers’ welfare facilities and improvement to institutional facilities.
The funds received from the plantation reform project for the development of forestry plantations.
“The amount spent is capitalised under the relevant classification of property, plant and equipment and corresponding
grant component is reflected under deferred grants and subsidies and is being amortized over the useful life span of
the related asset.“
Grant related to the biological assets which are measured at fair value less point to sell cost is directly charged to the
carrying value of such assets in accordance with the applicable financial framework.

38.2 PHDT lease rentals
On acquisition of subsidiary

5,558

-

-

-

Balance at the end of the year

5,558

-

-

-

Premises at St. Andrew's Drive in Nuwara Eliya has been leased out to Plantation Human Development Trust (PHDT)
for a period of 20 years commencing from August 2005 at a total lease rental of Rs.10.7Mn
Lease rentals received are deferred and amortized over the lease period commencing from August 2005.
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Group
As at 31 March
st

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

56,248

-

-

-

56,248

-

-

-

38.3 Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd (RFELL)
On acquisition of subsidiary

This represents the value of nos. 6,399,375 of ordinary shares received by Maturata Plantations Ltd equivalent to 20%
of the issued ordinary Shares of RFELL at Rs. 10/- each in lieu of releasing the leasehold rights of 488 hectares in
Enselwatte Estate, Deniyaya for eco tourism project. The value of ordinary Shares are deferred and amortized over the
unexpired balance lease period.
Group
As at 31st March

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

537

-

-

-

38.4 Maturity analysis
PHDT lease rentals
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not latter than five years
Later than five years

2147

-

-

-

2,874

-

-

-

5,558

-

-

-

Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd
Not later than one year

1861

-

-

-

7,444

-

-

-

46,943

-

-

-

56,248

-

-

-

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

39,539

-

-

-

39,539

-

-

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

677,643

92,384

-

-

39,747

9,859

-

-

Accrued expenses

190,544

134,033

540

15,477

Other payables

564,543

109,119

21,468

313

15,640

2,462

-

-

Later than one year and not latter than five years
Later than five years

39

Loans from related parties - Non-current
Group
As at 31st March

Brown & Company PLC

40

Company

Trade and other payables
Group
As at 31st March

Trade payables
VAT payable

NBT payable
Excess funds received in respect of Initial Public Offer
(IPO) refundable to subscribers
Project payments

Company

-

-

-

24

17,000

35,591

-

-

1,505,117

383,448

22,008

15,814
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Loans from related parties- Current
Group
As at 31 March
st

S F L Services (Pvt) Ltd

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

325

54,438

325

54,438

Excel Restaurants (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

20,144

20,221

Browns Group Industries (Pvt) Ltd

-

5,702

-

5,702

Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd

-

-

2,991

2,757

Brown & Company PLC

1,532,099

378,215

793,005

28,215

252,846

250,000

-

-

1,785,270

688,355

816,465

111,333

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

33,044

185,424

11,452

24,273

39

-

-

-

8,126

-

-

-

-

6,811

-

-

Austin Fund (Pvt) Ltd

42

117

Amounts due to related parties
Group
As at 31st March

Company

Amounts due to holding company
Brown & Company PLC
Amounts due to other related companies
Browns Group Industries (Pvt) Ltd
Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd
Taprobane Plantations Ltd
F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd
S F L Services (Pvt) Ltd
BG Air Services (Pvt) Ltd

-

50,000

-

50,000

10

1,160

-

500

-

-

-

63

48

-

-

-

442,173

347,573

1,430

-

Agstar PLC

10,325

-

-

-

Lanka ORIX Finance PLC

61,550

-

-

-

Commercial Leasing & Finance PLC
Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC

LOLC Investments Ltd

4,743

-

-

-

560,058

590,968

12,882

74,836
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Income tax payable
Group

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Balance at the beginning of the year

68,571

29,943

23,199

25,180

Current income tax expense

15,759

14,280

124

-

On acquisition of subsidiary

8,629

31,052

-

-

-

-

74,868

23,323

25,180

-

-

As at 31 March
st

Reversal of income tax over/under provision

14,478

(407)

107,437
Payments made during the period
Withholding tax
Income tax
Balance at the end of the year

(174)
(50,141)

(6,297)

-

-

68,571

23,323

23,199

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

59,806

-

-

-

170,696

-

-

-

57,122
Group

As at 31st March

44

Company

Other short term interest bearing liabilities
Lanka Commodity Brokers Ltd
Forbes & Walker Tea Brokers (Pvt) Ltd.,
Forbes & Walker Commodity Brokers (Pvt) Ltd.,
John Keells PLC

45

(1,981)

2,000

-

-

-

108,411

-

-

-

340,913

-

-

-

Net assets per ordinary share
Computation of the net assets per ordinary share has been done based on the total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue as at the reporting date and calculated as
follows.
Group

Company

As at

As at

As at

As at

31.03.2015

31.03.2014

31.03.2015

31.03.2014

13,729,946

10,622,748

8,640,187

6,312,784

3,720,000

1,860,000

3,720,000

1,860,000

3.69

5.71

2.32

3.39

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company (Rs.000)
Number of ordinary shares in issue as at the
reporting date (Nos. 000)
Net assets per ordinary share (Rs.)

√

√

√

√

√

√

Rimoe Saldin*

Kalsha Amarasinghe

Shanker Somasunderam

Kapila Jayawardena

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

Dr. Jayanta

√

√

√

LOLCPLC

√

√

√

√

BCPLC

.+ Alternate Director

** Appointed on 29th September 2014

* Resigned on 14th November 2014

Rajah Nanayakkara **

√

√

Stefan Farukhan

Swaminathan**

√

√

Ruwan Sugathadasa

√

BIPLC

Kamantha Amarasekera

Ishara Nanayakkara

Name of the Director

EGH(P)L

√

√

AE(P)L

√

√

√

SBRPL
√

√

√

√

BHRL
√

√

GP(P)L
√

√

BT(P)L

BGAS(P)L
√

√

√

√

√

√

√+ √+

FLCJVC(P)L
√

√

√

FLCHPLC
√

√

√

√

√

FLMCP(P)L
√

√

√

√

√

MPL
√

PPL
√

√

√

√

FLCPH(P)L
√

DP(P)L
√

EP(P)L
√

√

FLCM(P)L

46
Related party disclosures
46.1 The Directors of Browns Investments PLC are also the Directors of the following related Companies.

FLCP(P)L
√

FLCHPPLC
√

√

√

√

HHP(P)L
√

THP(P)L
√

SHP(P)L
√

TTLRH(P)L
√

TPL
√

VIIL
√

AFPLC
√

√

√

SL(P)L
√

√+

MD(P)L
√

√

ER(P)L
√

EHLPLC
√

√

√

√

RR(P)L
√

√

√

√

PGHPLC
√

√

√

√
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Name of the Company

Abbreviations

Browns Investments PLC

BIPLC

Lanka ORIX Leasing Co. PLC

LOLCPLC

Brown & Company PLC

BCPLC

Nature of the Relationship
Company
Ultimate Parent Company
Immediate Parent Company

Excel Global Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

EGH(P)L

Subsidiary

Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd

AE(P)L

Subsidiary

Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

SBR(P)L

Subsidiary

Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd

BHRL

Subsidiary

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd

GP(P)L

Subsidiary

BG Air Services (Pvt) Ltd

BGAS(P)L

Subsidiary

Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd

BT(P)L

Subsidiary

F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd

FLCJVC(P)L

Subsidiary

F L C Holdings PLC

FLCHPLC

Sub-subsidiary

F L M C Plantations (Pvt) Ltd

FLMCP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Maturata Plantations Ltd

MPL

Sub-subsidiary

Pussellawa Plantations Ltd

PPL

Sub-subsidiary

F L C Power Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

FLCPH(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Dolekande Power (Pvt) Ltd

DP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Enselwatte Power (Pvt) Ltd

EP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

F L P C Management (Pvt) Ltd

FLPCM(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd

FLCP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

F L C Hydro Power PLC

FLCHPPLC

Sub-subsidiary

Halgranoya Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd

HHP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Thebuwana Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd

THP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Stellenberg Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd

SHP(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

The Tea Leaf Resort Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

TTLRHL

Sub-subsidiary

Taprobane Plantations Ltd

TPL

Virginia International Investments Ltd

VIIL

AgStar PLC

AFPLC

Other Affiliate

Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd

RFEL(P)L

Other Affiliate

Sifang Lanka (Pvt) Ltd

SL(P)L

Other Affiliate

Millennium Development (Pvt) Ltd

MD(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Excel Restaurants (Pvt) Ltd

ER(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Eden Hotel Lanka PLC

EHPLC

Sub-subsidiary

Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

RR(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Palm Garden Hotels PLC

PGHPLC

Sub-subsidiary

Dickwella Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

DR(P)L

Sub-subsidiary

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

CR(P)L

Subsidiary

Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd

BGF(P)L

Subsidiary

Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd

CCE(P)L

Subsidiary

Associate
Associate
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46.2 Substantial shareholding and immediate and ultimate parent company
The company's parent company is Brown & Company PLC which holds 39.75 % of the issued ordinary shares of the
Company as at the reporting date and ultimate parent company is Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC.

46.3 Key management personnel information
According to LKAS 24, " Related Party Disclosures", Key management personnel are those having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the entity. Accordingly, the Board of Directors
(including executive and non-executive directors ) has been classified as key management personnel of the Company.

46.4 Related party transactions
The Group/Company carries out transactions in the ordinary course of business with parties who are defined as
related parties as per Sri Lanka Accounting Standard- LKAS 24, "Related Party Disclosures", which are transacted
normal business terms.
The pricing applicable to related party transactions is based on the assessment of risk and pricing model of the
Company and is comparable with that is applicable to transactions between the company and its unrelated customers.
Loans and borrowings between related parties have been at prevailing commercial rates and were made on terms
equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions.
Name of the related party

Balance as Loan granted
at 1st April
during the
2014
year
Rs.000
Rs.000

Interest
charged

Recovery

Write-off

Balance
as at 31st
March 2015
Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

6,110

-

-

56,837

Loan to related parties-company
Non-current
Dankotuwa Porcelain PLC

50,727

-

This unsecured loan was granted to Dankotuwa Porcelain PLC in 2013 will
be recovered after 1st January 2019 with a 6% interest accretion.
Current
Alpha Kinam Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

-

30,000

2,382

-

32,382

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd

-

1,000

64

-

1,064

77,842

-

1,408

(79,250)

-

-

5,381

284,500

23,315

(307,815)

Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd

-

234,800

4,289

-

-

239,089

Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd

-

100,000

2,548

-

-

102,548

27,805

-

1,133

(11,226)

-

17,712

180,000

35,000

18,791

(40,000)

-

193,791

Royal Fernwood Porcelain Ltd
Lexington Holding Ltd

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd
Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

(5,381)

-

Brown & Co, PLC

-

29,000

139

(29,139)

-

-

Eden Hotel Lanka PLC

-

132,803

1,674

(133,000)

-

1,477

Palm Garden Hotel PLC

-

66,020

753

(66,773)

-

644,900

*These short term loans are unsecured and payable on demand
Loans from related parties
Name of the related party

Balance as Loan received
at 1st April
during the
2014
year

Interest
charged

Settlements

Balance as
at
31st March
2015

Brown & Co, PLC

28,215

2,713,634

21,260

(1,970,104)

793,005

Excel Restaurant (Pvt) Ltd

20,221

-

1,740

(1,817)

20,144

5,701

-

260

(5,961)

-

54,438

-

2,165

(56,278)

2,757

-

234

Browns Group Industries (Pvt) Ltd
S. F. L. Services (Pvt) Ltd
Browns Tours (Pvt) Ltd

325
2,991
816,465

*These loans are unsecured and payable on demand
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46.4 Related party transactions Contd.
2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Taprobane Holdings PLC

-

3,161

BG Air Services ( Pvt) Ltd

-

8

19,000

50,000

FLC Holdings PLC

2,111

6,306

Agstar PLC

3,882

3,795

19,485

-

2,880

-

Short term investments

-

50,000

Interest earned

-

289

1,430

-

-

660

28,046

-

For the year ended 31st March

Dividend income

FLC Joint Venture Co, ( Pvt) Ltd

Ajax Engineers ( Pvt) Ltd
Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd
Other related party transactions
Transactions with ultimate parent company
Lanka ORIX Leasing Co. PLC

Expenses incurred
Transactions with parent company
Brown & Co. PLC

Rent received
Expenses paid
Brown & Co, PLC has been given a
corporate guarantee to ICIC for a sum of
USD 7Mn for credit facilities obtained by
Brown & Co, PLC.

Transactions with subsidiaries
Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd

Advance paid on behalf of
Construction payment paid on behalf of
Expenses incurred
Investment

Browns Hotels & Resorts Ltd

-

50,000

650,123

347,892

2,254

1,326

(479,000)

Expenses incurred

7,609

4,439

Transaction with other affiliate
LOLC Factors Ltd

Interest expenses

-

8,099

Short term loan obtained

-

305,000

Loan settlement

-

305,000

Balances of amount due form related parties and amount due to related parties disclosure in note no 28 and 42.
These balances are unsecured and payable on demand.

46.5 Transactions with key management personnel
Browns Investments PLC., considers its board of directors as key management personnel of the Company. The Board
of Directors of subsidiaries considered as key management personnel of Group companies. There were no loans given
to directors of the company during the year.
Group

Directors' emoluments

Company

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

13,302

6,172

2,684

1,658

Other than those disclosed above, there are no material transactions with the key management personnel of the
Company and its parent company.
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Contingent liabilities and assets

47.1 Contingent liabilities
Company
The Company does not anticipate any contingent liabilities which require adjustment or disclosure in the financial
statements as at the reporting date except as disclosed below.
A corporate guarantee has been given to ICICI Bank for a sum of USD 7Mn for credit facilities obtained by Brown &
Company PLC.
A corporate guarantee has been given to LOLC Factors Ltd for a sum of Rs.200mn for factoring facilities obtained by
Brown & Co, PLC.

47.2 Contingent liabilities
Group
FLC Holdings PLC has issued a corporate guarantee in favour of Lanka ORIX Leasing Co. PLC (LOLC) for a sum
Rs.275,000,000/= on behalf of Maturata Plantations Limited (MPL), a sub-subsidiary of the Group, for a revolving
credit facility obtained from LOLC by MPL of which balance outstanding as at the reporting date is Rs.166,300,503/=.
Pussellawa Plantations Ltd.
Harvesting of pinus trees
Forest Department has imposed Rs. 50.8 Mn as the stumpage payable to the Government by Pussellawa Plantations
Ltd., (PPL) a sub-subsidiary of the Company for harvesting of Forest Department's pinus trees at Delta Estate by
the Timber Lake Company. However, the company has requested forest department to reconsider the stumpage
calculation, as the said fee is more than the market value of the Timber and is not keeping in line with the Supreme
court judgment. Therefore, the amount of liability and the date of liability are uncertain as at the reporting date and
will depend on the response of the forest department.
The matter was filed by the Attorney General on behalf of the Forest Convertor General against Pussellawa Plantations’
Ltd, and Timber Lake International Company Ltd calming the recovery of a sum of Rs.50.8mn allegedly due and owing
to the plaintiff as unpaid stumpage fees.
District Court of Colombo - (Case No-34588/MR) - Justin Batepola Vs Pussellawa Plantations Ltd
This is an action field by Mr. Justin Batepola against Pussellawa Plantations Ltd seeking to recover loss and damages
in a sum of Rs.6 Mn purportedly caused to him by taking him into custody by police and by instituting action in the
Magistrates Court maliciously and without reasonable or probable cause.
The order in this matter was delivered on 23rd April, 2013 in favour of our client. This order has now been appealed by
the plaintiff. However, only a notice of appeal has been filed in the High Court of civil appeals as of date.
F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd
The Company has issued an indemnity in favour of Colombo Municipal Council against any claims or demands for any
damages to the adjacent structures and movable and immovable properties due to the construction and also relating
to boundary disputes and/or ownership disputes including access roads and service lines and issues relating to the
height or number of floors issues at the property at No 19, Dudley Senanayake Mawatha, Colombo 08.
Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
A corporate guarantee has been given to Board of Investments Sri Lanka (BOI) for a sum of Rs.60mn to obtain VAT
deferment facility to the Company.
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47.3 Contingent assets
There are no contingent assets as at the reporting date.

48

Unrecognized Contractual Commitments

48.1 Company
There have been no capital commitments contracted but not provided for, or authorized by the board but not
contracted for, outstanding as at the reporting date.

48.2 Group
a) F L C Holding PLC (FLCHPLC)
The balance commitment in the investment of IPO funds in hydro power projects has become Rs. 375,0000,000/consequent to the investment of Rs. 225,000,000/- in 22.50 Mn ordinary shares of F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd out of
the IPO funds allocated for mini hydro power projects as disclosed to the Colombo Stock Exchange by our letter dated
14th January 2015. The Company has invested Rs. 10,000,000/- in ordinary shares of Enselwatte Power (Pvt) Ltd, as
at 31st March 2015.
As per the Objectives of its IPO, the Company is expected to invest 40% in equity of The Tea Leaf Resort Holding (Pvt)
Ltd amounting to Rs. 250,000,000/= towards the development of two boutique style hotels. The investment as at 31st
March 2015 is Rs.6,095,540 /= (As at 31st March 2014 - Rs.6,095,540/=).
b)  The Tea Leaf Resort Holding (Pvt) Ltd., TTLRH(P)L
TTLRH(P)L, a subsidiary of the Group has entered into an agreement with Sierra Construction (Pvt) Ltd for the
construction of a boutique style hotel at Geragama, Kandy for Rs.494,261,681/=. The Company is in the process of
obtaining required clearances and approvals from relevant Local Governmental Authorities to commence construction.
However, the existing agreement has become outdated.
C) Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt) Ltd has entered into an agreement for a contract with Sierra Civil Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
as designing and building contractor to construct a 5 star hotel at Kosgoda. The total cost is estimated to be
Rs.1, 720Mn.
Other than as disclosed above, there have been no Capital commitments contracted but not provided for, or authorized
by the board but not contracted for, outstanding as at the reporting date.
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Assets pledged as collaterals

49.1 Assets pledged as collaterals by the Company
49.1.1 Interest bearing borrowings
Name of financial

Nature of the

institution

facility

Repayment  

Facility

terms
Rs.’000

Sampath Bank PLC

Term loan

16 quarterly

Balance Security
31.03.2015

1,000,000

Rs.’000
204,138 Pledged short term quoted

instalments
Bank of Ceylon

Term loan

120 monthly

investments
1,137,000

849,671 Mortgaged over freehold

instalments

land and building of

including 24

Samudra Beach Resorts

months grace

(Pvt) Ltd

period
Hatton National Bank PLC

Term loan

Hatton National Bank PLC

Short term

48 equal monthly

1,000,000

895,850 Corporate of Brown & Co,

instalments
-

PLC
-

1,094,025 Corporate guarantee of

loan

Brown & Co, PLC
3,043,684

49.2 Assets pledged as collaterals by the Group Companies
49.2.1 Interest bearing borrowings
Name of financial

Nature of the

institution

facility

Repayment  

Facility

terms

Balance Security
outstanding
as at
31.03.2015

FLC Holdings PLC

Speed draft

-

Rs.'000

Rs.'000

80,000

61,550 Mortgage over fixed deposit

Lanka ORIX Finance Co, PLC

amounting to Rs. 100Mn
61,550

Maturata Plantations Limited
Seylan Bank PLC

Term loan

48 monthly

150,000

Instalments
Term loan

48 monthly

50,000 Leasehold rights of Bramley
estate for Rs.13.0 Mn

100,000

Instalments

91,667 Primary mortgage for
Rs.36Mn secondary
mortgage bond for
Rs.50Mn over leasehold
rights of Gonapitiya estate

Term loan

36 monthly

75,000

Instalments

30,900 Corporate guarantee of F
L C Holdings PLC for Rs.
75Mn

F L C Holdings PLC

Term loan

On demand

361,550

361,550 On promissory notes
amounting to Rs 365Mn

National Development Bank
PLC

Term loan

48 monthly
Instalments

500,000

421,261 Securitised debt certificates
Rs 500Mn
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Name of financial

Nature of the

institution

facility

Repayment  

Facility

terms

Balance Security
outstanding
as at
31.03.2015

Rs.'000
Lanka ORIX Leasing

Term loan

Company PLC

102 monthly

4,427

Rs.'000
820 Primary continuing

Instalments

mortgage bond for
Rs.42.93 Mn over the
unexpired leasehold
rights over the land
called Anningkanda and
Panilkanda estates in
Deniyaya
Corporate Guarantee of
M/s F L C Joint Venture Co.
(Pvt) Ltd for Rs.36.11 Mn

Term loan

102 monthly

38,506

4,137 Primary continuing

Instalments
Term loan

96 monthly

mortgage bond on all
59,206

22,202 that unexpired leasehold
rights over Land, Estate

Instalments
Term loan

96 monthly

17,759

32,641 and Premises called
"Hayes Group" in Deniyaya/

Instalments

Rathnapura
On demand promissory
notes Rs.17.759Mn
Lanka ORIX Leasing Co PLC

Revolving

275,000

166,301 Corporate guarantee of M/s

credit facility

F L C Holdings PLC for Rs.
275.00 Mn
A counter guarantee was
given by MPL for Rs. 275
Mn in favour of F L C
Holdings PLC on the same
terms and conditions with
1% guarantee fee payable
MPL
1,181,479

Annual Report 2014/2015

Name of financial

Nature of the

institution

facility

Repayment  

Facility

terms

127

Balance Security
outstanding
as at
31.03.2015

Rs.'000

Rs.'000

Pussellawa Plantations Ltd
Bank of Ceylon

Term loan

120 monthly

82,425

4,079 Mortgage over leasehold

instalments
Sampath Bank PLC

Term loan

94 monthly

right of Stellenburg Estate
150,000

37,577 Primary mortgage over

instalments

leasehold rights together
with factory building
therein of Halpe Estate

Lanka ORIX Leasing

Term loan

Company PLC
Commercial Bank of Ceylon

120 Monthly

67,441

12,511 Mortgage over leasehold

instalments
Term loan

PLC

36 monthly

right of Sogama Estate
150,000

63,586 Primary mortgage over

instalments

leasehold rights together
with factory building
therein of Rothschild and
Sanquhar Estates
117,753

FLC Properties (Pvt) Ltd
Seylan Bank PLC

Term loan

36 monthly

250,000

50,000 Primary mortgage over
freehold land and building

instalments with
one year grace

in extent of 49.5 perches at

period

No.19, Dudley Senanayake
Mawatha, Colombo 08
50,000

Stellenberg Hydro Power (Pvt)
Ltd
Sampath Bank PLC

Term loan

With in 7 years

80,000

67,790 Primary mortgage bond
for Rs.80,000,000/-over

one year grace
period

the leasehold rights of
the project lands,civil
structures,power generating
plant,machinery and other
equipment of the hydro
power project.
Corporate guarantee for
Rs.80,000,000/-from F L C
Hydro Power PLC
67,790
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Name of financial

Nature of the

institution

facility

Repayment  

Facility

terms

Balance Security
outstanding
as at
31.03.2015

Rs.'000

Rs.'000

Thebuwana Hydro Power (Pvt)
Ltd
Sampath Bank PLC

Term loan

With in 7 years

100,000

100,000 Primary mortgage bond

with one years

for Rs.100,000,000/-

grace period

over entirety of shares
issued/to be issued by
Thebuwana Hydro Power
(Pvt) Ltd,supported by
an irrevocable Power of
Attorney in favour Sampath
Bank from share holders.
Corporate guarantee for
Rs.100,000,000/- from F L
C Hydro Power PLC.
100,000

Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd
Sampath Bank PLC

Term loan

With in 7 years

250,000

239,815 Primary floating mortgage

with two years

of property in Pasikudah

grace period
239,815
Eden Hotel Lanka PLC
Seylan Bank PLC

Term loan

10 BI-annually

1,900,000

1,900,000 Primary floating mortgage

instalments

bond over freehold
property at Kaluwamodera,
Aluthgama.

National Development Bank

Term loan

PLC

23 monthly

5,000

1,345 Negative pledge over

instalments

immovable property

Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
Sampath Bank PLC

Short term

-

750,000

500,000 Letter of undertaking by

loan

LOLC
2,401,345

Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd
Bank of Ceylon

Import loan

-

40,000

5,000 Mortgage over fixed
deposits in BOC and
Inventory

People's Merchant Finance

Import loan

-

10,000

2,082 Mortgage over fixed

PLC

deposits in People's Bank
and Inventory
7,082
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Nature of the

institution
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Repayment  

Facility

terms
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Balance Security
outstanding
as at
31.03.2015

Rs.'000

Rs.'000

7,000

6,134

Creations Construction &
Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
Commercial Bank Ceylon

Term loan

PLC

24 monthly
instalments

-

6,134

49.3

Finance leases
Maturata Plantations
Limited
Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka Finance lease

27,477

24,583 Absolute ownership of the

52,884

46,231 Absolute ownership of the

PLC
Peoples Leasing & Finance

asset on finance lease
Hire purchase

PLC

asset

49.4. Bank Overdrafts
Millennium Development
(Pvt) Ltd
Commercial Bank of Ceylon

Overdraft

N/A

13,750

PLC

5 Mortgage over fixed deposit
amounting to Rs.14.3 Mn
and repo amounting to
4.2Mn.

Maturata Plantations Limited
Seylan Bank PLC

Bank

N/A
125,000

overdraft
Temporary

125,000 Mortgage over leasehold
rights of Alma estate for

overdraft

50,000

10,310 Rs.26.0 Mn.

Pussellawa Plantations
Limited

Overdraft

N/A

10,000

People's Bank

- Mortgage over leasehold
right of Hemingford and
Keragala estates

Overdraft

70,000

32,403 Mortgage over leasehold

Overdraft

70,000

784 Mortgage over leasehold

right of Beaumont estate

Sampath Bank PLC
Bank of Ceylon

50

right of Stellenburg estate

Events after the reporting date
Subsequent to the reporting date, no circumstances have arisen which would require adjustments to or disclosure in
the financial statements.
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Segmental information
Group

Investments

For the year ended 31 March
st

51.1

Plantation

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

10,884

51,747

-

-

Primary Segments (Business Segments)
Revenue
Revenue expenditure

-

-

-

-

Gross profit/(loss)

10,884

51,747

-

-

-

-

-

-

Add : Other income

66,177

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gain in fair value of biological assets
Share of profit from equity accounted investees

(99,218)

(9,344)

-

-

Gain in fair value of investment properties

34,777

63,000

-

-

621,335

319,975

-

-

35,859

282

-

-

Gain on bargain purchase
Interest income
Operation expenses

(493,589)

(306,936)

(4,281)

-

Profit/(loss) before taxation

176,226

118,724

(4,281)

-

(4,281)

-

Less : taxation
Net profit/(loss) for the year
As at 31st March

(1,901)
174,324

118,724

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

4,424,475

5,511,788

16,392,269

-

433,058

1,272,653

1,872,576

-

4,857,533

6,784,441

18,264,845

-

1,322,286

804,001

4,366,502

-

172,877

2,464,879

2,950,275

-

1,495,163

3,268,880

7,316,777

-

Segment assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

Segment liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
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Construction

Travel
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Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

1,061,804

278,648

-

558,826

388,468

216,254

354,552

21,167

1,815,709

1,126,643

(278,860)

(133,682)

-

(497,877)

(239,046)

(135,449)

(279,302)

782,944

144,966

-

60,949

149,423

80,805

75,250

21,167

1,018,501

359,633

-

-

35,465

14,650

4,401

10,365

4,175

100,393

44,041

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,201
(48,000)

-

-

(797,208)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(99,218)

(9,344)

(96,370)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(13,223)

(33,371)

-

-

-

-

-

-

621,335

319,975

3,151

-

31,684

35,859

37,900

2,784

(1,235,605)

(153,591)

-

(143,167)

(90,584)

(43,157)

(79,529)

(32,629)

(1,903,587)

(491,460)

(101,844)

-

(15,071)

73,489

44,833

6,086

(7,287)

(239,940)

(9,972)

(15,160)

63,516

29,673

6,086

(7,665)

18,284
(473,176)

(767,010)

(2,653)

-

(104,497)

-

(15,071)

(378)

6,410
(233,530)

(679,480)
39,355
(18,192)
21,163

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

14,687,728

13,482,212

-

-

61,183

55,114

31,815

4,532

35,597,470

19,053,646

1,443,536

778,359

-

-

194,116

127,042

282,204

136,245

4,225,490

2,314,299

16,131,264

14,260,571

-

-

255,299

182,156

314,019

140,777

39,822,960

21,367,945

1,912,672

1,027,722

-

-

24,461

34,401

31,815

41,454

7,657,736

1,907,577

3,986,642

3,506,740

-

-

100,249

62,013

290,056

74,779

7,500,099

6,108,412

5,899,314

4,534,462

-

-

124,710

96,414

321,871

116,233

15,157,835

8,015,989
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Segment information (Contd.,)
Company

Plantations
Investments

For the year ended 31 March
st

51.2

Tea

Rubber

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

42,826

108,599

-

-

-

-

Primary Segments (Business Segments)
a) Segment Results
Revenue
Revenue expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gross profit/(loss)

42,826

108,599

-

-

-

-

Add : Other income

69,114

51,571

-

-

-

-

Gain in fair value of investment properties

34,777

63,000

-

-

-

-

Interest income

62,298

50,500

-

-

-

-

Finance expenses

(327,199)

(196,019)

-

-

-

-

Operation expenses

(110,243)

(185,628)

-

-

-

-

Profit/(loss) before taxation

(228,427)

(107,977)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Less : Taxation
Net profit/(loss) for the year
As at 31st March

(124)
(228,551)

(107,977)

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

9,731,662

8,307,658

-

-

-

-

Segment assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

2,826,887

2,631,382

-

-

-

-

12,558,549

10,939,040

-

-

-

-

1,389,327

701,075

-

-

-

-

Segment liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

2,529,035

3,925,181

-

-

-

-

3,918,362

4,626,256

-

-

-

-
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Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

42,826

108,599

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

42,826

108,599

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

69,114

51,571

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

34,777

63,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

62,298

50,500

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(327,199)

(196,019)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(110,243)

(185,628)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(228,427)

(107,977)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(124)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(228,551)

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,731,662

8,307,658

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,826,887

2,631,382

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,558,549

10,939,040

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,389,327

701,075

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,529,035

3,925,181

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,918,362

4,626,256

(107,977)
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
a) The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced liquidation or sale.
(i) Classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and of which carrying amounts are a reasonable
approximation of fair value
Current trade and other receivables (Note 26), cash and cash equivalents (Note 31), trade and other payables (Note
40) and interest bearing loans and borrowings (Note 34).
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - GROUP
Financial assets and liabilities by categories
Financial assets and liabilities in the tables below are split into categories in accordance with LKAS 39.
Financial assets by categories

Note Loans and receivables Financial assets at fair
(L&R)

value through profit or

Available for sale

Total

Financial assets

loss (FVTPL)
2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

23

-

-

-

-

873,812

879,216

873,812

879,216

30

-

-

342,982

625,380

257,653

178,289

600,635

803,669

23

20,829

158,556

-

-

-

-

20,829

158,556

current

30

199,850

93,953

-

-

-

-

199,850

93,953

Trade and other receivables

26 1,864,096

683,255

-

-

-

- 1,864,096

683,255

Loans to related party

27

89,219

133,950

-

-

-

-

89,219

133,950

Cash and cash equivalents

31

692,357

156,673

-

-

-

-

692,357

156,673

2,866351 1,226,387

342,982

As at 31st March

Financial assets measured at
fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent
Other financial assets current
Financial assets not
measured at fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent
Other financial assets -

Total

625,380 1,131,465 1,057,505 4,340,808 2,909,272
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Other Financial liabilities and Non financial liabilities by categories
Note Other financial liabilities

Non financial instruments

Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings

34

6,614,921

5,923,499

-

-

6,614,921

5,923,499

Finance lease obligations

35

357,639

5,377

-

-

357,639

5,377

Trade and other payables

40

1,259,186

237,094

245,931

146,354

1,505,117

383,448

Amounts due to related parties

42

560,058

590,968

-

-

560,058

590,968

Loan from related parties

41

1,785,270

688,355

-

-

1,785,270

688,355

Short term borrowings

44

340,913

-

-

-

340,913

-

Income tax payable

43

-

-

57,122

68,571

57,122

68,571

Bank overdrafts

31

-

218,667

35,616

214,925 11,439,707

7,695,834

Total carrying value

218,667

35,616

-

11,136,654

7,480,909

303,053

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - COMPANY
Financial assets and liabilities by categories
Financial assets and liabilities in the tables below are split into categories in accordance with LKAS 39.
Financial assets by

Note Loans and receivables Financial assets at fair

categories

(L&R)

value through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

Available for sale

Total

Financial assets
(AFS)

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

23

-

-

-

-

825,265

874,333

825,265

874,333

30

-

-

70,396

619,864

231,693

172,788

302,089

792,652

23

-

150,000

-

-

-

-

-

150,000

current

30

1,259

1,115

-

-

-

-

1,259

1,115

Trade and other receivables

26

222,909

37,784

-

-

-

-

222,909

37,784

Loans to related party

27

644,899

341,754

-

-

-

-

644,899

341,754

Cash and cash equivalents

31

-

-

-

4,713

8,901

As at 31st March

Financial assets measured at
fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent
Other financial assets current
Financial assets not
measured at fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent
Other financial assets -

Total

4,713

8,901

-

873,780

539,554

70,396

619,864 1,056,958 1,047,121 2,001,134 2,206,539
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Other Financial liabilities and Non financial liabilities by categories
Note Other financial liabilities

Non financial instruments

Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings

34

3,043,684

4,401,074

-

-

3,043,684

4,401,074

Trade and other payables

40

21,468

337

540

15,477

22,008

15,814

Amounts due to related parties

42

12,882

74,836

-

-

12,882

74,836

Loan from related parties

41

816,465

111,333

-

-

816,465

111,333

Income tax payable

43

-

-

23,323

23,199

23,323

23,199

Bank overdrafts

31

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,894,499

4,587,580

23,863

38,676

3,918,362

4,626,256

Total carrying value

Financial assets and liabilities by fair value hierarchy - Group/ Company
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs with significant effect on the recorded fair values are observable, either
directly or indirectly;
Level 3: techniques that use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on
observable market data
The methods and assumptions used by the management to determine the fair values of financial instruments other
than those carrying amounts reasonably approximate their fair values as mentioned in the Note are as follows;

Instrument category

Fair value hierarchy

Investment in quoted equity securities

Level 1
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Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and of which carrying amounts are
reasonable approximation of fair value
Current trade and other financial receivables and payables, current and non-current loans and borrowings at floating
rate, other bank deposits and cash and bank balances.
The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of fair value, either due
to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or
near the balance
The Group held the following financial instruments carried at fair value in the statement of
financial position:
Financial assets by fair value hierarchy- Group
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

163,522

209,456

43,262

-

667,028

669,760

873,812

879,216

600,635

803,669

-

-

-

-

600,635

803,669

-

-

-

- 5,383,130 4,382,999 5,383,130 4,382,999

-

-

-

-

Financial assets measured at
fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent (Note 23)
Other financial assets - current
(Note 30)
Investment property
(Note 17)
Biological assets - bearer
(Note 19)

- 4,077,158

- 4,077,158

-

- 6,383,665

- 6,383,665

-

Biological assets - consumer
(Note 20)

-

138

Browns Investments PLC

Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial assets by fair value hierarchy- Company
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

160,000

206,759

-

-

665,265

667,574

825,265

874,333

302,089

792,652

-

-

-

-

302,089

792,652

-

-

-

-

842,734

761,000

842,734

761,000

Financial assets measured at
fair value
Other financial assets - noncurrent (Note 23)
Other financial assets - current
(Note 30)
Investment property (Note 17)

Reconciliation of fair value measurement of ‘Level 3’ financial instruments
The Group and company carries unquoted equity shares as available-for-sale financial instruments classified as level 3
within the fair value hierarchy.
Group

Balance as at 1st April

Company

2015

2014

2015

2014

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

669,760

644,035

667,574

644,035

Addition/ Disposals during the year

-

50,000

-

50,000

On acquisition of subsidiaries

-

2,186

-

-

Disposals during the year
Gains/(Losses) recognized in other comprehensive income

(50,000)
47,268
667,028

(26,461)
669,760

(50,000)
47,691
665,265

(26,461)
667,574
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group has loans and other receivables, trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that
arise directly from its operations. The Group also holds available-for-sale investments and may enter into derivative
transactions. The Group’s principal financial liabilities, comprise of loans and borrowings and trade and other
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations and to provide guarantees
to support its operations. The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

53.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade
receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange
transactions and other financial instruments.
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all clients who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, such as cash and cash equivalents,
available-for-sale financial investments, short term investments, and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty. The Group manages its operations to avoid any
excessive concentration of counterparty risk and the Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure the counterparties
fulfil their obligations.

53.2 Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to hold cash and undrawn committed facilities at a level sufficient to ensure that the Group has
available funds to meet its short and medium term capital and funding obligations, including organic growth and
acquisition activities, and to meet any unforeseen obligations and opportunities. The Group holds cash and undrawn
committed facilities to enable the Group to manage its liquidity risk.
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a daily cash management process. This process considers the
maturity of both the Group’s financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivable, other financial assets)
and projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of multiple
sources of funding including debentures, bank loans, loan notes, overdrafts and finance leases over a broad spread of
maturities.
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On demand

less than 3

3 to 12  

1 to 5

more than

months

months

years

5 years

Total

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

1,720,327

1,845,672

2,910,920

495,641

6,972,560

Group
Interest bearing borrowings
Short term borrowings and
Bank overdrafts

-

559,580

-

-

-

559,580

Trade payables

-

1,505,117

-

-

-

1,505,117

560,058

-

-

-

-

560,058

1,785,270

-

-

-

-

1,785,270

-

-

57,122

-

-

57,122

2,345,328

3,785,024

1,902,794

2,910,920

495,641

11,439,707

1,177,756

476,600

893,686

495,641

3,043,684

Amounts due to related parties
Loans from related parties
Other payable

Company
Interest bearing borrowings
Trade payables
Amounts due to related parties
Loans from related parties
Other payable

-

22,008

-

-

-

22,008

12,882

-

-

-

-

12,882

816,465

-

-

-

-

816,465

-

-

23,323

-

-

23,323

829,347

1,199,764

499,923

893,686

495,641

3,918,362

Liquidity risk management
The mixed approach combines elements of the cash flow matching approach and the liquid assets approach. The
business units attempt to match cash outflows in each time bucket against a combination of contractual cash
inflows plus other inflows that can be generated through the sale of assets, repurchase agreements or other secured
borrowings.

53.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group treasury continuously monitors the interest rate environment to advice to group on the most suitable
strategy with regard to borrowings.

53.4 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk where it has cash flows in
overseas operations and foreign currency transactions which are affected by foreign exchange movements. Group
treasury analyses the market condition of foreign exchange and provides market updates to the board, with the use of
external consultants’ advice. Based on the suggestions made by Group treasury, the board takes decisions on whether
to hold, sell, or make forward bookings of foreign currency.

53.5 Equity price risk
The Group has adopted that its investment in subsidiaries, joint venture and associate companies are recorded at cost
as per LKAS 27 and LKAS 28.
The investments made by the Group which do not belong to above category are classified as financial assets available
for sale (AFS) and fair value through profit or loss ( FVTPL).
The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity
instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior management on a regular basis. The
board reviews and approves all equity investment decisions.
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Share of results of equity accounted investees (Interests in joint ventures)
Transition to SLFRS 11
According to LKAS 31 Investment in Joint Ventures, the Group's interest was classified as a jointly controlled entity
and the Group's share of assets, liabilities revenue and expenses were proportionately consolidated in the financial
statements. This jointly controlled entity was F L C Joint Venture ( Pvt) Ltd. Upon adoption of SLFRS 11, the Group
has consolidated its interests in this entity using the equity method as required and accordingly the comparatives have
been restated. The effect of applying SLFRS 11 for the comparative period is as follows.
Group
Statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2014

As at 31st March 2013

st

With

SLFRS 11

proportionate

adjustment

With equity

With

SLFRS 11

With equity

method proportionate

adjustment

method

Rs.000

Rs.000

consolidation
Rs.000

consolidation
Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

-

134,718

(134,718)

-

Non-current assets
Leasehold property
Property, plant and equipment

130,533

(589,975) 10,090,004

2,881,570

(658,538)

2,223,032

Investment properties

4,658,338

(275,339)

4,382,999

3,927,256

(74,256)

3,853,000

Intangible assets and goodwill

1,285,590

(2,864)

1,282,726

49,887

(2,864)

47,023

Bearer biological assets

1,983,973

(1,983,973)

-

1,975,422

(1,975,422)

-

Consumer biological assets

1,665,728

(1,665,728)

-

1,567,671

(1,567,671)

-

-

-

-

1,482,578

2,640,679

Investment in subsidiaries

10,679,979

(130,533)

-

-

-

780,276

1,429,142

2,209,418

1,158,101

1,037,772

1,003,349

Investments in equity accounted
investees
Other long term investments
Loans to related parties
Total non-current assets

1,050,438
50,727
22,285,582

(12,666)
-

(14,693)
-

988,656

50,727

-

(3,231,936) 19,053,646

12,697,974

(2,945,584)

9,752,390

-

Current assets
Inventories

256,198

(174,623)

81,575

454,965

(176,163)

278,802

Trade and other receivables

783,563

(100,308)

(138,988)

367,635

Loans to related parties
Amounts due from related parties

683,255

506,623

83,223

-

83,223

445,262

1

445,263

218,317

186,190

404,507

225,129

189,797

414,926

Income tax recoverable

7,444

Short term investments

1,174,152

(276,530)

300,505

(143,832)

2,823,402

(509,103)

(3,741,039) 21,367,945

16,237,604

Cash at bank and in hand
Total current assets
Total assets

25,108,984

-

7,444

-

897,622

1,639,201

(223,836)

228

228

156,673

268,450

(259,808)

8,642

2,314,299

3,539,630

(608,769)

2,930,861

1,415,365

(3,554,353) 12,683,251
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Group
Statement of Financial Position

As at 31st March 2014
With

SLFRS 11

proportionate

Adjustment

As at 31st March 2013

With Equity

With

SLFRS 11

With Equity

Method proportionate

Adjustment

Method

consolidation

Stated capital
Reserves
Revenue reserves
Equity attributable to equity

consolidation

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

5,380,000

-

5,380,000

5,380,000

-

5,380,000

55,885

-

55,885

176,064

-

176,064

5,183,977

2,886

5,186,863

5,097,667

-

5,097,667

10,619,862

2,886

10,622,748

10,653,731

-

10,653,731

2,729,208

2,000,346

(1,903,652) 13,351,956

12,654,077

holders of the company
Non controlling interest
Total equity

4,635,746
15,255,608

(1,906,538)

(1,930,176)

70,170

(1,930,176) 10,723,901

Non current liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings
Finance lease obligations

1,744,273

(160,140)

1,584,133

1,185,304

(169,536)

1,015,768

83,006

(79,717)

3,289

82,047

(82,047)

-

Retirement benefit obligations

467,477

(434,221)

33,256

417,430

(385,182)

32,248

Deferred tax liability

500,017

(252,657)

247,360

295,084

(249,831)

45,253

Deferred income

135,352

(135,352)

-

142,464

(142,464)

50,368

(10,829)

39,539

50,000

2,980,493

(1,072,916)

1,907,577

2,172,329

(1,029,060)

1,143,269

711,965

(328,517)

383,448

525,580

(268,689)

256,891

4,413,037

(73,671)

4,339,366

311,787

(66,150)

245,637

(3,005)

Loans from related parties

-

50,000

Current liabilities
Trade and other payable
Interest bearing borrowings
Finance lease obligations

4,089

(2,001)

2,088

3,005

Loans from related parties

746,050

(57,695)

688,355

50,000

Amounts due to related parties

736,773

(145,805)

590,968

280,805

(138,055)

142,750

68,571

47,306

(17,363)

29,943

425

-

50,000

Income tax payable

68,146

Other short term interest bearing

98,083

(98,083)

-

54,523

(50,169)

4,354

94,740

(59,124)

35,616

138,192

(51,686)

86,506

(764,471)

6,108,412

1,411,198

(595,117)

816,081

(3,741,039) 21,367,945

16,237,604

liabilities
Bank overdraft

6,872,883
25,108,984

(3,554,353) 12,683,251
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Group
Year Ended 31 March 2014
Income Statement

With
proportionate

SLFRS 11

With Equity

Adjustment

Method

consolidation
Rs.000
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Gain on changes in fair value of biological assets
Distribution expenses

Rs.000

2,881,984

(1,755,341)

(2,398,686)

1,631,676

Rs.000
1,126,643
(767,010)

483,298

(123,665)

359,633

74,531

(30,490)

44,041

(18,768)

18,768

-

(52,552)

-

(52,552)

Administrative expenses

(382,296)

98,386

(283,910)

Other expenses

(100,279)

-

(100,279)

Finance income
Finance cost
Change in fair value of investment properties

85,356
(303,566)

(47,456)
60,828

(30,094)

(3,277)

(Net of tax)

(16,748)

7,404

Gain on bargain purchases

319,975

37,900
(242,738)
(33,371)

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees

Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit after tax

-

(9,344)
319,975

58,857

(19,502)

39,355

(40,580)

22,388

(18,192)

18,277

2,886

21,163
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Non controlling interests
The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material NCI,
before any intra-group eliminations.								
As at 31st March 2015

FLCJV(P)L

AE(P)L

GP(P)L

BHRL

100%

51%

51%

100%

-

49%

49%

-

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Total assets

18,137,408

231,464

1,292,361

8,525,936

28,187,169

Total liabilities

Group
Holding %
NCI%

Total

Group

15,592,339

103,534

58,406

6,313,258

22,067,537

Net assets

2,545,069

127,930

1,233,955

2,212,678

6,119,632

carrying value of NCI

8,379,824

51,172

604,638

1,912,126

10,947,760

Gross income

-

388,468

154,203

750,234

1,292,905

Profit for the period

-

63,516

(32,303)

OCI for the period

-

-

(308)

Profit allocated to NCI

-

31,123

(151)

OCI allocated to NCI

-

-

(15,828)

As at 31st March 2014

(493,100)
164

(461,887)
(144)

(222,062)
-

(191,090)
(15,828)

AE(P)L

GP(P)L

BHRL

Total

Holding %

51%

51%

100%

NCI%

49%

49%

-

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

182,157

1,326,075

7,722,080

9,230,312

Group

Total assets
Total liabilities

96,416

59,733

5,438,124

5,594,273

Net assets

85,741

1,266,342

2,283,956

3,636,039

Carrying value of NCI

42,013

620,508

2,132,253

2,794,774

216,254

125,604

-

341,858

29,672

(46,518)

-

(16,846)

Gross income
Profit for the period
OCI for the period
Profit allocated to NCI
OCI allocated to NCI

-

-

-

-

14,539

(22,794)

-

(8,255)

-

-

-

Total

628.00

504.75

639.00

252.00

397.25

544.74

640.75

355.65

High Forest

Kabaragalla

Liddesdale

Mahacoodagalla

Maha Uva

Maturata

Ragalla

St Leonards

388.00

676.05

Beverely

Diddenipotha

400.40

510.50

Lankaberiya

Wilpita

588.00

498.25

Mooloya

Hellbodde

High Grown

Pussellawa Plantations Ltd

Regional Office

895.75

Hayes

2,207.63

624.00

Anningkanda

Enselwatta

348.95

Andapana

Low grown

Kandapola

716.00

Gonapitiya

Katukitula

Hewaheta

Akurassa

Ithakanda

Deniyaya

Deniyaya

Mulatiyana

Deniyaya

Deniyaya

Kamburupitiya

Halgaranoya

Halgaranoya

Kandapola

Walapane

Halgaranoya

Halgaranoya

Padiyapalalla

Kandapola

Kandapola

224.49

Bramley

Kandapola

Location

636.25

(Hect)

Extent

Alma

High grown

Maturata Plantations Ltd

Estate

Tea

Tea

Coconut

Tea/Rubber/

Tea

Tea

Tea/ Rubber

Coconut

Tea/Rubber/

Tea

Tea

Coconut

Tea/Rubber/

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Tea

Crop

6,133

12,021

8,403

5,591

7,084

31,609

41,756

12,383

14,972

7,961

6,720

9,856

17,985

15,316

6,931

11,001

18,020

9,669

17,507

20,903

12,419

8,681

5,775

7,318

32,654

43,136

12,792

15,467

8,224

6,942

10,182

18,580

15,823

11,365

7,160

18,616

9,988

18,085

21,594

6,335

18,394

Rs.000

Rs.000

17,805

2014

2015

Lease Hold Lands - W.d. V

Lands

Details of leasehold /Freehold land and buildings of FLC Joint Venture Co, (Pvt) Ltd

250

243

27

22

233

330

128

171

168

14

152

110

152

146

89

198

119

225

98

86

115

Rs.000

Buildings

No. of

375

34

114

143

155

1,424

436

762

442

73

201

467

233

224

257

433

92

580

701

321

273

Rs.000

2015

544

50

165

207

225

2,064

631

1,104

640

105

291

676

337

325

372

627

134

840

1,015

465

395

Rs.000

2014

32,798

19,818

153

1,896

1,799

8,632

6,127

2,143

2,071

6,341

569

3,233

8,352

2,520

3,634

5,920

7,580

6,145

15,358

4,263

2,433

3,665

Rs.000

2015

33,014

19,989

291

1,083

1,860

8,665

6,340

2,224

2,047

6,566

592

3,346

8,644

2,611

3,827

6,116

7,841

6,362

15,851

4,424

1,201

3,793

Rs.000

2014

Lease Hold Buildings - W.d. V Additions To Buildings - W.d. V

Buildings
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Total

Pussellawa

652.10

203.70

253.23
516.25
470.61
367.16
259.86

501.34

307.98

501.84

900.75

422.61

460.50
336.00
517.25
810.89
744.52
652.00
563.03
614.66

322.51
-

Kaloogalla

Melfort
Rothschild
Sogama
Stellenberg
Sanquhar

Geragama

Low grown
Hemingford

Keragala

Pambegama

Siriniwasa

Ayr
Durampitiya
Eheliyagoda
Elston
Halpe
Penrith
Pussella
Salawa

Sunderland
Head office / Tea Villa

Eheliyagoda
Hanwella

Padukka
Getahetta
Eheliyagoda
Puwakpitiya
Tummodara
Avissawella
Parakaduwa
Hanwella

Waga

Parakaduwa

Kuruwita

Parakaduwa

Pilimatalawa

Pussellawa
Pussellawa
Pussellawa
Pupuressa
Paradeka

Pupuressa

145.85

Pupuressa

Location

Delta

(Hect)

Extent

Beaumont

Mid Country Estates

Estate

Tea
Rubber
Tea
Rubber
Tea
Rubber
Tea
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Rubber
Coconut
Rubber
Tea

Tea
Tea
Tea
Tea
Tea
Rubber
Tea
Rubber

Tea

Tea

Tea

Crop

5,130

7,264
5,493
7,357
11,114
10,609
9,160
8,439
9,362

6,884

11,017

7,941

5,736

8,547

4,305
4,452
7,260
5,943
3,972

3,481

10,002

5,300
-

7,503
5,675
7,600
11,482
10,960
9,463
8,709
9,675

7,112

11,387

8,204

5,926

8,830

4,447
4,599
7,501
6,139
4,103

3,596

10,334

5,054

Rs.000

Rs.000

4,892

2014

2015

Lease Hold Lands - W.d. V

Lands

120
14

102
56
120
180
141
334
147
117

121

196

125

147

314

85
57
72
185
125

74

140

113

Rs.000

Buildings

No. of

Details of leasehold /Freehold land and buildings of FLC Joint Venture Co, (Pvt) Ltd (contd.)

-

155
282
542
283
191

201

93

-

71

131

39
4
23
178
22

100

82

134

Rs.000

2015

-

225
416
755
354
277

291

146

-

102

190

57
51
33
258
31

144

119

182

Rs.000

2014

7,487
8,555

28,133
8,013
13,171
26,978
33,907
24,041
14,855
11,578

12,211

51,337

14,722

23,110

36,271

14,586
27,887
13,221
12,168
21,121

9,360

41,592

8,077

Rs.000

2015

11,692
7,094
17,587

26,790
8,265
13,368
27,115
33,724
24,760
15,295

12,192

52,699

15,180

23,490

34,565

14,931
27,518
13,660
12,020
21,357

9,331

41,911

8,073

Rs.000

2014

Lease Hold Buildings - W.d. V Additions To Buildings - W.d. V

Buildings
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Total

Group occupied component

F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd

Hydro Power Plant

(Pvt) Ltd

Stellenberg Hydro Power

Hydro Power Plant

(Pvt) Ltd

Thebuwana Hydro Power

Hydro Power Plant

F L C Hydro Power PLC

Green Tea Factory

Ltd

Melfort Green Teas (Pvt)

Estate

2.51

12.47

(Hect)

Extent

Total

Colombo 08

Mawatha,

Senanayake

No. 19, Dudley

East Division

Division/Delta

North

Hellbodde

Division/

widen

Stellenberg

-Keeragala

Thebuwana

Paradeka

Pupuressa/

Location

Hydro Power

Hydro Power

Hydro Power

Crop

462,824

-

-

-

478,143

-

-

-

5,011

Rs.000

Rs.000

4,838

2014

2015

Lease Hold Lands - W.d. V

Lands

6,166

1

1.00

1.00

3

Rs.000

Buildings

No. of

Details of leasehold /Freehold land and buildings of FLC Joint Venture Co, (Pvt) Ltd (contd.)

10,266

-

-

-

-

-

Rs.000

2015

14,840

-

-

-

-

-

Rs.000

2014

994,550

186,487

96,653

11,144

88,796

3,639

Rs.000

2015

823,105

97,767

-

105,746

290

Rs.000

2014

Lease Hold Buildings - W.d. V Additions To Buildings - W.d. V

Buildings
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Seven Year Summary

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

Rs.000

1,815,709
406,345
(646,285)
(239,940)
6,410
(233,530)

1,126,643
282,093
(242,738)
39,355
(18,192)
21,163

2,624,821
354,883
(275,460)
79,423
(45,495)
33,928

2,056,549
2,936,425
(190,333)
2,746,092
(122,594)
2,623,498

3,016,077
2,265,431
(130,475)
2,134,956
(31,531)
2,103,425

2,451,530
259,245
(85,224)
174,021
(18,891)
155,130

1,109,960
1,109,960
1,109,960

(11,650)
(221,880)
(233,530)

49,085
(27,922)
21,163

(35,815)
69,743
33,928

2,565,533
57,965
2,623,498

1,894,445
208,980
2,103,425

43,568
111,562
155,130

1,109,960
1,109,960

7,705,000
438,120
5,586,826
13,729,946
10,935,179
24,665,125
9,317,411
33,982,536

5,380,000
55,885
5,186,863
10,622,748
2,729,208
13,351,956
6,692,387
20,044,343

5,380,000
176,064
5,097,667
10,653,731
2,000,346
12,654,077
1,874,858
14,528,935

5,380,000
97,906
5,132,683
10,610,589
2,021,917
12,632,506
1,952,316
14,584,822

5,130,000
(121,233)
2,879,304
7,888,071
1,772,007
9,660,078
1,115,772
10,775,850

980,000
314,194
1,153,228
2,447,422
2,623,271
5,070,693
808,499
5,879,192

450,000
1,109,960
1,559,960
2,493,788
4,053,748
771,523
4,825,271

13,780,839
21,816,630
4,225,490
(5,840,423)
33,982,536

10,090,002
8,963,642
2,314,299
(1,323,600)
20,044,343

2,881,570
9,816,404
3,539,630
(1,708,669)
14,528,935

2,314,008
9,641,157
4,212,696
(1,583,039)
14,584,822

873,840
5,401,275
5,831,489
(1,330,754)
10,775,850

945,282
5,869,711
454,231
(1,390,032)
5,879,192

274,501
5,156,184
309,678
(915,092)
4,825,271

(1,626,222)
(950,125)
2,928,980

(111,736)
(3,211,615)
3,522,272

(201,590)
256,654
(240,569)

(227,606)
(551,117)
581,956

155,078
(4,195,774)
4,589,775

412,437
(979,393)
587,708

(507,301)
450,000

352,633

198,921

(185,506)

(196,767)

549,079

20,752

(57,301)

(0.003)
3.69
5,952,000
1.60
(0.08)
1.20
0.63
0.56
37.78
3,720,000

0.02
5.71
4,278,000
2.30
115.00
0.46
1.41
1.16
0.38
50.12
1,860,000

(0.02)
5.73
6,138,000
3.30
(0.34)
2.44
1.29
2.51
14.82
1,860,000

1.38
5.70
6,138,000
3.30
2.39
0.10
24.18
20.13
15.43
2.10
15.45
1,860,000

1.05
4.36
24.02
27.07
17.36
4.10
11.55
1,810,000

0.04
24.97
1.78
4.41
3.04
0.55
15.94
98,000

24.67
35.00
71.15
23.00
0.49
19.03
45,000

OPERATING RESULTS
Group revenue
EBIT
Finance expenses
Profit before tax
Tax expense
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interest
CAPITAL EMPLOYED
Stated capital
Capital reserves
Revenue reserves
Share holders fund
Minority interest
Total equity
Total debt
ASSETS EMPLOYED
Property, plant and equipment (PP&E)
Non-current assets other than PP&E
Current assets
Liabilities net of debt
CASH FLOW
Net cash flows from/(Used in) operating activities
Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities
Net cash flows from / (used in)financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
KEY INDICATORS
Earnings per Share (Rs.)*
Net Assets per Share (Rs.)**
Market Capitalization ( Rs'000')
Market price per Share (Rs.)
Price Earning Ratio ( times)
Dividend per Share (Rs.)
Return on Shareholders' funds (%)
Return on Capital Employed (%)
Interest Cover (times covered)
Current Ratio (times)
Debt to Equity Ratio (%)
Number of Shares ('000)

Restated

* Earnings per share has been adjusted for weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (has been adjusted for previous years).
** Net Assets per share has been computed for the total number of shares issued as at 31 st March 2015.
***Upon adoption of SLFRS 11, the Group has consolidated its interests in this entity using the equity method as required and accordingly the 2014 have been
restated.															
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Parent, Subsidiary, Sub-Subsidiary and Associate Companies
Parent Company
Brown & Company PLC
Reg. No. PQ 25

Ishara Nanayakkara
Shanker Somasunderam
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Rajah Nanayakkara
Tissa Bandaranayake
Janaka de Silva

Ultimate Parent Company
Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC
Reg. No. PQ 70
Rohini Nanayakkara
Ishara Nanayakkara
(also Alternate Director to
Rajah Nanayakkara)
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Deshamanya M.D.D. Pieris
R.A. Fernando
Rajah Nanayakkara
H. Yamaguchi
H. Nishio
T. Kaneda (Alternate 		
director to H. Yamaguchi)
K. Okuno (Alternate 		
Director to H. Nishio)
Browns Tours ( Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 1242

B.G. Air Services ( Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 1807

Rohini Nanayakkara
Shanker Somasunderam
Nilmini Nanayakkara
Ishara Nanayakkara
(Alternate Director to
Nilmini Nanayakkara)
Tilak Selviah
Kamantha Amarasekera
Dishan Frank Perera
Rohini Nanayakkara
Shanker Somasunderam
Nilmini Avanthi 		
Nanayakkara
Ishara Nanayakkara 		
(Alternate
Director to Nilmini 		
Nanayakkara)
Kamantha Amarasekera

Samudra Beach Resorts (Pvt)Ltd
Reg. No. PV 78179
Rohini Nanayakkara
Kamantha Amarasekera
Shanker Somasunderam
Tilak Selviah (Alternate
Director to 			
Kamantha Amarasekera)
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Ruwan Sugathadasa

Millennium Development (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 1792
Kamantha Amarasekera
Tilak Selviah
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Eksath Chamikara Wijeratne
Excel Global Holdings (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 1625
Kamantha Amarasekera
Tilak Selviah (Alternate
Director to Kamantha
Amarasekera)
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Taprobane Plantations Ltd
Reg. No. PB 152

Excel Restaurants (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 9123

Ajax Engineers (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 1556

Ceylon Roots (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 81209

Green Paradise (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 60519

Dharshan Dassanayake
Rajinik Anthony
Gunaratne Weerasinghe
Ruwan Sugathadasa
Tilak Selviah
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Eksath Chamikara Wijeratne
Sarath Karunarathne
Johore Sheriff
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Ruwan Sugathadasa
Pasad Weerasekera
Nishantha Perera
Dishan Frank Perera
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Mordenti Edo
Pransani Graziano
Eliana Marchese Biancato
(Alternate Director to
Mordent Edo)
Emanuele Cianciullo
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Tilak Selviah (Alternate
Director to 			
Kamantha Amarasekera)
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Parent, Subsidiary, Sub-Subsidiary and Associate Companies

Sun & Fun Resorts Ltd
Reg. No. PB 3870

Charkravarthy Melappati
Tennekoon Rusiripala
Vamsi Vemuru
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Tilak Selviah ( Alternate
Director to			
Kamantha Amarasekera)
Kalsha Amarasinghe

Creations Construction & Engineering (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 18056
Priyantha Weeratunga
Mala Mangalika
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Kamantha Amarasekera
Browns Global Farm (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 92172

Rohini Nanayakkara
Shanker Somasunderam
Nilmini Avanthi 		
Nanayakkara
Ishara Nanayakkara 		
(Alternate
Director to Nilmini 		
Nanayakkara)
Kamantha Amarasekera

B.I. Commodities and Logistics (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 105139
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena

F L P C Management (Pvt) Ltd.
Reg. No. PV 18888
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kithsiri Gunawardena
F L C Power Holdings (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 70021
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Dolekanda Power (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 70023
Enselwatte Power (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 70025
F L C Properties (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 75864

F L C Holdings PLC
Reg. No. PV 64165 PB/PQ

F L M C Plantations (Pvt) Ltd.
Reg. No. PV 4027

Ishara Nanayakkara
Kamantha Amarasekera
Asela Fernando
Uditha Palihakkara
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Ishara Nanayakkara
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Gary Seaton
Kamantha Amarasekera

Alan Chaytor
Hariharan Ramasamy
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe

Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kithsiri Gunawardena

F L C Estate Bungalows (Pvt) Ltd.
Reg. No. PV 77342
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Pussellawa Plantations Ltd
Reg. No. PB 951

Browns Hotels and Resorts Ltd
Reg. No. PB 3805
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Jayantha Kelegama
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kamantha Amarasekera
F L C Joint Venture Co. (Pvt) Ltd.
Reg. No. PV 74078
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Ruwan Sugathadasa

Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya

Maturata Plantations Ltd
Reg. No. PB 214

Ishara Nanayakkara
Gary Seaton
Kandasamy Kusalakumaran
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kamantha Amarasekera
Robert Puviraj
Kithsiri Gunawardena

F L C Hydro Power PLC
Reg. No. PV 7385 PB/PQ

Ishara Nanayakkara
Kamantha Amarasekera
Dr. Thirugnanasambandar
	 Senthilverl
Uditha Palihakkara
Kapila Jayawardena
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Halgranoya Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 68774
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
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Thebuwana Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 70022
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kithsiri Gunawardena

Southern Cleaners (Pvt) Ltd
Reg No. PV 21306

Stellenberg Hydro Power (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 70024
Kamantha Amarasekera
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Kithsiri Gunawardena

Central Services (Pvt) Ltd
Reg No. PV 21309

Ceylon Estates Teas (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 5528

Dickwella Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 11742

Melfort Green Teas (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 8588

Ishara Nanayakkara
Angello Wickramasuriya
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Manik De Mel
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya
Godfrey Aloysius
Anton Aloysius
(Alternate Director to
Godfrey Aloysius)
Dixon Peiris
Damascene Perera
Virginiya Perera
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Sunjeevani Kotakadeniya

F L M C Sudima Timber Products (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 79409
Manik De Mel
The Tea Leaf Resort Holding (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 72507
Priyantha Perera
Anton Aloysius
Shamendra Panditha
Kamantha Amarasekera
Murali Prakash
Geoffrey Aloysius
Eden Hotel Lanka PLC
Reg. No. PQ 199

Palm Garden Hotels PLC
Reg. No. PQ 132

Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Kamantha Amarasekera
Ahamed Furkhan
Stefan Furkhan		
Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Kamantha Amarasekera
Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan

Tropical Villas (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 4043

Riverina Resorts (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 87378

Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Jayantha Kelegama
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Jayantha Kelegama
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Jayantha Kelegama
Gunendra Jayasena
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Jayantha Kelegama
Kapila Jayawardena
Kalsha Amarasinghe
Kamantha Amarasekera
Kithsiri Gunawardena

Bodufaru Beach Resort (Private) Limited
Reg. No. C-0890/2014
Kamantha Amarasekera
(Maldives)
Kithsiri Gunawardena
Ibrahim Riswaan
Mohamed Niham
Rain Forest Eco Lodge (Pvt) Ltd
Reg. No. PV 3733

Anton Aloysius
Hiran Cooray
Alphonse Cooray
Krishantha Fernando
Malin Hapugoda
Roger Nordmann
Emalka Kehelpannala
Mahinda Jayawardane
Sharad Amalean
Neil Jayasundara
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Glossary of Financial Terms
Accrual Basis

Current Ratio

Recording revenue and expenses in the period in which

Current assets divided by current liabilities.

they are earned or incurred regardless of whether cash is
received or disbursed in that period.

Debt/ Equity Ratio
Debt as a percentage of shareholder’s funds and minority

Amortization

interest.

The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an
intangible asset over its useful life.

Deferred Tax
Sum set aside in the financial statements for taxation that

Associate

may become payable/ receivable in a financial year other

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated

than the current financial year.

entity such as a partnership, over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an

Equity Method

interest in a joint venture.

The equity method is a method of accounting whereby
the investment is initially recognized at cost and adjusted

Capital Employed

thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the investor’s

Shareholders’ funds plus minority interest and debt.

share of net assets of the investee. The profit or loss of the
investor includes the investor’s share of the profit or loss of

Capital Reserves

the investee.

Reserves identified for specific purposes and considered not
available for distribution.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Profits attributable to Equity holders of the parent divided

Cash Equivalents

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments

during the period.

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

EBITDA

value.

Abbreviation for Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation
and Amortization.

Contingent Liability
A condition or situation existing at the reporting date due

Effective Tax Rate

to past events, where the financial effect is not recognized

Provision for taxation excluding deferred taxation divided by

because:

the profit before tax.

1. The obligation is crystallized by the occurrence or non-

Foreign Currency Transaction

occurrence of one or more future events or,
2. A probable outflow of economic resources is not
expected or,

The realized gain recorded when assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sri
Lankan Rupees on the reporting date at prevailing rates
which differ from those rates in force at inception or on the

3. Is unable to be measured with sufficient reliability.

previous reporting date.

Cost Method

Fair Value

Cost method is a method of accounting for an investment

Fair Value is the amount for which an asset could be

whereby the investment is recognized at cost. The investor

exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a

recognizes income from the investment only to the extent

knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.

that the investor receives distributions from accumulated
profits of the investee arising after the date of acquisition.

General Provisions

Distributions received in excess of such profits are regarded

General provisions are established for Trading transactions

as a recovery of investment and are recognized as a

and others for anticipated losses.

reduction of the cost of the investment.
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Group

Net Profit Margin

A group is a parent and all its subsidiaries.

Profit after tax divided by turnover.

Interest Cover

Provision For Bad And Doubtful Debts

Consolidated profit before interest and tax over finance

Provisions are established to reduce the book value of

expenses.

specific assets (primarily debtors) to estimated realizable
values.

Intangible Asset
An identifiable non-monetary asset without physical

Parent

substance held for use in the production / supply of goods

A parent is an entity that has one or more subsidiaries.

/ services or for rental to others or for administrative
purposes.

Return On Equity (ROE)
Net income, less preferred share dividends if any, expressed

Impairment

as a percentage of average ordinary shareholders’ equity.

This occurs when the recoverable amount of an asset is less
than its carrying amount.

Return on Total Assets (ROTA)
Net income expressed as a percentage of total assets.

Joint Control
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of the

Revenue Reserves

control over an economic activity, and exists only when the

Reserves considered as being available for distributions and

strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the

investments.

activity requires the unanimous consent of the parties’
sharing control.

Joint Venture
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or
more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject
to joint control.

Related Parties
Parties who could control or significantly influence the
financial and operating policies of the business.

Retirement Benefits
Present value of a defined benefit obligation is the present
value of expected future payments required to settle the

Key Management Personnel

obligation resulting from employee service in the current

Key Management Personnel refers to the persons hold the

and prior periods.

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly.

Current Service Cost
Is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit

Market Risk

obligation resulting from employee service in the current

This refers to the possibility of loss arising from changes in

period.

the value of a financial instrument as a result of changes
in market variables such as interest rates, exchange rates,
credit spreads and other asset prices.

Net Assets
Total assets minus current liabilities minus long term
liabilities minus minority interest.

Interest Cost
Is the increase during a period in the present value of a
defined benefit obligation which arises because of the
benefits are one period closer to settlement.

Actuarial gains and losses
Is the effects of difference between the previous actuarial

Net Asset Value Per Share

assumptions and what has actually occurred and the effects

Shareholders’ Funds divided by the number of ordinary

of changes in actuarial assumptions.

shares in issue.
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Segment Reporting
Segment reporting indicates the contribution to the revenue
derived from business segments such as Investments,
Constructions, Plantation, Leisure and Travel.

Subsidiary
A subsidiary is an entity, including an unincorporated entity
such as a partnership that is controlled by another entity
(known as the parent).

Significant Accounting Policies
The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and
practices adopted by an enterprise in preparing and
presenting Financial Statements.

Shareholders’ Fund
Total of issued and fully paid stated capital, capital reserves
and revenue reserves.

Total Debt
Long term loans plus short term loans plus inter-company
loans and overdrafts.

Total Equity
Shareholders’ funds plus minority interest.

Working Capital
Capital required financing day to day operations computed
as the excess of current assets over current liabilities.
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Notice of The Annual General Meeting
BROWNS INVESTMENTS PLC - Reg No. PV 66136 PB/PQ
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company will be held at Park Premier,
Excel World, No. 338, T.B. Jayah Mawatha, Colombo 10 on the Thirtieth day of September 2015 at 10.30 am.
The business to be brought before the meeting will be:
•

To receive and consider the Report of the Directors and Statement of Accounts and the Balance Sheet of the Company for
the Financial Year ended 31st March 2015 with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

•

To re-elect Ishara Nanayakkara as an Executive Director/Chairman who retires by rotation in terms of Article 23(6) of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

•

To re-elect Kapila Jayawardena as a Non-Executive Director who retires by rotation in terms of Article 23(6) of the Articles
of Association of the Company.

•

To re-elect Kalsha Amarasinghe as a Non-Executive Director who retires by rotation in terms of Article 23(6) of the Articles
of Association of the Company.

•

To re-elect  Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan as an Independent Non-Executive Director.   In terms of Section 210 of the
Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 Special Notice has been received from a shareholder, pursuant to Sections 145 and 211 of
the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 of the intention to propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution
RESOLUTION
“That Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan who reached the age of 74 years on 9th January 2015 be and is hereby appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a period of one year or until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting which ever occurs first and it is hereby declared that the age limit of 70 years referred to in Section 210
of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007 shall not apply to the said Director.”

•

To re-elect Rajah Nanayakkara as a Non-Executive Director. In terms of Section 210 of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007
Special Notice has been received from a shareholder, pursuant to Sections 145 and 211 of the Companies Act No. 7 of
2007 of the intention to propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution.
RESOLUTION
“That Rajah Nanayakkara who reached the age of 75 years on 26th February 2015 be and is hereby appointed as a NonExecutive Director of the Company for a period of one year or until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting
which ever occurs first and it is hereby declared that the age limit of 70 years referred to in Section 210 of the Companies
Act No. 7 of 2007 shall not apply to the said Director.”

•

To re-appoint M/s KPMG Chartered Accountants, as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year.

•

To authorize the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

S.F.L. SERVICES (PVT) LTD
Secretaries
Colombo 15th June 2015
Notes:
1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead
2 A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A Form of Proxy is found at the end of this Annual Report.
3 The instrument appointing such a proxy must be deposited at No. 34, Sir Mohamed Macan Markar Mawatha, Colombo 3
before 10.30 am on the Twenty Eighth day of September 2015
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Form of Proxy
Browns Investments PLC - Reg. No. PV 66136 PB/PQ
I/We………………………………………………………………………………………of………………………………………………………………………
………………………being a member/members of the above named Company hereby appoint
Ishara Nanayakkara				

or failing him

Shanker Somasunderam				

or failing him

Kapila Jayawardena				

or failing him

Kalsha Amarasinghe				

or failing her

Kamantha Amarasekera				or failing him				
Stefan Furkhan					or failing him
Rajah Nanayakkara				

or failing him

Ruwan Sugathadasa				

or failing him

Dr. Harsha Cabral P.C.				

or failing him

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan				

or failing him

Mr/Mrs/Miss…………………………………………of………………………………………… as my/our proxy to represent me/us and
to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on the Thirtieth day of
September 2015 and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.
Signed this……………………………………day of …………………………….2015

………………………………………
Signature/s

Please provide the following details :
Shareholder’s NIC No. ………….........................................…………………..
No. of shares held

………….........................................…………………..

Proxy holder’s NIC No. ………….........................................…………………..
(if not a Director of this Company)
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Form of Proxy

Notes:
1

The full name and the registered address of the shareholder appointing the proxy should be legibly
entered in the Form of Proxy.

2

If the Form of Proxy is signed by an Attorney, the relative Power of Attorney should accompany the
Form of Proxy for registration, if such Power of Attorney has not been registered with the Company.

3

In the case of a Company/Corporation, the proxy must be under its Common Seal which should be
affixed and attested in the manner prescribed by its Articles of Association.

4

In the case of joint-holders, the senior should sign this form. Seniority shall be determined by the
order in which names stand in the Register of Members in respect of the joint holding.

5

Every alteration or addition to the Form of Proxy must be duly authenticated by the full signature of
the person signing on the Form of Proxy.

6

To be valid the completed Form of Proxy should be deposited with the Secretaries at No. 34, Sir
Mohamed Macan Markar Mawatha, Colombo 3 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for
the holding of the meeting.

7

Any shareholder/Proxy attending the Annual General Meting is kindly requested to bring with him/her
the National Identity Card or any other form of valid identification and produce same at the time of
registration.

Corporate Information
Browns Investments PLC			
Legal Form
A Public Limited Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka on 10th
November 2008 under the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 and the Company
was listed on the Diri Savi Board of the Colombo Stock Exchange on 26th July
2011

Company Reg. No.
PQ 66136 PB/PQ
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Ishara Nanayakkara

- Executive Chairman

Shanker Somasunderam

- Non-Executive Director

Kapila Jayawardena

- Non-Executive Director

Kalsha Amarasinghe

- Non-Executive Director

Kamantha Amarasekera

- Non-Executive Director

Stefan Furkhan

- Non-Executive Director

Rajah Nanayakkara

- Non-Executive Director

Ruwan Sugathadasa

- Non-Executive Director

Dr. Harsha Cabral PC

- Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Jayanta Swaminathan

- Independent Non-Executive Director

Rimoe Saldin

- Managing Director/CEO

(Resigned w.e.f. 14th November 2014)
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Colombo 10.
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Tel. 2663000
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